MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION
COMBINED AUTHORITY

To:

The Members of the Liverpool City Region
Combined Authority

Dear Member,
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Liverpool City Region Combined
Authority to be held on Friday, 11th January, 2019 at 1.00 pm in the Authority
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP.
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Trudy Bedford
on telephone number (0151) 330 1330.
Yours faithfully

Head of Paid Service

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton
and Wirral Combined Authority)

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY

AGENDA
1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LCR COMBINED AUTHORITY
HELD ON 14 DECEMBER 2018
(Pages 1 - 8)

4.

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION METRO MAYOR ANNOUNCEMENTS AND
UPDATES
To receive updates from the Liverpool City Region Metro Mayor.
EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT, APPRENTICESHIPS AND SKILLS

5.

PORTFOLIO HOLDER UPDATE FOR EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT,
APPRENTICESHIPS AND SKILLS
To receive a verbal presentation from Councillor I Maher, Portfolio Holder:
Education, Employment, Apprenticeships and Skills on the key
developments within the remit of this portfolio.
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

6.

STRATEGIC INVESTMENT FUND ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK
To consider the report of the Director of Commercial Development and
Investment and the Portfolio Holder for Inclusive Growth, Economic
Development, Digital and Innovation.
(Pages 9 - 60)

7.

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION SINGLE INVESTMENT FUND - GROWING
BUSINESS VISITS AND EVENTS (KEY DECISION)
To consider the report of the Director of Commercial Development and
Investment and the Portfolio Holder: Inclusive Growth, Economic
Development, Digital and Innovation.
(Pages 61 - 96)

8.

SINGLE INVESTMENT FUND - ACCESS TO HALSNEAD GARDEN
VILLAGE (KEY DECISION)
To consider the report of the Director of Commercial Development and
Investment and the Portfolio Holder: Inclusive Growth, Economic
Development and Digital and Innovation.
(Pages 97 - 214)

9.

ACCEPTANCE OF EU GRANT AND EXTENSIONS TO EXISTING
PROGRAMMES (KEY DECISION)
To consider the report of the Treasurer and Portfolio Holder: Education,
Employment, Apprenticeships and Skills.
(Pages 215 - 220)
TRANSPORT

10. TRANSFORMING CITIES FUND: UPDATE AND PROPOSED NEXT
STEPS
To consider a report from the Director of Policy and Strategic
Commissioning and the Portfolio Holder: Transport and Air Quality.
(Pages 221 - 228)
ENVIRONMENT
11. LOOKING FORWARD TO YEAR OF ENVIRONMENT 2019
To consider the report of the Director of Policy and Strategic
Commissioning and the Portfolio Holder: Energy and Renewables.
(Pages 229 - 234)
GOVERNANCE
12. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
Members of the public will be given the opportunity to ask questions which
have been submitted in accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No.
11. A period of 30 minutes will be allocated for this item. Copies of valid
questions will be circulated at the meeting.
Members of the public who wish to submit questions are asked to contact
Democratic Services either by:
Email: democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
Telephone: 0151 330 1330
In writing: Democratic Services, Merseytravel, PO Box 1976, No. 1 Mann
Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP.

A proforma will be supplied for the submission of public questions which
for this meeting must be returned by 5.00pm on Monday 7 January 2019.
13. PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS
Members of the public who wish to submit a single position or statement in
accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No. 11 are asked to contact
Democratic Services either by:
Email: democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
Telephone: 0151 330 1330
In writing: Democratic Services, Merseytravel, PO Box 1976, No. 1 Mann
Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP.
The single petition or statement for this meeting must be returned by
5.00pm on Monday 7 January 2019.
14. MINUTES OF THE TRANSPORT COMMITTEE HELD ON 13
DECEMBER 2018
(Pages 235 - 244)

Agenda Item 3
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY
PUBLICATION: 14 DECEMBER 2018
DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: 21 DECEMBER 2018
FOLLOWING THE CALL-IN PERIOD, DECISIONS INCLUDED IN THESE
MINUTES MAY THEN BE IMPLEMENTED WHERE THEY HAVE NOT BEEN
SUBJECT TO A CALL-IN.
* DENOTES KEY DECISION

At a meeting of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority held in the
Authority Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Friday, 14th December,
2018 the following Members were
P r e s e n t:
Metro Mayor S Rotheram
Chairperson of the Combined Authority
(in the Chair)
Mr A Hamid MBE, Councillor D Long, Councillor P Davies, Councillor I Maher,
Councillor G Morgan, Councillor R Polhill, Rt Hon J Kennedy, Councillor L Robinson
and Councillor T O'Neill (Associate Member).
Deputy Portfolio Holders in attendance
Councillor G Wood: Energy & Renewables
Councillor P Sinnott: Public Service Reform & Further Devolution
Councillor C Thomas: Policy Resources Strategy & Delivery
Councillor N Nicholas: Transport & Air Quality
Mayoral Advisors in attendance
L Collins: Chair of Fairness and Social Justice Advisory Board
Reverend Canon Dr E Loudon: Community & Voluntary Sector
108.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Mayor J Anderson OBE,
Councillor I Moran, Councillor T Hardy (Deputy Portfolio Holder: Housing and Spatial
Planning), Councillor S Powell (Deputy Portfolio Holder: Culture, Tourism and Visitor
Economy), Councillor L Robertson-Collins (Deputy Portfolio Holder: Education,
Employment, Apprenticeships and Skills), Councillor E Spurrell (Deputy Portfolio
Holder: Criminal Justice) Professor Dame J Beer (Mayoral Advisor: Higher
Education), L Berger MP (Mayoral Advisor: Mental Health), K Farrell (Mayoral
Advisor: Homelessness), G Ben-Tovim OBE (Mayoral Advisor: Natural Environment),
B Spicer (Mayoral Advisor: Social Housing Growth) and S Wilde-McKeown (Mayoral
Advisor: Visitor Economy).

Page 1

109.

MINUTE'S SILENCE

Metro Mayor S Rotheram referred to the recent sad passing of Carole
Hudson CBE, who was Chief Executive of St Helens Council from 1991 to 2015 and
had been instrumental in the establishment of the Combined Authority.
The Combined Authority observed a minute’s silence as a mark of respect to
Carole Hudson CBE.
110.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
It was reported that nor Declarations of Interest had been received.

111.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LCR COMBINED AUTHORITY HELD
ON 16TH NOVEMBER 2018

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Liverpool City Region
Combined Authority held on 16 November 2018 be approved as a correct record
subject to the inclusion of Lynn Collins, Chair of FASJAB, in attendance for this
meeting.
112.

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION METRO MAYOR ANNOUNCEMENTS AND
UPDATES

Metro Mayor S Rotheram provided the LCR Combined Authority with a
summary of some of the key activities he had undertaken in recent weeks.
The Metro Mayor reported that preparations to ensure the City Region was
ready for the outcome of the Brexit process were proceeding at a pace. He referred
to the recent discussions with Ministers at the Department for Exiting the European
Union where he had stressed to them how important the European Union was to the
City Region as a major trading partner. He highlighted that over 60% of the City
Region exports were with the European Union and some of the major industries,
which included chemicals and automotive, had strong supply chains with France and
Germany. The Metro Mayor went on to express his extreme concern that the
Treasury’s own analysis showed that of the current deals available, none of them
would be positive for the City Region or the UK’s economy.
The Metro Mayor explained that he and Asif Hamid MBE, Portfolio Holder:
Business Growth and Brexit, had asked Combined Authority Officers, the LCR Local
Enterprise Partnership and constituent Local Authorities to step up preparations with
Central Government to ensure that the City Region was prepared for all eventualities
following the outcome of Brexit. The Metro Mayor also stressed the importance of the
City Region demonstrating on a global stage that it was open for business. To
support this, the Combined Authority was informed that the Metro Mayor, Leaders
and Mayor had committed to the City Region hosting an International Business
Festival in 2020, following the success of the 2018 event. A tender exercise to
identify an organisation to deliver the International Business Festival 2020 was
currently being prepared and further details would be available in the New Year.
The Metro Mayor reported that the procurement process for the new Mersey
Ferry had been posted this morning. He highlighted that it marked the start of the
next chapter of the Mersey Ferries long and rich history and this process would
provide a much needed upgrade to the current fleet and safeguard the Mersey Ferry
for future generations as well as enhancing the customer experience.

Page 2

The Metro Mayor explained that at a future meeting of the Combined
Authority, Members would be asked to commit to the project’s delivery and approve
the preferred supplier following the completion of the procurement process for the
Mersey Ferry. Furthermore, the Metro Mayor summarised a number of factors which
would influence the procurement process, however, it was stressed that this process
would be expedited as quickly as possible.
The Metro Mayor reflected on the third visit of the Giants ‘Liverpool’s Dream’
to the City Region in which an independent report found that the event had attracted
1.3 million visitors to Liverpool and Wirral and generated £60.6 million for the local
economies. With regards to the independent report, the Metro Mayor explained how
it had validated the decision by the Combined Authority to invest £5million into the
2018 Cultural project and how it also underlined the great work undertaken by staff
from Merseytravel, Liverpool City Council and Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council.
Along with the hundreds of volunteers who had given up their time to make it such a
special weekend for visitors.
Metro Mayor S Rotheram also advised the Combined Authority that he had
recently visited the picket line at Cammell Lairds to support the workers, during the
strike and was accompanied by Councillor P Davies, Leader of Wirral Metropolitan
Borough Council. During this visit there had been an opportunity to speak with John
Syvret CBE, the Chief Executive Officer of Cammell Lairds to discuss the future of
the shipyard. Cammell Lairds had not served the planned H1 notices and had agreed
to work with a City Region Task Group, chaired by Mayor J Anderson OBE to look at
options to resolve the issues at Cammell Lairds. The Metro Mayor emphasised that
collectively the City Region was doing all it could locally to find a solution and the
Combined Authority would be working closely with the Task Group, however, the
same commitment was also required from Central Government to help find a longterm sustainable solution to support Cammell Lairds.
In conclusion, the Metro Mayor reported that today marked the 100th
anniversary since women first secured the right to vote. He highlighted a number of
events which were taking place across the North West to commemorate this, which
included the unveiling of statues of Emmeline Pankhurst in Manchester and Annie
Kenny in Oldham. Furthermore, earlier in the year, following a campaign by the TUC
Women’s Committee, a blue plaque was unveiled to Jeanie Mole in Bold Street,
Liverpool. Jeanie was a Trade Unionist and a women’s rights campaigner.
113.

MERSEY TIDAL PROJECT UPDATE AND OVERVIEW OF PHASE TWO
(*KEY DECISION)

The LCR Combined Authority considered a report which provided an update
on the progress of the Mersey Tidal project. The report also sought approval of a
phase two budget which would resource the project and progress the development of
a detailed Outline Business Case (OBC).
Councillor R Polhill, Portfolio Holder: Energy and Renewables, informed the
LCR Combined Authority, that consultation had been undertaken with key
stakeholders and regulators to inform the Outline Business Case. Furthermore, a
procurement process to appoint external advisors to support the Mersey Tidal project
was underway and a request for £850,000 was being sought to resource for the
project. It was envisaged that the appointment of external advisors would take place
in February 2019. The project would be following the HMT Green Book appraisal

Page 3

process and further reports would be brought to future meetings of the LCR
Combined Authority.
Councillor G Wood, Deputy Portfolio Holder: Energy and Renewables, sought
clarity on the thinking which had gone into the Tidal project to understand and
address its potential environmental impacts and benefits.
In response to Councillor G Wood’s question, Councillor R Polhill informed
the LCR Combined Authority that the reference case for the project focused on the
potential for an offshore tidal lagoon, which would create one of the largest clean
energy power plants. This volume of clean energy would have a transformational
effect on the City Region’s drive to reach zero net carbon by 2040. This would meet a
large percentage of the City Region’s energy demand for power, mobility, heat and
industrial energy if linked into an energy system including offshore wind and
hydrogen.
Councillor R Polhill explained how the Mersey Estuary and the Liverpool Bay
were both recognised as areas of environmental significance and sensitivities. The
tidal nature of both areas was delicate and interlinked and its protection was a key
priority for the project.
Metro Mayor S Rotheram reflected upon the environmental considerations of
the project in comparison to other energy projects such as fracking. In doing so he
identified the tidal project as the only viable way to reach the carbon neutral targets
of the Combined Authority by 2040.
Councillor G Wood asked whether the project had been reviewed by any local
marine or energy projects and if so, what lessons could be learnt from this.
Councillor R Polhill reported that the City Region had developed a strong
track record over recent years in creating systems which had allowed a large-scale
infrastructure projects to be successfully delivered in the Mersey and Liverpool Bay.
Over the past five years the Mersey Gateway bridge, Liverpool 2 container terminal
and Burbo Bank windfarm had all demonstrated that it was possible to maintain and
support the marine ecosystems during and after construction.
Councillor Polhill informed the LCR Combined Authority that the City Region
was fortunate to have some of the world’s leading research centres dedicated to the
marine environment based in the City Region. With organisations such as the
National Oceanography Centre (NOC) and the Institute of Sustainable Coasts and
Oceans (ISCO) providing invaluable support to the project.
RESOLVED – That:(i)

the recent progress be noted and agree to receiving quarterly
progress updates;

(ii)

a phase two project budget of £850,000 to fund both internal and
external resources to support the project through formulation of an
Outline Business Case around March 2020 be approved; and

(iii)

authority be delegated to the Director of Commercial Development
and Investment to approve expenditure within the approved budget in
relation to this project.

Page 4

114.

SUSTAINABLE URBAN DEVELOPMENT ERDF ACCEPTANCE OF
FUNDING (*KEY DECISION)

The LCR Combined Authority considered a report of the Director of Integrated
Transport and the Portfolio Holder: Transport and Air Quality which sought approval
to accept a total of £10,308,260, which comprised of £8,348,493 for green cycle and
walk corridors and £1,959,767 for a low emission engine for the new Mersey Ferry.
Councillor L Robinson, Portfolio Holder: Transport and Air Quality, explained
that the LCR Combined Authority had been awarded £10,308,260 from the European
Regional Development Fund (ERDF). In doing so he highlighted the numerous
funding opportunities received from the European Union which had supported a
number of City Region and transport network programmes, including the
refurbishment and building of train stations across the City Region, the development
of Queens Square bus station in Liverpool and a number of ferry assets.
Councillor L Robinson informed the LCR Combined Authority that the
£8,348,493 would be invested in the LCR Sustainable Urban Development Strategy
(SUD) to create green walking and cycling corridors across the City Region, which
equated to 55.2 kilometers of improved cycle and walking paths and 49 hectare of
green space. He explained that this would create a cycling super highway by 2021
enabling cyclists to ride from Speke to Southport, connecting Seacombe and
Leasowe and providing improvements to St Helens. The emphasis of the programme
was to embed cycling and walking opportunities across the transport network.
Metro Mayor S Rotheram acknowledged that as part of the process of
programmes, such as SUD, an improved engagement with the cycling community
was required.
Councillor R Polhil, welcomed the ERDF and the proposals within the SUD
programme, particularly as the funding would enable the cycling network to be
significantly improved across the City Region.
Councillor L Robinson highlighted that the design and delivery of the SUD
programme would be shared with stakeholders at a forthcoming user group meeting.
Furthermore, one of the priorities of the programme was to deliver a low carbon
agenda by making cycling an attractive and sustainable mode of transport in the City
Region.
Councillor D Long, welcomed the 6.3 kilometers of cycling and walking paths
within St Helens, along with the additional green space it would provide. He
highlighted how these improvements would also help to improve air quality across
the City Region.
Rt Hon Jane Kennedy sought clarity on what provision would be made to
improve road safety as a consequence of the SUD programme. She welcomed the
report but stressed the importance of ensuring the appropriate safety measures were
in place to reduce the number of incidents involving cyclists across the City Region.
Councillor L Robinson acknowledged that this was a challenge for the
network. He explained that this programme supported a segregated cycling network
and for it to be used by cyclists it had to reflect the needs of the cycling community.
Councillor G Morgan welcomed the report, in particular the connection from
Prescot to Runcorn which would provide a safe opportunity to cycle through some

Page 5

scenic parts of the City Region, as well as in the future, providing an accessible
cycling route to the Shakespeare Theatre in Prescot.
Councillor P Davies welcomed the improved links the cycling and walking
route would bring to Seacombe Ferry Terminal, particularly as the Ferry Terminal
was to be the location of Eurkea!.
Councillor N Nicholas, Deputy Portfolio Holder: Transport and Air Quality,
reflected upon the important health benefits the cycling and walking paths could bring
to the City Region, by providing opportunities for people to be active which could
reduce obesity and other health conditions.
In conclusion, Councillor L Robinson explained that the routes sought to
encourage families to engage in cycling, which was supported by the cycling training
programmes available in schools. He also noted that the programme supported many
aspects of the ‘Arrive Happy’ campaign and explained how it provided the potential to
integrate with the wider transport network and notably the new fleet of trains, which
were arriving in 2020 to the City Region and would provide an accessible train
service to cyclists.
RESOLVED – That:-

115.

(i)

the successful award of £8,348,493 ERDF funding for the provision of
cycling and walking infrastructure across the Liverpool City Region
would will be made available through the ERDF claims process be
noted;

(ii)

the funding be drawn on in combination with the match funding
identified in paragraph 4.8 of the report to enable the provision of
55km of new and upgraded cycling and walking infrastructure and
green infrastructure be approved;

(iii)

the successful award of £1,959,767 ERDF funding to allow the
purchasing of low emission vessels which would utilise electric power
in addition to diesel thus reducing fuel costs and emission levels be
noted; and

(iv)

the funding be drawn on in combination with the match funding
identified in paragraph 4.9 of the report to close the affordability
funding gap between the purchase of hybrid vessels and associated
infrastructure over the costs of a standard diesel be approved.

APPOINTMENT TO THE TRANSPORT COMMITTEE

The LCR Combined Authority considered a report of the Monitoring Officer
which sought approval of the appointment of Councillor Dot Johnson (Knowsley
MBC) to replace Councillor Norman Keats (Knowsley MBC) on the Transport
Committee.
RESOLVED – That Councillor Dot Johnson (Knowsley MBC) be appointed to
the Transport Committee.

Page 6

116.

DRAFT COMMITTEE TIMETABLE 2019-20

The LCR Combined Authority considered the draft Committee timetable for
2019/20.
RESOLVED – That the draft Committee timetable for 2019/20 be approved.
117.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

Members of the public were given the opportunity to submit questions which
had been submitted in accordance with Meetings Standing Order No. 11.
Metro Mayor S Rotheram reported that one question had been received from
Councillor T Crone. In this respect, Councillor T Crone, directed the following
question to the LCR Combined Authority:"To keep global temperature increase to below two degrees centigrade above
pre-industrial levels, there must be an absolute global cap on the amount of CO2 that
humanity can emit in the future. Has anyone calculated the limit on how much can be
emitted by the Liverpool City Region to make its "fair" contribution to the Paris
Agreement commitment of ensuring global temperatures increase by less than two
degrees centigrade? If not will the Combined Authority commit to undertaking this
analysis to ensure carbon reduction plans are made with robust science-led targets?"
The Metro Mayor thanked Councillor Crone for his question and invited
Councillor R Polhill, Portfolio Holder: Energy and Renewables to provide a response.
Councillor R Polhill confirmed that tackling climate change and protecting our
environment was a key priority for the Combined Authority.
He explained that the City Region was blessed with some unique natural
assets, including the river and coastline, which provided the potential to be the
cleanest and greenest city region in the country.
He reported that the UK government had agreed a national target to reduce
carbon levels by 80% by 2050 compared to 1990 levels as part of its commitment to
tackle emissions from greenhouse gases. In addition to this, the Liverpool City
Region’s ambition was to be zero carbon by 2040.
He explained that there were many current work programmes being
undertaken by the Combined Authority which would make a positive contribution to
carbon reductions and tackling climate change. These included the Mersey Tidal
Power commission, supporting wind and solar power, exploiting the potential of
hydrogen engines and reducing emissions from buses and ferries.
Councillor Polhill also advised that the Combined Authority was looking at
further projects which could reduce emissions as part of the Transforming Cities
Fund.
In relation to the specific study mentioned, Councillor Polhill advised that he
had asked Officers to examine the issue further and provide a fuller response to
Councillor Crone within 10 working days.
Metro Mayor S Rotheram referred Councillor Crone to a number of
documents in the City Region relating to Mersey Tidal power, Sustainable Urban

Page 7

Development Fund, Rolling Stock improvements and Air Quality. Furthermore, work
on solar energy, off shore wind farms, hydrogen caption and harnessing the power of
the Mersey were further examples of work to reduce emissions in the City Region. In
conclusion, he welcomed the excellent question from Councillor Crone and shared
his environmental concerns, however, he acknowledged that they also had to be
addressed on a national and global level.
In accordance with Meeting Standing Order No.11 Councillor Crone, asked
the following supplementary question.
‘I accept all that has been said, however it is possible to invest in the
improvements in the rolling stock and the Tidal project as well as tackling other
carbon issues. Which was why a carbon budget and climate breakdown where
important as well as focusing on individual projects, the City Region should say what
the rock bottom target is.’
118.

PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS
The Metro Mayor reported that no petitions or statements had been received.

119.

MINUTES OF THE TRANSPORT COMMITTEE HELD ON 1 NOVEMBER
2018

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Transport Committee held on 1
November 2018 were received and confirmed by the Liverpool City Region
Combined Authority.
120.

SEASONS GREETINGS

As this was the last meeting of the LCR Combined Authority prior to the
Festive Season, Metro Mayor S Rotheram took the opportunity to extend his best
wishes to Members and officers for a Merry Christmas and a Happy New Year.
Minutes 108 to 120 be received as a correct record on the 11th day of January 2019.

Chairperson of the Combined Authority
(The meeting closed at 11.10 am)

Page 8

Agenda Item 6
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY
To:

The Metro Mayor and Members of the Combined
Authority

Meeting:

11 January 2019

Authority/Authorities Affected:

All

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT
AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR INCLUSIVE GROWTH, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT,
DIGITAL AND INNOVATION
STRATEGIC INVESTMENT FUND ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK

1

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

The report provides an updated assurance framework. The Combined Authority
(“CA”) has modified the 2016 version to reflect changes in its structure and
operations, in particular in relation to the new Strategic Investment Fund (“SIF”)
investment strategy. The CA intends to use this assurance framework in committing
SIF Round II and future funding.

2

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority approve the
updated assurance framework.

3

BACKGROUND

3.1

HM Government requires localities in receipt of devolved funding to “write an
assurance framework that explains how they will appraise, monitor and evaluate
schemes to achieve value for money” (Single Pot Assurance Framework - National
Guidance, 2016). It has established minimum criteria for an assurance framework to
meet its requirements.

3.2

The updated assurance framework meets these requirements and achieves three
objectives:
First, it shortens and clarifies the approved, 2016 assurance framework the better to
reflect how the CA now operates and discharges its responsibilities.
Second, it mirrors for assurance purposes the investment approach the CA
approved in the 2018 investment strategy, closing any distance between the
strategy and the framework. This creates a coherent whole.

Page 9

Third, it incorporates updates in HM Government appraisal methodologies, for
instance a 2017 update in HMT Treasury Green Book guidance and in WEBTag
guidance for transport projects.
3.3

The updated assurance framework contains provision for pre-development funding.
This enables the £6.4 million in pre-development funding commissioned in the CA’s
October 2018 report to proceed as planned.

3.4

The CA intends to apply the update “to new funds committed from 1 November
2018 as well as the portfolio commitments outstanding from that date.” This means:
- funds committed under SIF Round II and beyond
- SIF Round I portfolio projects, i.e. those for which the CA has entered into legal
documentation
will fall under the updated assurance framework. Remaining SIF Round I pipeline
projects will continue to follow the original investment process until approved or
transferred into the new investment process, as specified in the October 2018 SIF
update report.

3.5

HM Government has approved the update. CA approval will complete its approval
requirements.

4

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

4.1

The updated assurance framework clarifies areas of responsibility for CA officers
but carries in itself no change in overall resource requirements.

4.2

Financial
None.

4.3

Human Resources
None.

4.4

Physical Assets
None.

4.5

Information Technology
None.

5

RISKS AND MITIGATION

5.1

The 2016 assurance framework established the CA’s approach to complying with
HM Government’s requirements in managing devolved funding. The update, in
aligning with the CA’s operations and new investment strategy, provides clear
guidance to CA officers and reduces the risk of non-compliance relative to the 2016
version.

5.2

The CA’s investment team, within the Directorate of Commercial Development and
Investment, will operate under this updated assurance framework as a core
operating document. The team operates in collaboration with the CA’s finance, legal

Page 10

and programme management office, all of which sit within the Directorate of
Corporate Resources.
5.3

The CA’s failure to comply in a material way with the assurance framework could
cause project and/or programme level funding to be cancelled, and could limit HM
Government’s willingness in future to devolve funding to the CA. In response to this
risk, the CA will induct and train investment team members and supporting staff on
compliance with its requirements; monitor this compliance through programme
management and internal audit; and report performance to the CA in its regular SIF
submissions.

6

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

6.1

None.

7

COMMUNICATION ISSUES

7.1

None.

8

CONCLUSION

8.1

The updated assurance framework improves on the 2016 and now closely fits the
CA’s operations and SIF investment strategy. The CA will behave pro-actively to
comply with its provisions.

MARK BOUSFIELD
Director of Commercial Development and Investment
COUNCILLOR P DAVIES
Portfolio Holder for Inclusive Growth, Economic Development, Digital and Innovation

Contact Officer(s):
Mark Bousfield, LCR CA (0151 330 1101)
Appendices:
Appendix One – Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Assurance Framework 2018

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Liverpool City Region Combined
Authority
Strategic Investment Fund
Assurance Framework
December 2018

Page 13

Contents
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................... 3
1.1

About this document .......................................................................................... 3

1.2

Background ........................................................................................................ 4

1.3

Scope of the Assurance Framework .................................................................. 4

1.4

Annual Framework Reviews............................................................................... 5

2. Governance and Decision Making ............................................................................ 6
2.1

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Governance .................................... 6

2.2

LCR Local Enterprise Partnership (“LEP”): Role and Responsibilities ............... 7

2.3

CA Portfolios ...................................................................................................... 8

2.4

Accountable Body Role and Financial Management .......................................... 9

2.5

Conflicts of Interest and Transparency ............................................................. 10

2.6

Corporate Governance and Code of Conduct .................................................. 11

2.7

SIF Decision Making ........................................................................................ 11

2.8

Performance Management ............................................................................... 14

2.9

Delegated Authority .......................................................................................... 14

2.10

SIF Investment Team.................................................................................... 14

2.11

Role of the Programme Management Office ................................................. 15

3. Accountable and Transparent Decision Making...................................................... 17
3.1

Investment Strategy ......................................................................................... 17

3.2

Investment Process.......................................................................................... 17

3.3

Stakeholder Engagement ................................................................................. 19

3.4

Pre-development Funding ................................................................................ 20

3.5

Use of Evidence ............................................................................................... 21

3.6

Prioritisation ..................................................................................................... 21

3.7

Appraisal .......................................................................................................... 22

3.8

Risk Management ............................................................................................ 28

4. Monitoring and Evaluation ...................................................................................... 29
4.1

Effective Monitoring and Evaluation ................................................................. 29

4.2

Responsibilities and Resources ....................................................................... 31

Page 14

4.3

Ongoing Project Performance Monitoring ........................................................ 32

4.4

Benefits Management ...................................................................................... 33

4.5

Change Control ................................................................................................ 33

4.6

Five-year gateway review ................................................................................ 33

4.7

Project Closure................................................................................................. 34

Annex 1: Terms of Reference of the Investment Panel ................................................. 35
Annex 2: Minimum Criteria for a “Call” .......................................................................... 38
Annex 3: Summary Contents of a Final Review (FBC).................................................. 42
Annex 4: Guidelines for the Provision of Pre-development Funding from the Strategic
Investment Fund ........................................................................................................... 43

Page 15

1.

Introduction

1.1

About this document

This Assurance Framework is designed to replace the 2016 version and shall apply to
new funds committed from 1 November 2018 as well as the portfolio commitments
outstanding from that date. It is designed to meet the requirements of the Single Pot
Assurance Guidance published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (“MHCLG”, formerly known as “DCLG” or “MHCLG”) and managed by HM
Government‟s Cities & Local Growth Unit. It will provide the Departmental Accounting
Officers and Parliament with information about the systems and processes of the
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (the “LCRCA”, “CA”, the “Combined
Authority”), as the accountable decision-making authority, has in place to manage
effectively the process and risks associated with the allocation of devolved funding.
This document should be read in conjunction with the LCRCA Strategic Investment
Fund Strategy1 published in July 2018 (the “Investment Strategy”) which provides the
objectives, priorities, process and principles underlying the CA‟s approach to investing
public funds and the LCRCA Constitution (the “Constitution”) published in May 2018,
which provides inter alia the governance arrangements in place for the CA.
This document is divided into four sections:
 Section 1 (this section): Describes the context, scope and purpose of the Assurance
Framework.
 Section 2: Describes governance structures of the CA, the investment approach and
transparency mechanisms that will apply to all decision making.
 Section 3: Sets out the decision making procedures for funding (prioritising projects,
appraising projects and funding approval).
 Section 4: Outlines the approach to the monitoring and evaluation of projects.

1

Link to strategy

3

Page 16

1.2

Background

The Liverpool City Region (“LCR”) is governed by the Liverpool City Region Combined
Authority and its constituent councils. LCR is one of only a few UK city regions to have
secured a devolution agreement with Government, meaning decision making and
resources around certain key priorities are managed locally.
The initial devolution agreement in 2015 secured £900 million of funding over 30 years
and identified a number of priority areas where resources and decision making would be
devolved. These are employment and skills, housing and planning, transport,
innovation, business growth and support, energy, culture and finance. A further
agreement in 2016 passed down additional powers over transport, piloting 100%
business rates retention and working in partnership with the Government on children‟s
services, health, housing and justice.
Under the devolution agreement with Government, LCRCA agreed inter alia to establish
a “single pot” approach to funding, providing the area with greater local control, flexibility
and responsibility over public funding streams and their outcomes. In adopting this
single pot approach, LCRCA agreed to meet high standards in identifying, prioritising,
appraising, funding, monitoring and evaluating its investment.
LCRCA has established a Strategic Investment Fund (“SIF”) to administer its devolved
funding alongside other local and national funding sources.

1.3

Scope of the Assurance Framework

The sources of funding to be included in the SIF are specified in Section 2.1 of the
Investment Strategy. Where new funding sources appear, LCRCA will, unless
otherwise determined, adopt this Assurance Framework in their management and in
agreement with HM Government.
In addition to the SIF Funds, the Combined Authority receives a Single Transport Pot to
fund certain local transport interventions. This will remain outside of the governance
arrangements for SIF and will not be subject to the provisions of this Assurance
Framework until the expiry, in 2019/20, of an agreed formulaic approach to deploying
funds. The CA will then include the Single Transport Pot under this Assurance
Framework.
When the Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (“LEP”) agrees for funds it
receives – such as Local Growth Funds – to be invested under the SIF, the CA and the
LEP work together. This collaboration will ensure that the funds are managed in
4

Page 17

compliance with this Assurance Framework and with the requirements made of the LEP
under its own assurance arrangements with HM Government.

1.4

Annual Framework Reviews

The LCRCA will review this framework annually to examine the potential for
improvements in standards, process and delivery practice. The CA will take on board
feedback from strategic partners as part of this process and will implement changes
which best reflect the lessons learned as the portfolio of projects develops. Changes
may also be necessary to take account of any changes in the Combined Authority.
LCRCA also intends to review its Investment Strategy within 12 months of launch, and
to update it for the results of its forthcoming Local Industrial Strategy.
The CA will engage with HM Government and the LCRCA to review and approve
significant changes to this document.

5

Page 18

2.

Governance and Decision Making

2.1

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Governance

2.1.1 Membership and structure
LCRCA is a mayoral combined authority whose membership currently comprises the
Liverpool City Region Metro Mayor (“LCR Mayor”), the five local authority leaders of
Halton, Knowsley, Sefton, St Helens and Wirral Councils, the elected Mayor of Liverpool
City Council and the Chair of the Local Enterprise Partnership. Warrington and West
Lancashire Borough Councils are Associate Members and there are two co-opted
Members in the Merseyside Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chair of the
Transport Committee. The November 2015 Devolution Agreement 2 together with the
March 2016 updated agreement,3 details the CA‟s remit and authority.
The CA‟s governance structure is shown in the diagram below:

Beneath its board, the Combined Authority governs through a number of Committees,
each with their own remit. Each committee operates to ensure effective management
and oversight of delivery against LCRCA obligations and objectives.
2.1.2 Committees
Further detail on the scope of each committee can be read in Section 3 of the
Constitution.
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Exists to achieve greater public accountability over all CA decisions made and services
delivered to the whole Liverpool City Region. The Committee can review and/or
scrutinise decisions made by the CA or the Mayor and make recommendations/reports
to the CA and/or Mayor. Annually it publishes its work plan which indicates how it will
exercise its powers. It may choose to scrutinise the SIF.
2

http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/uploadedfiles/economic_development/Liverpool_devolution_deal%20DEVO.pdf
http://liverpoolcityregionca.gov.uk/uploadedfiles/documents/160314_Further_devolution_to_Liverpool_City_Region_-_FINAL.pdf
3

6

Page 19

Appointments & Disciplinary Committee
Makes recommendations to the Board on CA staffing, remuneration, terms and
conditions.
Transport Committee
Oversees transport and travel policy matters and has oversight of Merseytravel as the
Passenger Transport Executive and Executive Body for the CA.
Audit and Governance Committee
Provides assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework (including the
Annual Governance Statement) promotes and maintains high standards of conduct by
CA Members. The Section 73 Officer is responsible for reporting on the financial
management and assurance of the SIF to the LCRCA Audit Committee through the
delivery and outturn of the annual internal audit plan and published accounts.

2.2

LCR Local Enterprise Partnership (“LEP”): Role and Responsibilities

The LCR LEP is distinct from the Combined Authority and is a primary body for
promoting economic development across the City Region. It operates as an
independent partnership board of representatives of the private and public sectors, plus
other relevant stakeholders. Its chairperson, drawn from the private sector, is a nonvoting member of the Combined Authority.
The LEP partnership board operates with a series of sector and thematic specific subboards operate, providing focused insight and advice to inform LCR and Government
policy/activities. The main board comprises the LCR metro mayor, local authority
leaders, private sector representatives, education and third sector representatives and
is chaired by a LCR senior businessperson. Sub-board members are leaders from
business and the public sector who provide strategic insight, intelligence and guidance
to the LEP board and LEP executive. The LEP board and its sub-boards are supported
by executive capacity provided by a self-standing company.

7

Page 20

The LEP Board has a key interface role with HM Government in progressing
interventions and supporting the development of the overall growth strategy for LCR. Its
growth strategy provides the evidence base for making investment decisions and
allocating the SIF, in addition to local transport objectives and statutory requirements.
The LEP engages in the following way with the SIF:










It contributes actively to strategy formation. In particular, the LEP drafted the sector
priorities for inclusion in Section 2 of the Investment Strategy; this ensured the
proper reflection of the growth strategy;
It will name a senior executive member (managing director or finance director) to the
SIF‟s internal investment panel, giving it an active voice in project prioritisation and
portfolio monitoring;
LEP sector specialists will routinely join project teams for SIF investments to lend
sector expertise to the proposition. In this way, the CA and LEP will co-develop
investment propositions;
Its chair is a non-voting member of the CA board and will routinely provide a LEP
view of projects at the time of their submission for approval;
It will collaborate in policy formation, particularly in the forthcoming local industrial
strategy and will influence the long-term priorities that the SIF targets; and
It allows certain funds that it receives – Local Growth Funds in the main – to be
invested on the SIF platform; when it does, it relies on this Assurance Framework
after satisfying itself that its provisions satisfy its own assurance and reporting
requirements with HM Government.

Besides SIF investment, the Combined Authority and LEP are collaborating on inward
investment, place and destination marketing, internationalisation strategies and other
growth promoting areas. Following the 2018 LEP review, the Liverpool City Region LEP
will seek opportunities to use its commercial entity to provide delivery capacity to LCR
priorities.

2.3

CA Portfolios

The LCR Mayor has divided the Combined Authority‟s key priorities and competencies
into discrete portfolios and allocated a Combined Authority member to lead each
portfolio with support from a deputy portfolio holder and nominated senior officer. The
portfolio holder is typically a local authority leader, the deputy portfolio holder is a
councillor and the officer is a senior Combined Authority officer. This approach is
designed to balance democratic accountability with delivery capacity. The portfolios
are:8

Page 21












Business Growth and Brexit;
Inclusive Growth, Economic Development, Digital and Innovation;
Energy and Renewables;
Culture, Tourism and the Visitor Economy;
Public Service Reform and Further Devolution;
Education, Employment and Skills;
Housing and Spatial Planning;
Policy and Resources, Strategy and Delivery;
Transport and Air Quality; and
Criminal Justice.

The portfolio teams may include SIF interventions in their delivery plan and may use
their portfolio responsibility to engage with the Combined Authority‟s Investment Team
(directly or through the CA board). SIF activity forms a base component of the
“Inclusive Growth, Economic Development, Digital and Innovation”, “Housing and
Spatial Planning” and “Transport and Air Quality” portfolios.

2.4

Accountable Body Role and Financial Management

The Combined Authority acts as the accountable body for the SIF. Accountable bodies
are responsible for the proper administration and financial probity of external funds
received. They are legally constituted bodies with a statutory role. The accountable
body must ensure the effective use of public money and have responsibility for the
proper administration of funding received and its expenditure.
The Order that established the LCRCA in 2014 states that the functions of the
constituent councils in relation to economic development and regeneration are
exercisable in reliance on the general power of competence as set out in Section 1 of
the Localism Act 2011. It is under this general power that the Combined Authority
discharges its functions as an accountable body. The Combined Authority ensures that
appropriate governance and accountability arrangements are established and followed
to meet the responsibilities of the Combined Authority in respect of its accountable body
role for the proper administration and use of external funding.
Merseytravel was appointed as the Executive body of the Authority for the purposes of
Part 5 of the Local Transport Act 2008 and Part 6 of the Local Democracy, Economic
Development and Construction Act 2009 (LDEDCA 2009).
As accountable body, the Combined Authority will ensure that the SIF is managed in a
manner that is lawful, transparent, evidence-based, consistent and proportionate. It is
9

Page 22

responsible for overseeing policy, the prioritisation of funding, ensuring value for money,
evaluating performance and managing risk. The Combined Authority will:




hold the Investment Funds and make payments in accordance with the decisions of
the CA/Mayor;
record and maintain the official record of proceedings relating to decisions made on
all investment projects; and
account for SIF funds in such a way that they will be separately identifiable.

The Director of Commercial Development and Investment, appointed to manage the
Combined Authority‟s Investment Team, will present quarterly financial reports for the
LCRCA/Mayor in relation to the funds overall, costs of the investment projects and
profiling of spend.
The Combined Authority‟s s73 Officer, the Director of Corporate Services, is ultimately
accountable for the SIF‟s financial management including budgeting and reporting of
performance. The Combined Authority discharges this responsibility with reference to
the finance team, the internal audit team and programme management office, which
form part of the directorate for corporate services.
The assurance framework and the SIF will be managed in accordance with the usual
local authority checks and balances, including for example those set out in the Local
Government Fiscal Framework and the Local Government Accountability System
Statement.

2.5

Conflicts of Interest and Transparency

LCRCA is committed to being open, transparent and accountable and has a publication
scheme providing information about the Authority‟s finances, performance and decisionmaking which covers:
 What LCRCA is and what it does;
 LCRCA spending;
 Priorities and performance;
 How the LCRCA makes decisions;
 LCRCA policies and procedures;
 Lists and registers; and
 The services offered by the LCRCA.
Team members, whether in the SIF Investment Team or elsewhere in LCRCA, have a
responsibility to report conflicts of interest as defined in the Officers Code of Conduct
10

Page 23

set out in the Constitution, Part 6, and Section B. Part 6, Section A details the Members
Code of Conduct. Both these codes of conduct require declaration of interest whether
personal or financial and they are not limited to the individual employee but to their
wider relationships.

2.6

Corporate Governance and Code of Conduct

The Combined Authority has the benefit of the following policies:








2.7

Confidential reporting (whistleblowing);
Complaints;
Gifts and hospitality;
Code of conduct for Officers and Members;
Freedom of Information;
Data Protection; and
Declaration of interests.

SIF Decision Making

All applications to the SIF are subject to the same rigorous investment appraisal
process although this process does follow the principles of proportionality. This section
describes the three bodies that contribute to SIF decision making: the internal panel, the
full investment panel and the CA board. It also describes the governance arrangements
in place for these bodies. The investment process itself is addressed in Section 3 of this
document.
2.7.1 Internal Panel
The Internal Panel comprises senior CA officers and a senior LEP executive member. It
is constituted for its ability to meet regularly, monitor pipeline and portfolio performance
and maintain CA governance standards. Composition is as follows:
Member
Head of Finance
Head of PMO
Director of Strategic Policy & Commissioning
Director of Integrated Transport (for all
transport projects)
Head of Legal
11

Page 24

Role on panel
Full member with veto right
Full member with veto right
Full member with veto right
Full member with veto right
Full member with veto right

Member
MD or FD of LEP
CA Head of Paid Service
Director of Corporate Services

Role on panel
Full member
Observer
Observer

The internal panel will consider called projects at the outline stage. It will reach
decisions by consensus. Members with a veto right may use it to refuse a project or
decision that would breach SIF governance requirements and/or run counter to good
economic development policy. The internal panel will report its activity and decisions
quarterly to the full investment panel and CA board.
The internal panel will also act as executive board in the management of portfolio
projects, with its decisions reported quarterly to the full investment panel and CA board.
The Combined Authority will permit members to delegate an alternate to assure
continuity of function to the SIF.
2.7.2 The Investment Panel
The full investment panel comprises all members of the internal panel plus 6-8
independent members selected for their experience, expertise and alignment with
LCR‟s objectives. Members are likely to have acted as senior executives in their
organisation and be accustomed to the duties of an executive or supervisory board
member. Independent members will have no executive responsibility but will provide
advice on strategy, planning, proposed investments and overall SIF performance. The
Panel‟s recommendations will critically inform LCRCA leaders‟ decision making.
The Panel shall:





Review the SIF business plan and identify opportunities for improvement
Review the SIF portfolio and identify opportunities to improve performance
Act as a critical friend to each proposed project, interrogating its assumptions, plans,
delivery and expertise to maximise the potential for successful delivery and
generation of the targeted economic outputs
Consider project submissions at the concept, interim and final review stages and
provide guidance (detailed where necessary) on:— The project‟s strategic fit with LCRCA‟s objectives and investment strategy
— The project‟s quality with respect to its structure, delivery, operations,
financing and impact
— The project‟s risks, mitigation of these risks and portfolio impact
12

Page 25

— The structure, role and risks of LCRCA‟s proposed financial contribution
— Opportunities to enhance LCRCA‟s impact by linking and/or modifying other
projects and interventions under consideration.
Independent Members will operate by consensus in formulating meeting minutes to
guide LCRCA in conducting diligence, negotiations and decisions about projects. In
particular, the Panel will submit concise but detailed commentary to LCRCA leaders
before they consider approving a project.
Internal panel members will hold rights of veto on projects, again designed to assure
that each department (legal, finance, programme management etc.) can assure
compliance with its operating requirements. The outcome of Internal Panel meetings
will be shared with the Investment Panel. Please refer for more detail to the terms of
reference provided in Annex 1.
2.7.3 LCR Combined Authority
All aspects of LCRCA and its procedures are subject to the core principles of
transparency and good governance.
The Authority meets frequently in a public forum. The dates of the Authority and
committee meetings are set annually in advance and published on the website.4 For
each meeting, the Agenda and papers are published in advance on the LCRCA website
and historical packs are also available. Openly publishing all the core documents
enables the CA to inform the public of key decisions and future strategic issues. The
Authority debates key decisions to ensure that matters presented to the public reflect
the combined views of the CA members.
The LCR Mayor chairs the Combined Authority in which each member has one vote.
SIF spending proposals are approved or rejected by simple majority, subject to that
majority including the vote of the LCR Mayor, unless otherwise set out in legislation, or
specifically delegated through the Constitution. Proposals for decisions by the CA may
be put forward by the LCR Mayor or any Combined Authority member.
The LCR Mayor is required to consult the CA members on his strategies, and the CA
may reject these proposals if two thirds of the constituent council members agree to do
so. The CA also examines the Mayor‟s spending plans and are able to amend these
plans, again, if two-thirds of the constituent council members agree.

4

http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/meetings-196.

13

Page 26

The Combined Authority ultimately decides on all SIF (and other funding) projects. It
will also approve SIF strategy, priorities (linked to mayoral priorities, portfolio plans and
the Combined Authority‟s own corporate plan) and portfolio performance. By receiving
periodic updates on portfolio performance and the activities of both the internal and full
investment panels, it will be able to consider projects in their wider context.
Combined Authority meetings are open to members of the public. Members of the
public can ask questions of the Mayor and Leaders in an open forum.5 Additionally, the
public can engage with the Mayor through the LCRCA website6.

2.8

Performance Management

LCRCA‟s Corporate Programme Management Office (the “PMO”) will provide regular
reporting on SIF activity and performance. These reports will highlight project progress
(milestone tracking), financial performance, dependencies, key delivery risks, issues
and other Key Performance Indicators.
In compiling these reports, the PMO will seek performance information from project
sponsors (and their representatives) proportionate to the scale, complexity and risk
associated with the project being considered. The monitoring will also reflect the form
of the investment instrument.

2.9

Delegated Authority

The Constitution allows the Combined Authority board to create an investment
committee with delegated authority to consider certain SIF projects. The Combined
Authority has not, to date, activated this committee and plans to remove its provision
from the Constitution.

2.10 SIF Investment Team
The Combined Authority‟s directorate of commercial development and investment (the
“Investment Team”) is responsible for the SIF‟s operation and management. The team
manages projects throughout their lifecycle, from identification through prioritisation,
diligence, approval and monitoring to closure.
The team‟s Director reports to the CA‟s Head of Paid Service, participates in senior CA
management and is responsible for the SIF‟s overall performance, including risk
5
6

http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/uploadedfiles/documents/LCRCA_Public_Question_Time_Guidance.docx
http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/ask-steve

14

Page 27

management. The team combines conventional public sector regeneration acumen with
commercial investment experience and has been recruited not only for its skills in
underwriting investments but also in assembling high-quality projects. Indeed, a portion
of the team is focused on helping project sponsors prepare their project for investment,
to maximise SIF‟s impact. The team‟s working hypothesis is that the combination of
commercial acumen and pro-active support will maximise value for money to the public
purse.
The team receives support from the following CA sources:









Directorate of policy and strategic commissioning, the CA‟s prime policy making
body, which collaborates on the potential for commissioned projects, SIF alignment
with strategic priorities and maximising value for money through options appraisal;
the policy function plays an integral role in formulating SIF project calls;
Finance, which manages the SIF as a discrete programme and provides
performance reporting and management insight on programme;
Legal, which supports at two levels: 1) transactional, with a lawyer assigned to each
project to co-manage the external transaction counsel or to draft documents
internally, depending on availability and complexity; 2) constitutional, to oversee
governance and compliance with and the Constitution;
Merseytravel, which provides intelligence to identify, assess and deliver integrated
transport projects, including through the Transport Advisory Group through which
local authorities engage in transport pipeline formation;
Internal audit, which has a critical role to play in providing independent verification of
financial performance and processes; and
The PMO, whose engagement is described in further detail below.

Each of these sources, other than internal audit, nominates a member and has a veto
right on the internal investment panel.

2.11 Role of the Programme Management Office
The PMO sits at the heart of the Combined Authority. It exists to provide a strategically
aligned and co-ordinated approach to project delivery and facilitates an exchange of
project performance information which feeds the decision making processes. It
provides independent assurance of project health and it fulfils three key functions in the
management of the SIF:

It provides programme management expertise and support to the Investment Team
as it coordinates the internal investment decision making process. It ensures a
15

Page 28







rigorous approach is applied to the management of SIF applications covering risk,
issues, project plans and decision making. It also provides assurance that the
decision making process is consistent with the Investment Strategy and this
Assurance Framework.
It co-ordinates with SIF applicants to ensure that the information SIF applicants
provide is in the right format and that application documentation is full and complete.
It scrutinises application data, commercial and legal documentation and highlights
any issues of concern. It also co-ordinates Business Case appraisals with
independent assessors.
Once a public decision to provide project funding has been confirmed, and a project
moves into delivery, the PMO monitors ongoing contractual performance. In
conjunction with the Finance team, the PMO produces regular reports which
highlight progress being made towards project completion and benefit realisation.
This monitoring continues until the project is closed.
Following closure, the PMO assists and co-ordinates post completion Monitoring and
Evaluation activity, working closely with the LCRCA‟s Research and Intelligence
Team.

The PMO sits within the CA‟s Corporate Services Directorate, separate from the
Investment Team, helping to maintain the independence of its assurance role.

16

Page 29

3.

Accountable and Transparent Decision Making

This section describes the SIF investment process, explains the approach to
transparent decision making and offers guidance on the methodology the CA adopts,
and the information it requires, when progressing funding applications.

3.1

Investment Strategy

The Investment Strategy, originally approved in July 2018, is based on the Strategic
Economic Plan (Growth Strategy) for the area prepared by the Local Enterprise
Partnership (LEP). It also reflects LEP strategies completed after the Strategic
Economic Plan (such as the 2017 Science and Innovation Audit and sectoral skills
audits) as well as mayoral priorities and local transport objectives. It forms the basis for
investment decisions alongside the delivery of statutory requirements, and the
conditions and objectives of each funding source.

3.2

Investment Process

The LCRCA investment process is shown below. Its purpose is to demonstrate the
coherent, transparent methodology the CA adopts in managing public funding.

17

Page 30

Each approval stage, and the steps necessary to reach that stage, are described in
detail in section 4 of the Investment Strategy.
The purpose of this section, consequently, is not to repeat the information provided
there but to summarise the investment process and provide additional assurance where
pertinent.
The LCRCA‟s Investment Team manages applications through all stages of the process
with support from the PMO.
Section 4 of the Investment Strategy provides detail of the investment process. A
summary follows below.
Step 1 – Calls and Commissions
The CA will generate project opportunities either by call or commission. The CA may
call for projects in batches but will operate by preference under an “open call” system
that allows projects to progress when ready. Any call will at a minimum be published on
the CA website and communicated to the CA members. The call documentation will
clearly outline the nature of the projects desired and the minimum criteria being applied.
Please refer to Annex 2 for full guidance on the format of calls. Project sponsors will
complete a standard template response which is designed to aid simplicity and
transparency.
Information submitted at this stage allows the Investment team to submit a short outline
paper to the Internal Panel, intended to identify those projects most likely to meet the
CA‟s objectives as stated and therefore worthy of progressing through the approval
process.
The CA may commission projects by specifying desired outcomes and either delivering
a project itself or inviting organisations to deliver the outcomes through a commission or
procurement.
Step 2 – Concept (SOC – strategic outline case)
On progression to the concept stage, the Investment Team will engage with the
Sponsor (and/or their representatives) to understand the project in greater depth. The
Team will identify due diligence requirements and conduct market, operational, financial
and structural due diligence. Project submissions will comprise a concept paper,
prioritisation result and agreed, high level terms for financing, to be considered for
progression by the full panel.

18

Page 31

Step 3 – Interim Review (OBC – outline business case)
Interim review is intended for projects that are unusually large, complex, novel or
protracted in negotiation. Project submissions will comprise an outline paper, external
economic appraisal and funding term sheet, allowing the panel to provide detailed
feedback on the potential for changes, improvements before progressing to final review,
or to recommend rejection on reasoned grounds.
Step 4 – Final Review (FBC – full business case)
Projects with satisfactory diligence, term sheet and external appraisal will be submitted
for consideration at the final stage by the Investment Panel, which will provide final
commentary to the Combined Authority on the project‟s merits.
Please see Annex 3 for the summary content of a final review submission.
Step 5 – Approval
Projects recommended for approval by the Investment Panel will be submitted to the
Combined Authority for final consideration. The basis for this approval will be a
summary project submission, summary appraisal submission and the Investment
Panel‟s commentary.
Projects approved in principle by the CA will receive delegated authority for officers of
the CA to enter into legal documentation and proceed to disbursing the SIF
commitment. Projects that are rejected will receive reasoned feedback.
All financial commitments that the Combined Authority approve remain subject to the
satisfactory completion of legal documentation and are therefore approved in principle.
It is reasonably likely that Combined Authority officers will negotiate legal terms within
the scope of the principle decision, even after the Combined Authority decision.

3.3

Stakeholder Engagement

In 2016, the LEP, acting as a link to the region‟s private sector, published „Building our
Future,‟ a growth strategy for the City Region. The Investment Strategy builds on the
2016 Growth Strategy, the Metro Mayor‟s election manifesto and the City Region‟s
devolution arrangements. It is designed to provide a sound basis for taking investment
decisions over the next 12-18 months. It foreshadows a longer-term strategy to be built
on the City Region‟s Local Industrial Strategy, due to be developed during 2018.
Section 2 above provides detail on how the SIF process will engage the Combined
Authority‟s policy directorate and the LEP, both strategically and at the project level. The
19

Page 32

LEP will play an important role in identifying sector led opportunities and the Investment
Team will interact and consult with the LEP sector leads to help achieve this objective.
The CA will engage with member local authorities at the CA board level, where
priorities, performance and funding distribution are monitored; at regular Chief
Executive and senior officer meetings, where priorities can be discussed; and through
regular working groups amongst delivery groups like the transport advisory group and
the major projects delivery working group.
The Investment Team will also maintain ongoing dialogue with the City Region‟s
businesses, third sector and public organisations to inform them of the availability of
funding, the current objectives, and to identify and co-design project opportunities from
an early stage.
LCRCA will use its website to engage with the wider community and will be used as a
platform for transparent sharing of the SIF processes and objectives. Details of all SIF
investment calls, decisions and funding allocated will be published online, in line with
the LCRCA‟s publication scheme and the Local Government Transparency Code.

3.4

Pre-development Funding

The Combined Authority considers project development to be a significant barrier to
growth. The CA cannot reach its potential without acting to improve the City Region‟s
project development capacity. The absence of high-impact, investment ready projects is
a risk to SIF. The risk is that the CA finds it has more funds than projects and struggles
therefore to generate the economic growth it was established to enable.
Project development requires the commitment of risk funding and dedicated personnel
from an early stage. The inability to develop projects damages most of those sectors
with long planning cycles, typically transport, housing and other economic infrastructure.
In order to commit SIF funds in an orderly way, the CA will – selectively, and with
caution, intervene to expand and improve the pipeline of projects that it might fund,
providing risk funding and expertise to help analyse markets, identify opportunities and
develop projects towards a deliverable state.
The CA will allocate up to 2% of non-transport funding and 6% of transport funding to
pre-development for a period of two years from October 2019, attaching to it conditions
to maximise its impact and minimise the moral hazards associated with funding predevelopment. The funds will be drawn from SIF revenue sources until they can be
capitalised into a project per the Section 73 officer‟s confirmation.
Please refer to Annex 4 for the guidelines the CA will observe in managing predevelopment funding.
20

Page 33

3.5

Use of Evidence

The CA has committed to an evidence based approach to policy and investment. For
each investment proposition, it will obtain and review evidence on the strategic case for
intervention as well as its financial and commercial assumptions. There are three main
sources for evidence:
1. Evidence obtained from third parties to support diligence on projects. For example, a
property intervention is typically supported by a market report and valuation from a
professionally qualified firm of surveyors.
2. Evidence obtained from the CA policy team, Merseytravel and LEP following their
own research and policy examination. The LEP‟s 2017 Science and Innovation Audit
and 2018 Internationalisation Strategy exemplify good, evidence-based evidence on
which SIF investment decisions could be based.
3. Evidence submitted by project sponsors, to the extent this meets a minimum
standard for rigour and methodology and can be verified through external reference.
The role of the Investment Team is not to be expert in all areas but rather to assure
evidence and expertise is brought into the investment process at each stage.
The CA will identify best practice in public investment, including from the What Works
Centre for Local Economic Growth7. It will use this best practice to inform shape calls
and commissions, and to work with project sponsors to maximise their benefit of their
proposal.

3.6

Prioritisation

Appendix 2 of the Investment Strategy details the criteria used to prioritise projects for
SIF investment and the scoring mechanism that will be used. The CA will treat project
proposals received under “calls”, including open calls, to an outline review before
committing significant time to their progression. This outline stage assesses projects for
their strategic fit, public value and deliverability. The purpose of the gateway is to
ensure that only projects that are fundamentally orientated to the goals of the SIF and
are deliverable progress to prioritisation, diligence and commitment. Projects which do
not credibly demonstrate that they will address one or more of our strategic investment
aims will be rejected.

7

http://www.whatworksgrowth.org/

21

Page 34

3.7

Appraisal

A key objective of the assurance framework is to support the CA in assessing whether
potential investments offer good value for money (VfM) and have the capacity to
generate and deliver the growth objectives set out in the Growth Strategy. The
appraisal process for the SIF will be consistent with HM Treasury‟s Green Book and
Business Case Appraisal process8, including supplementary and departmental
guidance, such as the Department for Transport‟s (DfT) WebTAG appraisal guidance
and MHCLG‟s Appraisal Guide. This will work from the five cases model:






strategic case – which provides a compelling case for change and explains how the
project provides fit with the objectives of the organisation and wider public sector
agendas;
economic case – which describes how the project/preferred option represents best
public value;
commercial case – which demonstrates that the deal is attractive to the market, can
be procured and is commercially viable;
the financial case – which confirms that the proposed spend is affordable; and
management case – which confirms that what is required from all parties is
achievable.

3.7.1 Proportionality
The CA undertakes to apply a proportionate application of HM Treasury‟s Green Book
and its attendant five business case model. Proportionality has two senses:



8

First, the CA will allow projects requesting a non-repayable commitment less than £1
million and/or a repayable commitment of £3 million to progress directly from outline
approval to final approval. This eliminates the concept (SOC) stage, allowing the
project to be funded more quickly and the Investment Team to focus its scarce
resources on larger funding requests.
Second, the CA will adopt a risk based approach under which it will allocate
Investment Team development and diligence time according to the size, risk and
complexity of projects and programmes (as stated in Section Five of the Investment
Strategy). Even in accepting differences in the depth of analysis and diligence it
undertakes, the CA will adopt the same base approach and templates to prepare
and submit its papers. Please refer to Annex 3 for the summary headings of the final
review (FBC).

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-green-book-appraisal-and-evaluation-in-central-governent.

22

Page 35

3.7.2 Consideration of Options
Where the project promoter is a public sector organisation (including the CA itself when
it proposes projects), the CA requires the consideration of options per HM Treasury‟s
Green Book and will engage with the promoter to ensure the options considered fairly
reflect the availability, terms and objectives of the CA‟s funding. The CA will report the
options considered in its presentation of projects.
Where the project promoter is a private or third sector organisation, the CA‟s ability to
require options analysis may be limited since it may fund the project under
consideration but is not leading its delivery. In these cases:




The CA may consider options at a higher level, i.e. choose amongst a number of
projects that deliver the same outcomes (e.g. multiple proposals for office
development in the city centre);
Engage with the project promoter to consider alternative options for delivery within
that promoters‟ financial and operational parameters; and
Accept that the project itself has no alternative options but consider the different
financing approaches the CA could take, also to optimise value for money.

3.7.3 Appraisal Criteria
A single appraisal approach will be applied to all projects, regardless of sector or
geography, which will be transparent and equitable. The project appraisal criteria will
include:
 fit with the Growth Strategy, SIF objectives and other relevant strategies – including
strategic linkages with other thematic projects;
 clear evidence of the rationale and need (or demand) for the project and application
of best practice;
 common and comparable output criteria, the additional GVA and employment
impacts, as well as the wider benefits, at the LCR level;
 clearly defined inputs, activities, outputs, and anticipated outcomes and an
assessment of additionality (including displacement and deadweight);
 clear detail of the financial costs of the proposal and evidence of the need for SIF
support and availability of match funding;
 confirmation that the investment represents value for money (the degree to which
benefits exceed costs assessed using Benefit Cost Ratios and Net Present Public
Value) and is the preferred option in line with the most recent HM Treasury Green
Book guidance;

23

Page 36




that the project has robust risk management, delivery, and monitoring and evaluation
arrangements; and
that the project complies with necessary regulations and requirements, including
legal due diligence requirements and state aid.

The SIF has been established with a principle of becoming a self-sustaining fund over
time. Where the project‟s financial profile can support it, preference will be given to
support in the form of loans or investments that generate a return, along with additional
business rates and/or Council Tax generated being recycled to the Fund on a pro-rata
basis reflecting public sector investment. In addition, private and other public sector
leverage will be maximised.
Projects will be appraised against these criteria and should also meet minimum
thresholds and requirements. For example, a Benefit Cost Ratio of at least 2.0x is
expected for transport schemes, representing “high” value for money. This will allow
projects to be compared and those with the highest impact to progress to funding.
For transport projects, the expectation is that all schemes must achieve “high” value for
money (as set out within DfT‟s guidance) at all stages of the approval process, and
independently verified on behalf of the Combined Authority as part of the assessment
process. Such projects must also have been subject to earlier rigour to de-scope the
scheme, or else to explore higher VfM alternatives.
Notwithstanding the above principles on value for money, the CA will be able to approve
schemes having lower VfM, having regard to specific circumstances including:




very convincing9 wider economic, social and environmental benefit;
the ability of the scheme to address multiple city regional policy objectives;
circumstances where very significant levels of match funding are being provided by
the scheme promoter; or
where there are other urgent10 considerations.

The Investment Team will offer professional advice on the relative weight that should be
afforded to such considerations. Recommendations to the CA will clearly explain the

9

I.e. benefits that are core to the Combined Authority‟s strategy, as described in its corporate plan or investment
strategy but which may not be captured entirely in value for money calculations, even considering the social impacts
contained in HM Treasury‟s 2018 Green Book update. An example of this may be in addressing localised air quality
problems, which is vital for public health but may not generate sufficient value for money in a conventional transport
appraisal to permit focused intervention.
10
This applies where a project becomes necessary to safeguard initiatives or projects that are core to the Combined
Authority‟s strategy, as described in its corporate plan or investment strategy.

24

Page 37

rationale for approving a lower VfM scheme and the implications of the
recommendation.
3.7.4 Assessing Value for Money (VfM)
Good VfM, as defined by the National Audit Office (NAO) is the optimal use of
resources to achieve the intended outcomes. „Optimal‟ being „the most desirable
possible given expressed or implied restrictions or constraints‟. VfM is not just about
achieving the lowest initial price, it is defined as the optimum combination of whole life
costs and quality, with due regard to propriety and regularity.
The NAO uses three criteria to assess the VfM of government spending i.e. the optimal
use of resources to achieve the intended outcomes:



economy - minimising the cost of resources used or required (inputs) – spending
less;
efficiency - the relationship between the output from goods or services and the
resources to produce them – spending well; and
effectiveness - the relationship between the intended and actual results of public
spending (outcomes) – spending wisely.

The focus of the SIF appraisal will be on projects that deliver growth, provide VfM and
meet the wider strategic objectives set out in the Growth Strategy. The CA will make
investment decisions based on a range of evidence, such as the strategic case and
other local impacts and analyses of cost effectiveness (inc. jobs and GVA), as well as
the wider VfM appraisal.
The CA will take account of a range of evidence when deciding to invest in a project
(such as the local impacts on the economy and investment unlocked) within the context
of a wider VfM appraisal. Even if the national Benefit Cost Ratio is low/poor, the
LCRCA may decide to invest in a project based on the overall business case, including
local impacts, by referring to the specific circumstances described in the appraisal
criteria above.
As set out in the National Guidance, in addition to following the Green Book Business
Case guidance, the methodology used to assess VfM for the Single Pot funding will
reflect the established guidance of the relevant government department and detailed in
Appendix 1 of the Single Pot Assurance Guidance, which is summarised below:
Transport – the standard against which the CA will assess the robustness of the
economic case of transport projects will be the established WebTAG methodology.
25

Page 38

Schemes will also be subject to the minimum requirements on VfM assessment,
assurance and evaluation of transport projects set out in Appendix B of the Single Pot
Assurance Framework National Guidance. They are based on the requirements for
Local Transport Bodies and the Local Growth Fund.
The modelling and appraisal of transport schemes, defined as any scheme that
significantly changes the transport network infrastructure, must be developed in
accordance with the guidance published in WebTAG11, including the application of DfT
appraisal periods and HMT Green Book discount rate. The central case used in
scheme appraisals will also need to be based on forecasts which are consistent with the
latest version of NTEM12. Appraisal results from this central case will be clearly reported
to decision makers. At every stage of the approval process, the economic case and
corresponding VfM statement will also be reviewed and updated to reflect changes in
the scheme‟s scope and cost and extant WebTAG / NTEM guidance. Scheme
promoters should also have regard for DfT‟s proportionate update guidance in preparing
their project13.
A VfM statement and a monitoring and evaluation plan will be required for all transport
projects in line with DfT advice on assessing VfM14 and monitoring and evaluation15.
This VfM statement will be produced by scheme promoters and independently
scrutinised by the Combined Authority, drawing on independent technical support. The
statement will be signed off by the Director of Corporate Services, and this will be
formally recorded. Safeguards will prevent the VfM statement from being validated by
an officer with a potential conflict of interest (e.g. by virtue of also being a beneficiary or
scheme promoter). In such circumstances, the VfM statement would need to be signed
off by an alternate of suitable seniority and experience such as the Head of Paid
Service.
The CA‟s base expectation is for a BCR of 2.0x or higher.
The CA will require that business cases be published and publicised by local
stakeholders three months or more before funding approval is sought so that external
comment is possible. Opinions expressed by the public and stakeholders must be
available to the CA when decisions are being taken.

11

DfT‟s appraisal guidance, https://www.gov.uk/guidance/transport-analysis-guidance-webtag.
DfT‟s planning dataset, https://data.gov.uk/dataset/11bc7aaf-ddf6-4133-a91d-84e6f20a663e/national-trip-endmodel-ntem.
13
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/webtag-tag-proportionate-update-process.
14
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dft-value-for-money-framework
15
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/monitoring-and-evaluation-framework-for-local-authority-majorschemes
12

26

Page 39

Housing – Homes England good practice, advice and guidance will need to be adhered
to, alongside MHCLG‟s appraisal guide for residential and non-residential development.
To assist the decision making process, each business case will need to provide
estimates of the Benefit Cost Ratio and Net Present Public Value.
Skills capital – Skills Funding Agency good practice, advice and guidance will provide
a reference for skills capital projects.
Enterprise, innovation and business support – these projects will need to
demonstrate ability to deliver VfM through evidence-based business cases aligned with
HM Treasury Green Book guidance, with a commitment to publishing results to add to
the evidence base on what works and contribution to local and national policy goals on
productivity and growth.
Regeneration – projects will need to be in line with the National Planning Policy
Framework and the Planning Practice Guidance. Projects beyond housing and
transport interventions, for example enabling works, land assembly, utilities and/or
public realm projects, the MHCLG appraisal guide will be useful in helping to appraise
the costs and benefits of these types of interventions.
3.7.5 Responsible Senior Officers
The Director of Commercial Development and Investment is the senior officer
responsible assuring adherence to the Investment Strategy, including the investment
process and the standards outlined above for prioritisation, appraisal and securing value
for money. The Director and the Investment Team‟s role is to prepare optimal
submissions for consideration by the Investment Panel and the Combined Authority.
The Investment Panel is responsible for scrutiny and recommendations on each
business case. The veto rights available to the Head of Finance, Legal, PMO, Director
of Integrated Transport, and Policy and Strategic Commissioning assure a separation
between those responsible for preparing a project submission and those responsible for
approving/recommending it. It also assures that projects submitted for funding by the
Directorate of Commercial Development and Investment are considered by responsible
officers outside that directorate.
To create an appropriate working tension between project submissions and value for
money, the Director of Corporate Services, who is also the Section 73 Officer and to
whom the heads of PMO, Legal and Finance report, carries responsibility for assuring
value for money.
27

Page 40

3.8

Risk Management

Risk Management is at the heart of the SIF investment process. Section 5.7 of the
Investment Strategy sets out how risks will be monitored at a Project, Programme and
Portfolio level. The Director of Commercial Development and Investment is the senior
officer responsible for the propriety and performance of SIF projects and portfolio.
The Investment Team will make risk integral to its structuring and presentation of
projects, maintaining its own view of risk. The CA will also require project sponsors to
maintain a risk log. Risk mitigation measures will be agreed with project sponsors prior
to approval. When a project is in delivery, the CA will require the risk log to be
maintained, regularly reviewed and reported on. The PMO, alongside Internal Audit, will
regularly report on risk and performance to the Audit and Governance Committee.

28

Page 41

4.

Monitoring and Evaluation

Monitoring and evaluation (M&E) is a critical component of an effective performance
management regime. M&E quantifies and assesses the relative impacts and benefits of
a scheme or series of policy interventions, including how it was delivered and whether
the investment generated the intended benefits and delivered value for money. M&E
creates a feedback loop to inform future policy development, priorities and budgets.

4.1

Effective Monitoring and Evaluation

The LCRCA is committed to implementing effective M&E so that it is able to:a)

Provide local accountability to the public by demonstrating how devolved
funding is spent and the benefits achieved, and tracking progress against local
strategies and action plans (such as the „Building Our Future‟ Single Growth
Strategy16). As such, M&E will be important to demonstrate the value and
effectiveness of local decision-making and to shape future priorities;

b)

Comply with external scrutiny requirements i.e. to satisfy conditions of the
Devolution Deal. Specifically, M&E will be used to demonstrate local progress
and delivery to senior government officials and Ministers who are ultimately
accountable to parliament for devolved funds;

c)

Understand which policies/interventions work and are effective, and justify
reinvestment or further funding. M&E will provide a useful feedback loop and
enable this to be communicated to relevant stakeholders;

d)

Develop an evidence base for input into future business cases and land
use/transport models; and can also be used for developing future submissions
when competing for funds. M&E will collect, collate and analyse data which can
be utilised for future work.

The LCR Combined Authority‟s Devolution Deal specifically includes a commitment
between Government and the LCRCA to work together in developing an approach to
monitoring and evaluating the impact of the Deal. The Authority last reviewed its
Devolution Deal Monitoring and Evaluation Plan in September 2018. This sets out the
approach of the Combined Authority and its partners in respect of the deal as a whole,
covering all of the governance changes, powers and new funding freedoms that arise.

16

http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/uploadedfiles/documents/SGS_SUMMARY.pdf

29

Page 42

This is to understand their effectiveness and impact, and to provide a feedback loop to
inform future policy and strategy development.
Furthermore, all projects funded by the SIF, regardless of the size, will be required to
have an effective monitoring and evaluation plan in place which will form a key part of
the business case, to assess the effectiveness and impact of investing public funds and
to identify best practice and lessons learned that can inform decisions about future
delivery. The monitoring plan will guide the collection of data from individual projects
and will be designed to ensure that it captures information required by LCRCA and all
government departments. Individual monitoring and evaluation plans will need to be
proportionate, in line with procedures for appraisal, and depending on the type of
project, they will also need to ensure that they are in line with the latest government
department guidance where relevant17.
The LCRCA‟s approach to M&E makes use of the Magenta Book18 definition of
monitoring and impact evaluation:Monitoring
Seeks to check progress against planned
targets, formal reporting and evidencing
that spend and outputs are successfully
delivered and milestones met.

Evaluation
Assessment of the effectiveness and
efficiency during and after
policy/intervention implementation. It seeks
to measure outcomes and impacts to
assess whether anticipated benefits are
realised.

Monitoring
The LCRCA will be using its performance management regime as the primary means of
monitoring progress of the objectives/deliverables set out in the Devolution Deal. The
same system will also be used to undertake performance management of other key
areas of the LCRCA‟s activity and interest such as the projects funded from the
Strategic Investment Fund. Performance management reports will be provided regularly
to the LCRCA‟s governance structures to inform decision-making and if necessary
additional interventions to deliver the agreed outcomes. The LCR LEP Board will
receive reports on the performance and effectiveness of Local Growth Funds being
invested through the SIF. Reports will also be provided to the Cities and Local Growth
Unit.
17

For example, DfT issue guidance for the monitoring and evaluation of transport projects as set out at
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/monitoring-and-evaluation-framework-for-local-authority-major-schemes
18
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-magenta-book

30

Page 43

Evaluation
The LCRCA will adopt a two-tier approach, which is in line with government
requirements:a)
b)

Devolution Deal commitments, monitored by theme; and
A collection of individual projects, monitored in detail, as agreed with individual
Government Departments.

One salient example of individual projects under part (b) above concern the approach to
the LCR‟s £30 million Investment Fund (“gainshare”) allocation over the next 30
years. As a condition of this fund, there will be five-yearly gateway reviews undertaken
by a national evaluation panel. SQW has been appointed to put in place the national
framework for conducting these Gateway Reviews and to work with localities on
developing a Local Framework to assess the impact of projects and intervention that are
funded from SIF gainshare monies. This work will provide context for understanding the
impact of wider devolved funding pots investment at a country-wide level. The
Devolution Deal Monitoring and Evaluation Plan makes specific reference to this
process as an example of a specific, in–depth evaluation process.
The CA has agreed the intended list of Gainshare funded projects that would form part
of the national SQW evaluation, namely:Project
International Festival of Business 2018
Liverpool Cruise Liner terminal
Paddington Village, Liverpool City Centre
Parkside strategic investment site access road
Shakespeare Theatre, Prescot

4.2

Project Stage
Complete / M&E
Approved
Approved
In Diligence
Approved

Responsibilities and Resources

The primary M&E responsibilities are outlined in the table below. These responsibilities
will be reviewed over the coming year in light of changes being taken forward as part of
the CA‟s new staffing structures.
Responsibility
Setting the LCRCA‟s strategic approach to
Monitoring and Evaluation, including annual
review

Resource
Head of Paid Service

31

Page 44

Monitoring progress of Devolution Deal
objectives and of LCRCA wider programme
of activity, including projects and
programmes funded from the SIF

Research and Evaluation Team (with
support/input from PMO, policy leads and
the LEP)

Preparation of individual Monitoring and
Evaluation Plans

Devolution Theme Leads/SIF applicants

Undertaking individual evaluation

Independent teams that are in the same
organisation as the Devolution Theme
Leads/SIF applicants

Developing the Local Framework in support
of the Gateway Assessment

Research and Intelligence Team / PMO
(with support/input from policy leads and
the LEP)
PMO / Research and Intelligence Team
(with support/input from policy leads and
the LEP)

Maintaining a repository of Monitoring and
Evaluation data

Dissemination of evaluation conclusions

4.3

PMO / LCRCA / LEP Communications
Team

Ongoing Project Performance Monitoring

Performance information will be co-ordinated and assessed by the LCRCA‟s PMO.
Templates to assist with information capture will be provided and will be proportionate to
the scale, complexity and risk of the project. Individual monitoring and evaluation plans
along with project specific Key Performance Indicators will be agreed as part of the
project business case and contract.
All projects in delivery will be expected to report to the CA on:






Performance against Business Plans & Milestones;
Risks;
Issues;
Financial performance information (as appropriate for the investment instrument);
Quality; and
Benefits, Outputs and Outcomes (as appropriate).

32

Page 45

Portfolio
Using an agreed list of metrics, reports on overall portfolio performance will also be
provided. Delivery progress will be summarised alongside other Key Performance
Indicators. To ensure transparency, this information will be published on the CA
website.

4.4

Benefits Management

All projects will be required to produce a benefits realisation plan as part of their
Business Case, which identifies the outcomes (benefits) they are planning to deliver,
how outcomes will be measured, a baseline assessment, and how they intend to
implement, monitor and assess the project to identify whether the benefits have been
realised. This is key to meeting the ongoing monitoring and evaluation requirements
later in the project lifecycle. The PMO team will co-ordinate the process of proving the
CA with the information that it requires to assess the ongoing performance of the
projects invested in by the SIF.

4.5

Change Control

The CA has a formal change request process in place which ensures that project
changes are well understood and agreed before a change takes place. This process is
co-ordinated by the PMO team. This includes changes to project documentation, plans
and funding agreements.
Making a change Request
The PMO team, with assistance from the Investment Team, will engage with project
sponsors on changes requested and will encourage a collaborative approach that
encourages early discussion of changes that may become necessary.

4.6

Five-year gateway review

As a condition of the LCRCA‟s £30 million Investment Fund (“Gain Share”) allocation
over the next 30 years, there will be five-yearly gateway reviews undertaken by a
national evaluation panel. SQW has been appointed to put in place the national
framework for conducting these Gateway Reviews and to work with localities on
developing a Local Framework to assess the impact of projects and intervention that are
funded from gainshare.

33

Page 46

Individual project monitoring and evaluation plans (part of the investment submission)
will need to define the arrangements agreed to engage with SQW.

4.7

Project Closure

All projects will be required to produce a closure report on completion of the project.
This report must confirm:





All activities have been delivered in accordance with the contract;
The final financial profile for the project;
That there are no outstanding risk or issues requiring attention; and
Any other matters reasonably required by the Investment Team and/or PMO.

34

Page 47

Annex 1: Terms of Reference of the Investment Panel
To support LCRCA‟s policy and investment team in providing the right type of funding to
the highest impact projects, LCRCA will establish a Strategic Investment Panel (the
“Panel”) including seasoned leaders from priority business sectors, investment and
other cross-cutting areas. The Panel will comprise these independent members and
LCRCA officers whose role is to represent their area of service in the combined
authority (policy, finance, legal, programme management etc.)
LCRCA may fund projects promoted by third parties (for example, by lending to a real
estate developer) or created by the policy team to address a known priority (for
example, to offer digital skills and maths training to a certain group of people). Either
way, projects will move through a stages investment process from concept review to
interim review to final review, and finally to board approval. The Panel shall oversee
projects from concept to final review. Projects submitted for board approval are
considered by LCRCA‟s political leaders.
It is critical that the Panel be considered competent and engaged, capable of assuring a
first class investment process and demonstrating to all that LCR is credible in
performing its economic growth responsibilities.
Independent members will have no executive responsibility but will provide advice on
strategy, planning, proposed investments and overall SIF performance. The Panel‟s
recommendations will critically inform LCRCA leaders‟ decision making.
Independent Members
LCRCA will select independent members on the basis of their experience, expertise and
alignment with the city region‟s objectives. Members are likely to have acted as senior
executives in their organisation and be accustomed to the duties of an executive or
supervisory board member.
LCRCA may favour members in the sectoral expertise in land and property (commercial
and residential), life sciences, advanced manufacturing, infrastructure, energy and low
carbon, digital and creative, tourism and the maritime/offshore industry. The CA may
also favour cross-sectoral expertise in investment management, finance, innovation and
the provision of skills and education.
Inclusive growth and sustainability form a core part of our investment strategy and
should be represented.
35

Page 48

Duties of the Panel
The Panel shall:



Review the SIF business plan and identify opportunities for improvement
Review the SIF portfolio and identify opportunities to improve performance
Consider project submissions at the concept, interim and final review stages and
provide guidance (detailed where necessary) on:
— The project‟s strategic fit with LCRCA‟s objectives and investment strategy
— The project‟s quality with respect to its structure, delivery, operations,
financing and impact
— The project‟s risks, mitigation of these risks and portfolio impact
— The structure, role and risks of LCRCA‟s proposed financial contribution
— Opportunities to enhance LCRCA‟s impact by linking and/or modifying other
projects and interventions under consideration

Operation of the Panel
The Panel will discharge its duties on the basis of submissions prepared by LCRCA‟s
investment team. Project submissions may be accompanied by external economic
appraisals designed to evaluate the project‟s contribution to economic, social and
environmental outcomes. The Panel may call for support in analysing projects where it
wishes better to understand it. Papers will be distributed five business days in advance
(unless by exception).
Independent Members will operate by consensus in formulating meeting minutes that to
guide LCRCA in conducting diligence, negotiations and decisions about projects. In
particular, the Panel will submit concise but detailed commentary to LCRCA leaders
before they consider approving a project.
LCRCA Panel members will hold rights of veto on projects. These rights are designed to
assure that each department (legal, finance, programme management etc.) can assure
compliance with its operating requirements. The Panel will initially comprise 6-8
independent members. It will meet up to twelve times a year. LCRCA will facilitate
independent members‟ attendance at those meetings where their expertise is most
valuable.
LCRCA will appoint independent members following an open advert and selection
process led by the Authority‟s Nomination Committee which includes the Combined
Authority‟s Head of Paid Service, Director Commercial Investment and Development
36

Page 49

and Managing Director of the Local Enterprise Partnership. The target term of
membership will be two or three years.
LCRCA will appoint a chairperson and deputy chairperson to oversee the Panel‟s
efficient operation.
Panel members will not receive any remuneration but reasonable expenses will be met.

37

Page 50

Annex 2: Minimum Criteria for a “Call”
Approach to Calling Projects
The constituent councils and CA wish to identify and fund those projects that best fit the
investment strategy in ways that have the greatest cumulative impact in reaching the
objectives rather than projects that are simply available to be funded. The investment
strategy states:
We will strive to be flexible, creative and “mode agnostic”, i.e. to fund the most
effective delivery of our objectives without favouring any one type of intervention
(what works best, goes). Our aim is not a physical legacy but a human one,
benefitting all our residents and communities.
The approach, therefore, will start by defining funding available, the strategic outcomes
the CA wishes to facilitate and then work to set parameters for how those outcomes can
be realised.
Funding Available
LCRCA will clearly state the total sum of funding to be invested and the source(s) of that
funding. The type of funding available and who may apply for that funding will be
defined.
Minimum requirements: volume and source of funds.
Outcomes Sought
The way the CA identifies the outcomes it seeks to “buy” will depend on the funds
available to invest. The Strategic Investment Fund is a platform for diverse government
and other funding, and each source may have its own objectives and requirements.
When calling projects, the CA will state the outcomes the funds available are targeting.
Outcomes may apply whatever the sector or type of project, for instance where the CA
wishes to consider projects that improve local productivity and employment, and
recognises that both, say, innovation funding and property development are credible
ways to realise those outcomes. Alternatively, funds may be restricted to a single
theme, like skills, where projects must realise improved learner outcomes.
Minimum requirements: strategic objectives and outcomes by source of funds.

38

Page 51

Sectoral and Thematic Allocations
After defining the outcomes sought, the CA will establish the themes and sectors that –
and are not – eligible for the funding round.
The CA will draw themes and sectors from the approved investment strategy. When
doing so, it may refer to the priorities already contained in the investment strategy or
may further specify priorities that the CA wishes to address to support the realisation of
outcomes sought by narrowing the range of project and output types. If further priorities
are specified in a call, the CA will indicate how these priorities will be treated in the
prioritisation process.
For each theme and sector, the CA will indicate commitment targets/ranges and
whether these indications are firm or soft. For example, it might state that the CA
proposes to provide £10-15 million out of a total £30 million in funding to business
support services and that in no case will the CA provide more than £15 million in total.
Minimum requirements: Eligible sectors and themes, priorities from the investment
strategy or further guidance, parameters for funding allocation, parameters for individual
projects.
Project Parameters
After establishing these allocations, the CA will provide project level guidance,
identifying requirements and restrictions that each project must observe in order to be
considered. It will specify which elements of this guidance are compulsory and which
are advisory.
This guidance will be provided at the fund and/or sectoral/thematic level, whichever is
most likely to guide project sponsors in understanding the criteria.
Project parameters will include size; likely SIF/public funding intensity (for which we will
differentiate between repayable and non-repayable funding); timing of launch, delivery
and operation; stakeholder support; private investment and match funding. The CA will
address impact and outputs separately; this section will refer to the formation and
delivery of the project rather than its impact.
Minimum requirements: Necessary and desired project parameters, excluding impact.

39

Page 52

Funding Parameters
The CA will outline a range and limits for the repayable and non-repayable funding we
will consider providing to any project. As with the project parameters, it will specify
whether the range is indicative or compulsory.
When specifying these parameters, the CA may provide non-binding guidance on the
funding approach it is seeking to obtain for different types of project.
Minimum requirements: Advisory and compulsory funding parameters.
Outputs Sought and Appraisal Criteria
For funds overall, and each eligible sector or theme, the CA will specify the intermediate
outputs it is targeting in making the call.
For example, transport projects requesting £5 million or more of public funds are
required to submit a more detailed appraisal. It follows naturally that projects of this type
will provide a Benefit Cost Ratio calculated under the WebTAG methodology and that
the CA will consider that output in reaching its funding decision.
The CA may provide reference rates that indicate the output intensity it expects from
projects as well as hurdle rates that projects must achieve in order to be considered for
funding. For instance, the CA may state that the national cost per job range in sector A
is £10,000 and that it expects all projects to meet a cost per job hurdle of £15,000 or
less.
The CA may also provide guidance on outputs it expects to be delivered but not expect
formally to appraise. These may include local employment intensity, contributions to
inclusive growth or environmental improvements. Wherever guidance is issued it will
state clearly the role the outputs have in project appraisal.
Finally, the CA will confirm the approach it will take in appraising projects. This will be
done with reference to the investment strategy and assurance framework since these
documents formalise the CA‟s approach, and to provide further guidance only by
exception.
Minimum requirements: target outputs by funding source, sector and theme, detailing
reference, hurdle and additional criteria; confirmation of appraisal methodology.

40

Page 53

Call Particulars
Finally, the CA will define the key dates and requirements for each call. It will confirm
the timing of the call and the date by which project sponsors must have submitted their
completed and satisfactory expression of interest; the format of the expression of
interest to be submitted; and other factors sponsors need to observe in considering their
position.
As the CA matures, it will look to provide indicative timescales for project approval.
Minimum requirements: timing of call, format of registering interest.

41

Page 54

Annex 3: Summary Contents of a Final Review (FBC)
Full Business Case Requirements
All Applications
Project Details and Overview
Overview, timetable and changes since last
submission
Strategic Case
Strategic Fit and Case for Change
Investment Objectives
Outcome of Options Analysis
Equality and Diversity and Inclusive Growth
Economic Case
Results of Economic Appraisal
Key Metrics (NPPV, BCR, Jobs, Leverage)
Non-monetised Impacts
Financial Case
Business Plan
Key Sensitivities
Financial Projections
Funding Sought and Key Terms
Explanation of Market Failure
Commercial Case
Risks – to CA and for Project
Diligence and Legal Commentary
Management Case
Deliverability & Leadership
Outstanding Issues and Conditions to
Funding
Monitoring and Evaluation Plan
Other
State Aid Approach
Panel Comments
Other Factors

Supporting Evidence (to include as
appropriate)
External Diligence Reports / Findings
Market Analysis
Green Book / Departmental Appraisal
Results (for public sector sponsors)
Economic Appraisal Results
Financial Appraisal Results
Terms of Funding (inc. proof of match
funding)
State Aid Opinion
Key Permissions, Authorities and
Investigations
Options Annex

42

Page 55

Annex 4: Guidelines for the Provision of Pre-development
Funding from the Strategic Investment Fund
Item
Pre-development
Funding

Detail
Financial support in aid of potential SIF projects, to be drawn
from funds available for SIF investment.

Duration

Pre-development Funding shall be available for 2 years under
this funding. The CA may at any time seek to amend these
terms by approval of CA Members.

Amount

The CA shall request 6% of funds SIF available for transport
projects and 2% of all other funds available to invest.

Purpose

To provide funding that could identify, improve or expedite a
project with high probability of receiving SIF support under the
SIF investment strategy and, usually, within the scope of an
existing / forthcoming funding round.

Eligible Projects

1. A project which, sufficiently elaborated, has a high
probability of meeting the objectives, priorities and
requirements established by the SIF Investment Strategy
and therefore receiving support.
2. A study which seeks to establish the market and key
parameters for a project which, sufficiently elaborated, has
a high probability of meeting the objectives, priorities and
requirements established by the SIF Investment Strategy
and therefore receiving support.
For the avoidance of doubt, these requirements include the
ability to meet the SIF‟s value for money criteria and
expectations.

Eligible Activities



Project preparatory work until the earlier of:
o Selection of a preferred option for detailed design
(e.g. GRIP stage 3 for Network Rail)
o Ability of the sponsor to capitalise costs associated
with preparation
o Approval of SIF funding commitment

43

Page 56

Item

Detail
Such work may include:
 Feasibility Studies;
 Options Appraisals;
 Market Studies;
 Business Plan Development;
 Outline design work;
 Master Planning;
 Pre-application planning activities / scoping studies,
transport impact analysis, environmental impact;
Such development work must be required in order for the
applicant to submit a later application for SIF funding.
No Pre-development Funding shall support a recipient
organisation‟s internal costs (though internal costs may be
considered as co-financing at the CA‟s sole discretion).

Approval Process

The CA, through its Internal Panel, will determine the eligibility
of projects and studies.
Unless by exception, it will consider project funding requests at
the Outline stage of the SIF approval process. It will consider
studies at an earlier stage.
Application for development funding to be presented to Internal
Panel, detailing:
 Proposed long-term project;
 Purpose of Development Funding/Eligible Activities and link
to overall project / why required prior to SIF application;
 Link to SIF objectives and priorities;
 Amount required;
 Confirmation that funding requested is additional; and
 Public Procurement approach (see below)
Information above to be incorporated into a standard short
application form.

44

Page 57

Item
Reporting to the CA

Detail
The Investment Team will report quarterly on:
 Projects supported with Development Funding;
 Amount allocated;
 Amount spent; and
 Outcome of support

Review of Decision
Making

A CA Member may request the review of an award or refusal to
award Development Funding. The Metro Mayor and portfolio
holder for economic growth will hear this review.

Minimum/Maximum
Funding Available

Pre-development funding shall be: provided in the minimum amount necessary to secure the
specified (and agreed) outcome
 additional, and is not intended to replace other
organisations‟ project development capacity

Main Conditions



Development Funding shall only meet external costs (such
as professional advisors) related to such eligible activities.
Organisations‟ internal costs (staff time etc.) are not eligible.



Funding required to be approved by CA prior to
commencement of Eligible Activities;



For projects sponsored by the CA (Commissioned Projects):
up to 100% of the cost of Eligible Activities;



For projects sponsored by 3rd parties: up to 90% of the cost
of Eligible Activities in the transport sector and up to 60% in
all other sectors;



A development work agreement in place with the Sponsor
(for projects sponsored by 3rd parties) covering:


Agreed scope of work of third parties or such scope to
be agreed with CA prior to commencement;



Requirement of CA to approve identity of parties and
contracts (so that there are no adverse limitations on
Intellectual Property / restrictions of use) undertaking the
45

Page 58

Item

Detail
work (if not already identified);


CA to be co-beneficiary/addressee of work undertaken /
relevant 3rd party to have equivalent duty of care to CA.
All reports / deliverables to be provided to the CA.



Except where commercial confidentiality requires
otherwise, CA be able to use deliverables for wider
purpose;



Sponsor accepts CA‟s obligations as a public body (such
as FOI and public sector procurement requirements);



Where considered appropriate, CA entitlement to attend
any meetings with external third parties in respect of
progress reporting / interim findings etc.; and



Funding drawn down on provision of copy invoices
certified as properly payable by the Sponsor

In general, it is anticipated such agreement will be set out
in a letter to be countersigned
Public Procurement

Where 3rd parties are being engaged by recipient of funding this
may fall within CA requirements to undertake a procurement
exercise. Where relevant, waiver of requirement to undertake
a procurement exercise will be sought as part of the Approval
Process.

State Aid

It is expected that any funding provided will fall below de
minimis limits. Where this is not the case, the CA will require a
State Aid compliant funding route.

46

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY
To:

The Metro Mayor and Members of the Combined
Authority

Meeting:

11 January 2019

Authority/Authorities Affected:

All

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: In part
Report – Not Exempt
Appendix 1 - Independent Appraisal Report -Not exempt
Appendix 2 – Indicative Heads of Terms
Full Business Case – Exempt by virtue of paragraph 3 of
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972
Key Decision
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT
AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER: INCLUSIVE GROWTH, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT,
DIGITAL AND INNOVATION
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION SINGLE INVESTMENT FUND – GROWING BUSINESS
VISITS AND EVENTS

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

The purpose of this report is to seek a Combined Authority decision on a Full
Business Case submitted for funding from the Single Investment Fund and to
delegate authority to the Head of Paid Service regarding negotiations of the grant
funding agreements.

2

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority:
(a)

Consider and approve the Full Business Case in relation to the Growing
Business Visits and Events proposals, and in doing so:

(b)

Support the development by the LEP of a strategy and commercial model to
sustain conference subvention in the Liverpool City Region;

(c)

Approve a three year transitional fund to ensure subvention funds are
available to attract international and national conferences in the Liverpool
City Region until the strategy and commercial model is fully developed;

(d)

Support the enhancement of resources of the Liverpool and Sefton
Convention Bureaus by adding two full time employees on 3 year fixed term
contracts (one FTE for each bureau), to support and deliver on the above
proposals;

Page 61

(e)

award the Single Investment Fund in the sum of a maximum revenue grant
of £572,833; and

(f)

grant authority to the Head of Paid Service and Director of Commercial
Development and Investment to negotiate detailed terms and conditions of
the indicative heads of terms (the “Heads”) at Appendix 2 and the ensuing
definitive grant funding agreements in consultation with the Combined
Authority Monitoring Officer and Combined Authority Treasurer. Any material
variations to the project as detailed in this report are to be referred back to
the Combined Authority for consideration.

3

BACKGROUND

3.1

A Full Business Case application has been received from the Liverpool City Region
Local Enterprise Partnership for the Growing Business Visits and Events project
and a detailed appraisal has been undertaken in line with the Single Investment
Fund Assurance Framework. The external Investment Panel has considered both
the independent appraisal report (the “Appraisal”) and the Heads, and endorsed the
project. The Investment Panel acknowledged the importance of the project but
expressed concern at the fractured nature of the delivery structure and broader
place marketing landscape. It is noted, however, that the Full Business Case
contemplates a proof of concept to improve co-ordination with a view to informing
future, more streamlined delivery mechanisms. Accordingly, it is deemed that the
Growing Business Visits and Events project is now eligible for consideration by the
Combined Authority.

3.2

The appraisal adheres to the agreed Single Investment Fund appraisal criteria,
which is compliant with the HMT Green Book Guidance. The appraisal has
considered all aspects of the business case including:
1
2
3
4
5

Strategic Case
Economic Case
Finance Case
Commercial Case
Management Case

3.3

The Appraisal is appended to this report at Appendix 1.

3.4

The main risk highlighted by the Appraisal concerns the ability of the private sector
to commit sufficient funding to sustain the commercial model and the complete
withdrawal of public subvention funding after the three-year project period. The
highlighted risk has been addressed through mitigation measures (conditions and
clawbacks linked to project milestones and objectives) in the Heads at Appendix 2.
The Heads (as agreed with the applicant) are indicative only at this stage and will
be developed further in conjunction with project partners prior to the negotiation of
the definitive grant funding agreements.

3.5

It should be noted that this represents a Key Decision due to the community impact
of the project. A Key Decision Notice has been prepared and published for this
project.

Page 62

4

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

4.1

Financial
The Combined Authority Treasurer has confirmed that the proposed funding
request can be accommodated as part of the overall Single Investment Fund
allocation.

4.2

Human Resources
The Investment Team and Legal Team will lead the negotiation of the Heads and
ensuing grant funding agreements and the Programme Management Office will
have responsibility for managing the delivery of the Combined Authority’s
investment.

4.3

Physical Assets
The approval of funding will not give rise to the creation of physical assets.

4.4

Information Technology
The approval of funding will not give rise to Information Technology issues.

5

RISKS AND MITIGATION
There are risks associated with any funding stream, in the event that funds are
misused or not fully committed, which can lead to a risk of funding being clawed
back, legal proceedings and/or reputational damage.
The grant funding agreements between the Combined Authority and both Liverpool
City Council and Sefton Metropolitan Borough Councils will ensure that any risks to
the project are managed so that funds are used in an appropriate and effective
manner, including in relation to State Aid.
Individual project risks are identified and considered as part of the independent
appraisal process. The Programme Management Office will be responsible for
ensuring that during delivery risks are understood and that the applicant takes
necessary steps to mitigate these.

6

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS
Equality and Diversity Implications are considered as part of the appraisal process
and relevant considerations are set out in the appendices.

Page 63

7

COMMUNICATION ISSUES
All projects approved will be subject to the Combined Authority’s branding
guidelines and publicity requirements placed upon them as part of the grant funding
agreements. In addition, through its adopted communication protocols, the
Combined Authority will publicise the award of funding to the projects and the
associated envisaged outcomes.

8

CONCLUSION
This report presents the Growing Business Visits and Events project for approval at
Full Business Case stage and to give approval to the Head of Paid Service and
Director of Commercial Development and Investment to proceed with the
negotiation of Heads and the ensuing grant funding agreements.

MARK BOUSFIELD
DIRECTOR OF COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT
COUNCILLOR P DAVIES
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: INCLUSIVE GROWTH, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, DIGITAL
AND INNOVATION
Contact Officer(s):
Mark Bousfield, Director of Commercial Development and Investment (0151 330 1101)
Appendices:
Appendix 1 – Independent Appraisal Report of Full Business Case
Appendix 2 – Indicative Heads of Terms Full Business Case (Exempt by virtue of
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972)
Background Documents: None

Page 64

LCR CA SIF Appraisal Report – Full Business Case
Appraisers Details
Appraisal Completed By:

Fiona Tuck

Company:

Steer Economic Development

Date:

06/12/2018

Appraisal Stage

Final Report

Version:

2

Project Details
Project Name

Growing Business Visits and Events across the
Liverpool City Region

Project number

0079

Applicant/Lead organisation

Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership

Project theme

Business Growth and Sector Development

Project Summary

The project responds to reduced levels of public
funding by establishing a long-term strategy for the
LCR’s conference sector and a commercial model to
sustain conference subvention. This will include a 3year transitionary fund to ensure subvention funds
are available to attract international and national
conferences to the region as well as enhancing
resources within the Liverpool and Southport
Convention Bureaus to develop the smaller
conference markets the City Region is currently
underperforming in. Coupled with new governance
and delivery structures, the project will be aligned
with the region’s priority growth sectors and support
opportunities for inward investment.

Documents submitted and status

Business Tourism SIF Revised Applicatin (sic)
15112018 FINAL
SIF – FBC Business Plan MASTER v1.8 Final Revised
Application 15112018
SIF Appendices MASTER - Final Revised Version
15112018
SIF Gannt (sic) Business Tourism Events 15112018

Total project cost

£1,091,112

1
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 65

Applicants SIF Funding Request and Profile
17/18

18/19

Capital
Revenue

19/20

20/21

21/22

Total

£203,583

£151,083

£218,167

£572,833

Assessment Summary
Core Selection Criteria

Score
0-4

Fit with SIF Prospectus/Growth Strategy/other relevant strategies (effectiveness)

3

GVA and Jobs

2

Additionality of the Project

2

Value for Money in relation to Efficiency – GVA BCR NPPV

See table

Value for Money in relation to Economy – Minimum costs to quality

2

Gain share/repayment of SIF

2

Total for core selection criteria
Hurdle Criteria – Satisfactory or Unsatisfactory

S or U

Need/demand for project

S

Rationale for public sector intervention

S

Options Assessment

S

Wider Benefits

S

Sustainable Development

S

Equality and Diversity

S

Preferred Option based on analysis of costs, benefits and risks

U

Stakeholder Support evidenced

S

Delivery Structure – suitable alternatives have been considered

S

Project Costs – robust estimates

S

Need for Investment Fund Support

S

Availability of match funding

S

Management and Delivery Arrangements – expertise/capacity/capability/systems

S

2
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 66

Capability to meet the financial requirements and liabilities

S

Risk register represents a realistic picture and appropriately apportioned

U

Intervention is deliverable regarding risks and dependencies

U

Compliance with necessary regulations state aid/procurement/planning/other

S

Communication strategy

S

Timescales are realistic

U

Benefit maximisation

S

Monitoring and Evaluation appropriate to scale and complexity

S

Appraisers overall judgement to be based on a composite of the above criteria
In addition, applicants will be required to supply suitable financial information and be subject to
a financial vet
Appraiser’s overall recommendations and comments

An appraisal of this case was first undertaken in 2017, with the applicant having been invited to move
from SOC direct to FBC stage. The previous appraisal identified five key concerns (repeated in italics
below). The recommendation at the time was that, unless the applicant was able to address these
core issues to the CA’s satisfaction, the case should not be progressed. While some significant issues
have been addressed, e.g. State Aid and the issue of repayment raised by the CA, other concerns have
not been addressed sufficiently, in particular evidence that the model will be sustainable once SIF
funding ceases.
With respect to other elements of the case. much of the content remains as per the previously
submitted case, as such many of the appraisal comments are also unchanged. The previous appraisal
noted some smaller residual concerns, a number of which persist and are addressed in the relevant
sections in this appraisal. Most notable is that the case still does not provides a convincing
quantitative demonstration of deadweight; the difference the funding will make by showing what the
Business Tourism outputs would look like with and without intervention. If the case is taken forward
the CA should request that this be provided as part of the project’s evaluation set-up and baseline
position.
Key concerns previously noted (italics) and current status:
1. The case proposes to increase the number of conferences. However, discussion with the
applicant suggests that objectives based around the scale of conferences, rather than
solely number of conferences would be more effective. Particularly as related to the levels

3
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 67

of subvention required. It is therefore recommended that the objectives are adjusted to
reflect this.
Current status: The objectives do now include figures for GVA and jobs created, which
are calculated from estimated delegate numbers per conference. However, it would be
clearer if the delegate numbers were included within the objectives and this should
deliver a closer link to the level of subvention required.
2. The additional data provided on previous levels of subvention is welcome, but has raised
further questions on the level of subvention required which need to be addressed. The
applicant has noted that further evidence is available, but this has not yet been provided.
Current status: Updated detail on the levels of subvention funding required has been
provided. However, it remains challenging to verify whether the total amount requested
is appropriate. It may still be the case that the level of subvention funding requested is
lower than the data provided in the business plan would suggest will be needed. This is
particularly the case for the regional/national conferences. It is understood from
previous discussion with the applicant that this is because a smaller number of
conferences at larger scale (in terms of days and delegates) would deliver the same
economic benefits, and therefore would call on less subvention funding. However, this
remains a risk which requires some clearer mitigation.
3. The extent to which the private sector can replace the level of funding required in the
future remains unaddressed, greater confidence around this is absolutely critical. This
means that concern remains as to whether the project allows sufficient time for the
development and implementation of a model and clear exit from the provision of funding
by the public sector.
Current status: This remains a key risk. See below.
4. Lack of clarity on the state-aid position, particularly given that the key objective of the
project is to support international trade.
Current status: This has been directly addressed and legal advisors have determined the
case to be state-aid compliant.
5. No proposed repayment of SIF funding.
Current status: The case now proposes some re-payment of SIF funding, though the
model approach for this requires some clarification.
The significant risk in the project is whether the commercial model can be established and leverage
sufficient private sector funding to enable the complete withdrawal of public funds in three years. It
remains unclear whether the project timescale allows sufficient time for the development and
implementation of the model, without a tapering of public and private funding. The private sector is
clearly supportive of the project, but not currently contributing matched funds to the level that will
4
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 68

be required when the model is operating. The cash flow for the project includes £465k of public
funding for subvention over three years, and £45k of private contributions. Some evidence that a
ten-fold increase in the level private sector investment can be achieved to replace public funding at
the end of the period remains essential to increase confidence in the model’s success.
Private sector partners will not currently be required to dedicate any funding for subvention prior to
the end of the project. This is a concern as the truest test that the model has been accepted is the
private sector committing funds at a level commensurate with the current public-sector input.
However, it is recognised that some further work to develop a robust commercial model is also
essential to provide private sector partners with confidence prior to providing binding commitments
to provide significant cash inputs.
To a degree, the case is somewhat stuck. The risk status of the case is ‘unsatisfactory’ in some places.
However, it is considered unlikely that they can be resolved to a ‘satisfactory’ status prior to the
model being developed and the commercial and legal infrastructures put in place, to give the private
sector confidence to invest at a greater level. As such, the CA must decide whether the risk is
something it wants to take on.
Consideration could be given to working with the applicant to mitigate risk by introducing some
conditionality in the funding agreement. For example, introducing a series of project milestones that
will enable the applicant to develop the commercial model and seek firm commitments from private
sector partners prior to April 2022.

Detailed Appraisal
Assessment scoring
Core selection criteria scoring
SCORE

DESCRIPTION

0

poor or unsatisfactory response giving rise to serious concerns about meeting the
criteria

1

weak response suggesting there are shortcomings of a less serious nature in meeting
the criteria

2

adequate response suggesting that the criteria is likely to be met, albeit only just

3

good response giving confidence that the criteria will be satisfactorily met in all
relevant respects

4

very good response giving a high level of confidence that the criteria will be fully met
and exceeded, offering added value and further improved outcomes

Hurdle criteria scoring

5
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 69

Assessment

DESCRIPTION

Unsatisfactory

response either gives rise to concerns about meeting
the criteria or there is insufficient evidence provided

Satisfactory

response giving confidence that the criteria will be met

6
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 70

Core selection criteria
•

Fit with SIF Prospectus/Growth Strategy/other relevant strategies (effectiveness)
o the proposed intervention contributes to the objectives set out in the Growth
Strategy/SIF Prospectus and, if relevant, other strategies (refer to Questions 1-5)
Assessment criteria: scored
0

1

2

3

4

Appraiser’s score
Appraiser’s comment

The case shows strong alignment to the Productivity and Place
objectives in the LCR Growth Strategy, is implementing actions
to address challenges raised in the LCR Visitor Economy
Strategy and notes links to the DCMS and Visit England
strategies. Since SOC stage, linkages to Arts Council England’s
Cultural Destinations programme have also been explored. No
further strategic information has been added since OBC stage,
The core objectives lay out a plan to establish a new
commercial model to fund conference subvention in the City
Region, increasing the number of conferences attracted to the
region by 32 by 2020 and thereby increasing the economic
impact of the Visitor Economy in LCR. The scheme proposes to
deliver £12.6m additional GVA and 233 indirect FTE jobs, by end
of March 2022.
Discussion with the applicant at OBC stage identified a difficulty
in using the number of conferences in the objectives, as the
outcomes and subvention requirements of the conferences vary
depending on the scale of each conference, particularly number
of delegates and length of stay. It was recommended that the
objectives be reworked to include these outputs. The
objectives now include a figure for GVA and jobs created, which
are calculated from estimated delegate numbers per
conference. However, it would be clearer if the delegate
numbers were included within the objectives.

•

GVA and jobs
o clear case that the investment will deliver relevant activities and outputs that lead to
GVA and jobs. Greater weight should be attached to direct rather than indirect jobs
(refer to Questions 15 and 16)
Assessment criteria: scored

7
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 71

0

1

2

3

4

Appraiser’s score
Appraiser’s comment

FBC and supporting documents predominantly unchanged from
previous case.
The outputs suggested are relevant for the type of case,
covering mainly indirect jobs through spending in the Visitor
Economy and visitors attracted. The case will also deliver new
jobs into the Convention Bureaux, delivering two new direct
jobs.
The additional capacity required has been assessed through
consideration of affordability, level of decline in work from
prior staffing levels and the professional judgement of current
team.
The calculation of indirect jobs and economic impact has been
undertaken following Visit Britain guidance and is logical. The
calculation of in-direct jobs uses the higher cost per job of £54k
to create a job (rather than £47k to support a job).
The case is made on the basis of additional economic impact to
2021/22 of £12.6m and 233 in-direct jobs. The detailed
workings provided in the spreadsheet suggest that additional
economic impact will total £62m and 1,149 by end of 2024/25,
as the model is established and continues to operate.
‘Adequate’ score as the scheme is focused on in-direct jobs.

o

additionality of the project – clear case that the intervention would not otherwise take
place, will have low levels of displacement, would be smaller, happen later or be of a
lower quality (refer to Questions 13, 15, 16 and 21)

Assessment criteria: scored
0

1

Appraiser’s score

8
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 72

2

3

4

0
Appraiser’s comment

1

2

3

4

It is noted that without the intervention, the private sector is
unlikely to respond in a way that takes account of the needs of
the wider economy. Rather, as private companies, they will be
driven to increase their market share of national/regional
conferences (which do not require subvention of the same
order) in order to make up for the shortfall in revenue, thereby
reducing the number of these won by smaller venues.
The previous review noted that the calculations provided show
the additional conferences, but not the baseline/reference
case. New text suggests outputs from the ACCL, suggesting 14
conferences over the project period and an economic impact of
£5,560,800 (which using the £54k per job from Visit Britain)
translates to 103 in-direct jobs. It is unclear whether this is
proposed as the entire baseline/reference case. I.e. that it is
considered that the do-nothing option would result in only the
ACCL hosting conferences/events over the next few years. This
seems unlikely. Surely some level of significantly reduced
activity would continue in other venues. As such, the FBC still
does not convincingly demonstrate deadweight - the difference
the funding will make by showing what the Business Tourism
outputs would look like without intervention and the additional
to be gained with intervention – and therefore the score
remains a 1.
All points of additionality are described in text, rather than
calculated. Demonstrating the level of displacement between
the options would be helpful and provide support for the
preferred option. I.e. It is assumed that displacement would be
high in the ‘do-nothing’ option, as the ACCL takes business
(displaces it) from other venues, and low in the preferred
option as the model would support balancing the market (and
ensure the ACCL does not displace activity from smaller
venues).

•

Value for money in relation to:
o Efficiency – the rate at which the intervention converts inputs to GVA – expressed as a
benefit cost ratio and Net Present Public Value (refer to Questions 13, 14, 15, 16 and 21
and additional information such as the results of webTAG and DCLG appraisals). The
appraiser should test the sensitivity of the results to changes to key variables.

9
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 73

Assessment criteria: ratio of net additional GVA to net public sector cost. GVA will be
estimated by the appraiser based on the data provided by the applicant. Net public sector
cost per gross and net additional job.

Appraiser’s assessment

Appraiser’s assessment

Net Present
Public Value

Benefit Cost
Ratio

£10.7m

12.4:1

Gross job

Net public
sector cost per
gross job

233

£45,924

Net job

Net public
sector cost per
net job

Appraiser’s assessment

10
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 74

Below
benchmarks

Above
benchmarks

Below
benchmarks

Above
benchmarks

Below
benchmarks

Above
benchmarks

Appraiser’s comment
(including on national
level assessments and
the results of sensitivity
analyses)

Data remain unchanged from the OBC, the only change is the time period
(start two years later).
Impacts are calculated to 2022, as per the objectives. The benchmarks
used are those for ‘sector/cluster support’, taken from Table 8 of the
guidance document for the Business Growth and Sector Development
interventions (as per project theme).
The case is above the BCR benchmark (£9.6), but considerably above the
cost per job benchmark (£7,100). It is also considerably above the cost
per gross job figures for Image, events and tourism in the Regeneration,
Development and Culture project theme (£23,500).
As such, in terms of the economic output the case offers an above
benchmark return. However, the cost of jobs is very high. It should be
recognised that these are in-direct jobs and that the high value is
primarily a result of the Visit Britain guidance on cost per in-direct job
being £54,000.
NPV BCR

NB. The case only provides data on gross jobs.

The economic outputs (GVA and jobs) are both predicated on modelled
figures, and are therefore highly sensitive to changes in any of the core
outputs (e.g. number of conferences, number of delegates, spend and so
on.). For example, 10% fewer delegates at each conference would
reduce additional GVA to £11.3m and jobs to 210.
o

Economy – the extent to which the intervention will ensure inputs are at a minimum
costs commensurate with the required quality (refer to Question 22)

Assessment criteria: scored

11
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 75

0

1

2

3

4

Appraiser’s score
Appraiser’s comment

Commission of the commercial model
The external expertise to deliver the model will be procured
through the Combined Authority procurement framework,
which will ensure assessment based on quality and price. In
advance of this, feedback on the proposed project budget was
requested from a consultant, who noted that they feel the
budget allocation is sufficient for the work required.
Staff time
For the additional resources in the convention bureaux, pay
grading from the Local Authorities will be used.
Subvention
The previous review of this case highlighted challenges in
verifying the appropriateness of the level of subvention funding
requested. As subvention requirement is more closely
associated with the scale of a conference, rather than simply
the instance of a conference, it was recommended that the
case should be changed to reflect that. This hasn’t happened
and as such, it remains challenging to verify the
appropriateness of the subvention funding request.
This being the case, the following is an assessment of
subvention requirement based on the information is it possible
to take from the business plan.
Average subvention per conference:
•
•
•

International conferences - £101k
500-2000 delegate regional/national conferences £9.6k
Under 500 delegate regional/national conferences - £6k

It is unclear how these categories link back to the objectives to
attempt to verify the subvention requirements as the labels are
not consistent:
•

‘retain a minimum of 5/6 large-scale
national/international conferences per annum to the
LCR/ACCL by 31st March 2022. From 13 confirmed
national/international conferences in 2018 to 17’
• 4 conferences

12
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 76

0

1

2

3

4

• Average of 2000 delegates used per conference
in the outputs for 4 ACCL conferences between
2019/22 – 21/22
• Assumed average subvention (based on being
ACCL conferences) = £101k
• Potential subvention requirement = £404k
•

‘increase the number of confirmed International
Congress and Convention Association (ICCA) ranked
events for the LCR to 24 by 31st March 2022 - from 18
• 6 conferences
• Average of 200 delegates assumed per
conference in the outputs for 6 LCB conferences
between 2019/22 – 21/22
• Assumed average subvention (based on delegate
numbers) = £6k
• Potential subvention requirement = £36k

•

increase the number of additional corporate and public
sector conferences attracted to the LCR/STCC by 22 by
31st March 2022 – from 11
• 22 conferences
• Average of 440 delegates assumed per
conference in the outputs for 22 SCB conferences
between 2019/22 – 21/22
• Assumed average subvention (based on delegate
numbers) = £6k
• Potential subvention requirement = £132k

Total potential subvention requirement = £572k (£404k
international, £168k regional/national)
The business plan states a gap in subvention of £261,500. This
is £200k for international conferences and £61,500 for
regional/national.
The total subvention requirement for the project is £510k
(£400k international and £110k regional/national), of which
£267,750 is to be funded via the SIF.
There is therefore the potential for the project to have
underbudgeted the subvention requirement for
regional/national conferences. However, it is understood from
previous discussion with the applicant that this is because a
smaller number of conferences at larger scale (in terms of days
13
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 77

0

1

2

3

4

and delegates) would deliver the economic benefits, and
therefore a smaller amount of subvention would be required.

Gain share/repayment of SIF
o

clear case (where applicable) that the investment is expected to result in the repayment
of SIF funding (refer to Questions 40-42)

Assessment criteria: scored
0

1

2

3

4

Appraiser’s score
Appraiser’s comment

It is proposed that there will be a repayment of SIF investment,
in the event of an ACCL subvented conference generating a net
profit. Any repayment will be held by the CA in a ringfenced
fund for subvention during and post the funding period.
It is unclear how much would be repaid (all or a proportion) and
over what period of time this mechanism would operate. The
model for this would be developed alongside the commercial
model.
It is also unclear why this only applies to the ACCL, and if so,
why this is the case.
That a ringfenced subvention repayment pot will be available
post the funding period should be accounted for in a future
cashflow. This means that, in theory, there may be some public
funding available post the funding period for this scheme.
The impact of this as a potential risk for limiting private sector
engagement in the model should be considered in the risk
assessment.

Hurdle criteria
•

Need/demand for project
o that there is clear evidence of need or demand for the project (refer to Question 6)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
14
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 78

Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory
Appraiser’s comment

Satisfactory

The project responds to the planned reductions in subvention
support from Local Authorities. It seeks to expand the capacity
and capability of the Convention Bureaux teams to search and
bid for conferences, thereby increasing the number secured.
The project also seeks to establish a new culture around
conference subvention, developing a model of private sector
funding for subvention and moving away from a reliance on
public sector funding. It is noted that a key risk in not acting to
create a new model for subvention, is that the ACCL will
displace business from other conference venues (as it takes on
smaller events, which do not require such significant
subvention) and threaten their survival, which would damage
the prospects of the conference market as a strategically
important element of the Visitor Economy.
There are a number of letters of support for the project and
strong stakeholder buy-in, which reflects demand for the
project. The case notes that similar commercial models have
been developed and are operating in other cities, but limited
evidence of these models is available due to the competitive
nature of the activity.

•

Rationale for public sector intervention
o there is a clear rationale for why the project requires public sector support, based on a
credible market failure (refer to Questions 7 and 8)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment

15
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 79

Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory
Appraiser’s comment

Satisfactory

Though not described in these terms, the market failures at play
appear to be information and co-ordination failures.
The primary problem the project seeks to address is the current
reliance on public sector funding for large international
conference subvention. The aim is for the funding to bridge a
gap between the withdrawal of LA funding and the
establishment of a private sector model to fund subvention. If
this gap wasn’t filled, the case notes that the business (and
naturally associated value) would be lost, with knock on
reputational damage for the venues and area and job losses.
The case notes that the private sector is unlikely to act
independently to create a collective approach to subvention.
Rather, there is likely to be some displacement as larger venues
seek to book smaller conferences to make up for an immediate
shortfall in revenue from not securing international
conferences, thereby taking business away from smaller
venues.
Introducing the model provides the opportunity to improve
understanding of the role and cost of subvention, at the same
time as establishing common rules/standards and a mediation
process to build trust and understanding between the parties
involved.

•

Options assessment
o an appropriate range of alternative options has been considered, including a do nothing
/ do minimum option (refer to Question 13)

16
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 80

Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

The case explores:
•
•

•
•

do nothing option (option 1)
Option 2, which reduces the resource in convention
bureaux, doesn’t develop a commercial model, relies on
voluntary private sector subvention and reduces the SIF
ask by 50%.
Option 3, the proposed option
Option 4, seek separate transitionary funding linked to
match that Liverpool and Southport are able to
contribute, merge LCB into ACCL and exclude Southport
from this, develop a commercial model for Liverpool
only.

Though as mentioned above, the case would be strengthened if
the additionality of each option was fully explored and
quantified.
•

Wider benefits
o that there is clear case that the project will deliver relevant activities and outputs that
lead to wider benefits. (refer to Questions 17 and 18)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment

17
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 81

Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory
Appraiser’s comment

Satisfactory

At Q16 the case notes that the proposed option will:
•

•
•
•

•

bring additional spend resulting from delegate down
time (visiting attractions, cultural venues and
restaurants etc.);
bring expenditure from partners/spouse that often
accompany conference delegates;
support securing repeat leisure visits;
support the extension of Club Liverpool (ambassador
programme) in terms of growing the amount of
conferences and meetings linked key sectors;
increase demand for hotel accommodation mid-week.

The case would be strengthened considerably if some of these
could be valued.
Q17 further notes that there will be benefits for the supply
chain, encouraging innovation/new ideas and developing
export markets, positive impacts from enhanced collaboration
and enhanced productivity and sector development. However,
limited supporting evidence is provided to substantiate these
impacts.
•

sustainable development
o that there is clear case that the project will contribute to the principles of sustainable
development. (refer to Question 19)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

The project sets out the core tenets it will adhere to in
considering sustainability in service delivery, covering
employees and communities served, environmental
sustainability, market accountability and responsible
purchasing.
The lead organisations have supporting policies in place.

•

Equality and diversity
o that there is clear case that the project will contribute to equality and diversity. (refer to
Question 20)
18

FBC Appraisal Report

Page 82

Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

•

In delivering the project, all partners will adhere to the main
provisions of the Equality Act 2010, which provides the basic
framework of protection from discrimination across the
protected characteristics. Equality Impact Assessments can be
used to guide and ensure compliance.

Preferred option
o based on the analysis of economic costs, benefits and risks, the proposed project
represents the preferred option (refer to Question 13-24)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment

19
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 83

Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory
Appraiser’s comment

Satisfactory

It is clear that the project proposed results from consideration
of alternative options and suggests the best way to work with
the private sector to deliver a sustainable change in culture
around subvention.
However, there is some residual concern that the change
sought in the culture is too large to be achieved in such a short
time frame. Further information is required on how the case
will work to ensure longevity. None of the options consider
tapering public funding with increasing private sector
investment in subvention. Rather it is the intention that by 1st
April 2022, private sector contributions will entirely replace
public sector funding (with the exception of some potential
funding from any ringfenced repayments). Given that the cash
flow for the project includes £465k of public funding for
subvention over three years, and £45k of private contributions,
some evidence that a ten-fold increase in the level private
sector investment can be achieved to replace public funding at
the end of the period remains essential to increase confidence
in the case. The key risk being that in four years, the model
hasn’t embedded, the sector is still reliant on public funding
and a further funding is required.
However, it is recognised that some further work to develop a
robust commercial model is essential to provide private sector
partners with confidence prior to committing significant cash
inputs. The CA should consider whether it can work with the
applicant to create a series of project milestones that will
enable the applicant to develop the commercial model and seek
firm commitments from private sector partners prior to April
2022.

•

Stakeholder support
o that there is clear evidence that the project has stakeholder support (refer to Questions
9 and 10)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment

20
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 84

Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory
Appraiser’s comment

Satisfactory

The main stakeholders are:
•
•
•
•

The Arena and Convention Centre Liverpool;
Liverpool Convention Bureau/Marketing Liverpool;
LCR Local Enterprise Partnership;
Tourism Department of Sefton Council/Southport
Convention Bureau.

A broad range of additional private sector stakeholders have
been engaged and a number of letters of support have been
provided. In addition to representation via the convention
bureaux, private sector representation in the delivery group will
be from:
•
•
•
•
•

•

Hotelier associations
Universities
Liverpool ONE
Liverpool Football Club
The Business Improvement District

Delivery structure
o suitable alternative delivery options have been considered and the option selected is
the most appropriate (refer to Questions 25 and 26)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment

21
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 85

Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory
Appraiser’s comment

Satisfactory

A project delivery group will be formed, including
representation from across the stakeholder group. It will link
into existing accountability structures by reporting to the Visitor
Economy Board, which in turn reports to the LEP Board.
Responsibility for three different strands will be held
separately:
•

•

•

Project delivery group – approval of subvention
allocations, commissioning of commercial model and
ensuring project outputs.
ACCL & bureaux - conference research, sales and bid
development, applying to delivery group for
subvention.
LEP – claims for SIF expenditure.

This is preferred to a single agency taking the lead, which would
be hampered by resource constraints. It is also preferred to
giving the ACCL and bureaux responsibility for approval of
subvention funds. The justification of this is the concern that
allocations will not be used where it can create most impact.
This is a reasonably complicated delivery structure. The way in
which decisions will be made by the delivery group have been
laid out and it is noted will be subject to further review through
the development of the business tourism strategy and the
implementation of the commercial model.

•

Project costs
o the application demonstrates that the project costs are based on robust estimates (refer
to Questions 34-37)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment

22
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 86

Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory
Appraiser’s comment

Satisfactory

The same comments on the cost estimates for the level of
subvention described above in ‘economy’ apply here. There is
residual concern over the sufficiency of the subvention funding
requested.
Detailed breakdown of the tasks and time allocations for
programme management have been provided. It is assumed
that this is costed on a standard rate card for the LEP.
The proposed value of the commercial model has been
reviewed and verified by an external consultant.
The distribution of costs matches the activity plan.

•

Need for Investment Fund support
o that there is clear evidence that the project requires support from the SIF for example
due to a funding gap (refer to Questions 34, 35, 38 and 39)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

The project is seeking one-off support from the SIF to provide
transition funding for subvention following the withdrawal of
LA funding. It is noted that there are no other national or
international funds that could be applied to for this type of
revenue funding.
Whilst income and cost plans have been provided for the time
period of the project have been provided, a single long-term
cash flow, going beyond the end of the project, showing the
inflow and withdrawal of different public funds and the
introduction of private sector funding to cover costs would be
helpful.

•

Availability of match funding
o appropriate arrangements (if applicable) are in place to secure the required level of match
funding (refer to Questions 38 and 43)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence

23
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 87

Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

•

Letters of support detailing match for the project have been
provided. It would be helpful to provide some aggregation of
this in the case and be explicit about where this is represented
in the income plan. It is unclear if this is the private sector
funding noted in the income plan.

Management and delivery arrangements
o appropriate expertise, capacity, capability and systems to deliver the intervention
successfully (refer to Questions 27, 28, 46, 47 and 48)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

The infrastructure available is appropriate. However, as noted
above, the delivery and management structure is reasonably
complicated and therefore is rightly noted as a risk that
requires management.
The commercial model is to be procured in Y1 through open
tender. There is consideration of time required to test and
embed the model, given the substantial cultural change the
project is seeking to drive. However, it remains unclear
whether the time period, in total, will be sufficient.

o

capability to meet the financial requirements and liabilities that flow from receipt of SIF
support (refer to Questions 44 and 45)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment

24
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 88

Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory
Appraiser’s comment

Satisfactory

The financial requirements and liabilities of the project will be
met by each of the Local Authority Partners who are well versed
and experienced in delivering grant funded programmes with
payment in arrears. They will also sign a legally binding
agreement committing them to these responsibilities.
It is anticipated that the CA will contract with the consortium
partners for their respective elements of the project.

o

the risk register presents a realistic picture of the business and delivery risks to the
project, risks are apportioned appropriately between the public and private sector and
appropriate risk management arrangements are identified (refer to Questions 23, 33
and 52)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment

25
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 89

Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory
Appraiser’s comment

Satisfactory

Key risks are identified as follows and have been scored and
allocated to owners:
•

•

•

•
•
•

Risk A – The commercial model is not delivered in the
funding period compromising subvention funds from
2021/2022.
Risk B – Liverpool Convention Bureau commercial
targets are not met compromising the ability to secure
private sector support post March 2022.
Risk C – The required level of international conferences
are not secured during the funding period resulting in
reduced profile and economic impact.
Risk D – Conference activity is unable to evidence ROI
(direct & indirect) to justify subvention support.
Risk E – Programme management compromises
delivery against project
Risk F – The commercial model is not adopted by the
private sector

The risks are apportioned appropriately across private and
public sector.
Risks A, D and F score most highly across all options. Risks A
and F remain the highest risks in the preferred option.
Appropriate mitigating actions are in place. However, it would
be sensible to build in to the monitoring process specific checks
on progress against these risks. The CA might also consider
introducing conditionality in the funding agreement aligned to
these progress checks.
An additional mitigation for both Risk A and F would be for the
model testing (prior to end of the project) to include some
commitment of funds from the private sector. This would
increase their stake in the project’s success – the truest test of
the operation of the model will be the private sector
committing money to it. Delivering the project over a longer
period would also mitigate this, but it is accepted that this
project is limited by the funding window.
o

the intervention is deliverable having regard to risks and dependencies and that there is
clear evidence these can be addressed and/or managed (refer to Questions 11, 12 and
52)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
26

FBC Appraisal Report

Page 90

Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment

Appraiser’s comment

Please see comments above - the approaches to addressing and
managing the stated risks are, on the whole, appropriate.
However, it remains unclear whether the project timescale
allows sufficient time for the development and implementation
of the model, without a tapering of public and private funding.
The private sector is supportive of the project, but not currently
contributing matched cash in the order that will be required. In
reality, this will remain a significant risk until the work to
prepare the model has been undertaken and private sector
partners are asked to sign-up to binding agreements to
contribute.

•

Compliance with necessary regulations and requirements, including
o
o
o
o

State aid
Procurement
Planning (what is the status and timescale implications)
other consents
(refer to Question 29-32)
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

The state-aid position has been clarified by legal advisors and
the project has been determined to satisfy the Market Economy
Investor Principle (MEIP) and therefore be state-aid compliant.
The procurement of the model will follow Liverpool LEP’s
funding policy for public procurement at the anticipated sub
OJEU level.

•

Communication strategy
o that there is a clear and appropriate communication strategy for the project (refer to
Questions 49)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence

27
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 91

Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

Communications will be managed by the LCR LEP, via the
development of a communication and engagement plan and
utilising Visitor Economy Board structure to communication
more widely about the project.
The business plan notes that six delivery group meetings are to
be held in the first year, with the flexibility for more frequent
exceptional meetings if needed to support decision making.

•

Timescales
o the overall timescale for delivery of the project is realistic (refer to Questions 48, 49 50
and 51)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

•

The timetable for project activity over 3 years looks reasonable.
Advisors have suggested that the model can be developed
within this window. It is assumed that a more detailed plan for
model implementation will be an outcome of this consultancy
work. The concern remains as to whether the full conversion to
private sector funding can be achieved in the project window.

Benefit maximisation
o that there are clear and appropriate benefit maximisation arrangements proposed (refer
to Question 53)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

•

A dedicated Benefits Realisation Plan will be developed by the
delivery group to determine and secure the delivery of project
objectives.

Monitoring and evaluation

28
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 92

o

the proposed monitoring and evaluation arrangements are appropriate to the scale and
complexity of the project (refer to Questions 54-56)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

Arrangements for programme monitoring and evaluation have
been described and include:
•
•
•
•
•

Monitoring outcomes against objectives
Bi-monthly meetings
Quarterly and annual reporting
Shared data systems for monitoring bidding, booking
and delegate numbers
Access to LEP visitor value data

Evaluation will be undertaken by the LEP, drawing on the
performance data available from partners. Economic impact
reports for awards through the subvention model will be
required. It is not clear what format this will take or what
method will be used?
A full project evaluation will be provided by the LEP at the end
of each year and final evaluation report at the end of
programme. It is noted that a theory of change model will be
adopted to monitor the transition from public to private funded
subvention.
It is also noted that the consultants developing the model will
be retained during the funding period to support review of and
adjustments to the model, and evaluation of it. Consideration
should be given as to whether a separate organisation should
be used to evaluate the success of the model, rather than the
consultancy which designed it.

29
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 93

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY

To:

The Metro Mayor and Members of the Combined
Authority

Meeting:

11 January 2019

Authority/Authorities Affected:

Knowsley MBC

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No
Key Decision
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT
AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER: INCLUSIVE GROWTH, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT,
DIGITAL AND INNOVATION
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION SINGLE INVESTMENT FUND – ACCESS TO HALSNEAD
GARDEN VILLAGE

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1.

The purpose of this report is to seek a Combined Authority decision on a Full
Business Case submitted for funding from the Single Investment Fund and to
delegate authority to the Head of Paid Service regarding negotiations of the grant
funding agreement. The Combined Authority has considered the project under its
2016 call for projects, appraisal process and assurance framework.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1.

It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority approve:
(a) the Full Business Case in relation to the Access to Halsnead Garden Village
project and award Single Investment Fund support in the sum of a maximum
capital grant of £12,142,325 subject to the conditions contained in Appendix 1;
(b) delegate authority to the Head of Paid Service and the Director of Commercial
Development & Investment to negotiate detailed terms of the ensuing grant
funding agreement in consultation with the Combined Authority Monitoring
Officer and Combined Authority Treasurer

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1.

A Full Business Case application has been received from Knowsley MBC for the
Halsnead Garden Village project and a detailed appraisal has been undertaken in
line with the Single Investment Fund (SIF) Assurance Framework. The project is
now eligible for consideration by the Combined Authority.

Page 97

3.2.

The appraisal adheres to the agreed SIF appraisal criteria which is compliant with
the HMT Green Book Guidance and WebTAG principles. The appraisal has
considered all aspects of the business case including:






Strategic Case
Economic Case
Finance Case
Commercial Case
Management Case

3.3.

The independent appraisal report is available at Appendix 2.

3.4.

It should be noted that this represents a Key Decision due to the scale of
investment requested. A Key Decision Notice has been prepared and published for
the project.

4.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

4.1.

Financial

4.1.1 The Combined Authority Treasurer has confirmed that the proposed funding request
can be accommodated as part of the overall SIF allocation.
4.2.

Human Resources

4.2.1 The Investment Team and Legal Team will lead the negotiation of the Grant
Funding Agreement and the Programme Management Office will have responsibility
for managing the delivery of the Combined Authority’s investment.
4.3.

Physical Assets
The physical assets to be created by the project are fully detailed in the appraisal
report.

4.4.

Information Technology
The approval of funding will not give rise to Information Technology issues.

5.

RISKS AND MITIGATION

5.1.

The Funding Agreement between the Combined Authority and the applicant will
seek to ensure to the extent achievable that risk to the Combined Authority is
managed, including in relation to State Aid.

5.2.

Individual project risks are identified and considered as part of the independent
appraisal process. The Programme Management Office will be responsible for
ensuring that during delivery risks are understood and that the applicant takes
necessary steps to mitigate these.

Page 98

6.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

6.1.

Equality and Diversity implications are considered as part of the appraisal process
and relevant considerations are set out in the appendices

7.

COMMUNICATION ISSUES

7.1.

All projects approved will be subject to the Combined Authority’s branding
guidelines and publicity requirements placed upon them as part of the Grant
Funding Agreement. In addition the Combined Authority will, through its adopted
communication protocols, publicise the award of funding to the projects and the
associated envisaged outcomes.

8.

CONCLUSION

8.1.

This report presents the Access to Halsnead Garden Village project for Combined
Authority approval at Full Business Case stage and to give approval as outlined to
the Head of Paid Service to proceed with the negotiation of the Grant Funding
Agreement.

MARK BOUSFIELD
Director of Commercial Development and Investment
COUNCILLOR P DAVIES
Portfolio Holder: Inclusive Growth, Economic Development, Digital and Innovation

Contact Officer(s):
Mark Bousfield, Director of Commercial Development and Investment

Appendices:
Appendix 1 – Access to Halsnead Garden Village Project Summary
Appendix 2 – Access to Halsnead Garden Village Appraisal Report
Appendix 3 - Full Business Case Application

Background Documents:
Nil

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1
Access to Halsnead Garden Village – Project Summary

1.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

1.1

Halsnead Garden Village (Halsnead), located near Whiston in Knowsley, is one of 14
sites in England which have been awarded Garden Village status by the Government.
Halsnead is a significant housing and employment site for the City Region with the
potential to deliver approximately 1,600 homes and 22.5 hectares of employment land.

1.2

SIF investment is sought to deliver essential off-site transport infrastructure to help
unlock these tangible economic benefits. The scheme focuses on building adequate
capacity and resilience within the surrounding highway network and improving access
to the Halsnead site. Specifically the improvements involve:








Fox’s Bank Lane/Cronton Road – signalisation works and road widening;
Lickers Lane/Fox’s Bank Lane – signalisation works, footway improvements and
vegetation removal;
Stoney Lane/Cumber Lane – signalisation works;
Stoney Lane/Dragon Lane – carriageway widening and creation of a new right turn;
Windy Arbor Road/Greene’s Road – reconfiguration of existing signalised junction;
Lickers Lane/Windy Arbor Road – carriageway widening and signalisation;
Tarbock Island – carriageway and bridge widening on Windy Arbor Road, quadrant
widening to the gyratory and additional lane provision on the M57 approach and
signalisation of existing arms.

1.3

The total project cost of this first phase of infrastructure work is estimated to be
£12.142m. The applicant, Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council (KMBC), is
requesting a SIF grant for the full amount. The works are expected to take c. two years
to complete.

1.4

An independent appraisal of the project has been commissioned by the Combined
Authority and the findings are summarised in section 3 below.

2.

CHANGES SINCE OUTLINE BUSINESS CASE

2.1

In September 2017, following appraisal of the Outline Business Case (OBC) for the
project, the Combined Authority invited KMBC to progress to Full Business Case. The
OBC requested c£18m SIF grant to support both the provision of off-site and on-site
junction works linked to Halsnead. Combined Authority members are asked to note,
that the appraisal of the Full Business Case now considers the off-site works only
totalling (£12.142m).

2.2

The reduction in scope of works and associated costs reflects the development of the
wider delivery structures for the scheme by KMBC since OBC, together with state aid
considerations relating to previously promoted on-site junction works.

Page 101

2.3

The benefits associated with the project remain unchanged.

3

ACCESS TO HALSNEAD GARDEN VILLAGE – APPRAISAL

3.1

SIF investment will be used to deliver a comprehensive package of infrastructure
works to build capacity and resilience in the existing highway network and create a
platform for future private sector development. Specialist transport and infrastructure
consultants Steer Davies Gleave have undertaken the WebTAG appraisal on behalf of
the Combined Authority.

3.2

Core Criteria: Fit with SIF Prospectus, Growth Strategy and other relevant strategies
i. The appraisal concludes that the project demonstrates a very good strategic fit with
the LCR Growth Strategy and the priorities in the SIF Prospectus.
ii. The appraiser notes that the project demonstrates alignment with the Growth
Strategy’s three pillars; productivity, people and place. Specifically future employment
opportunities facilitated by public sector intervention towards upfront infrastructure
work will enable productivity gains and provide job prospects for areas of regeneration
need. The development of a Garden Village will make a very positive contribution to
the place agenda by supporting the Combined Authority’s objective of extending the
supply and mix of housing stock in the City Region. In addition, there is clear
alignment to the priority of ‘improving physical connectivity’ and delivering the housing
and regeneration theme within the SIF prospectus.

3.3

Core Criteria GVA and Jobs: a clear case that the project will deliver relevant activities
and outputs that will lead to GVA and Jobs
i. The rationale for public sector intervention is to invest in a package of infrastructure
works to create a viable and deliverable platform for future commercial development.
GVA and job creation impacts are predicated on the private sector activity coming
forward and the SIF activity is seen as a key facilitator of these future economic
benefits.
ii. The expectation is that 22.5 hectares of employment land will be brought forward
within the boundaries of Halsnead. Indicatively the employment land could
accommodate c. 175,000m2 of commercial floorspace which would directly support
1,022 gross (454 net) jobs by 2027. Once the employment land is developed out the
potential GVA impact will be c. £20m per annum.

3.4

Core Criteria Additionality: a clear case that the intervention would not otherwise take
place or would take place at a reduced level, happen later or be of lower quality

i.

Whilst the location of Halsnead has strong strategic connectivity, funding for transport
infrastructure works is required to unlock future on-site housing and commercial
development. There is a requirement to meet upfront off-site improvements to enable
suitable access and incentivise development. There is a very strong argument that
without public sector pump-priming, the ambitions for Halsnead are unlikely to be
realised.

Page 102

ii.

The appraiser shares the opinion that development will not proceed without road
network enhancements as there is currently insufficient value to be generated for the
private sector to meet the cost. The appraiser notes that employment and GVA
impacts are highly unlikely to materialise without public sector support which presents
a strong additionality argument.

3.5

Core Criteria Value for Money: ratio of net additional GVA to net public sector cost
(SIF funding only)

i.

The proposed scheme, as judged by the appraiser, will deliver the economic benefits
displayed in the table below. Note that indirect impacts relate to the delivery of wider
commercial development.
LCR Level
FTE Jobs (including indirect
employment effects)
GVA (£million)

Gross Impact
Indirect – 1,022

Public sector cost per job (SIF cost
only)
BCR (WebTAG)

Indirect – £11,880

Net Impact
Indirect – 454

Indirect – £20m per annum
Indirect – £26,728

1.92 (Medium)

Hurdle Criteria
3.6

The LCR appraisal assurance framework includes several hurdle criteria. These
criteria are applied and assessed to establish if the applicant has the necessary
management and financial capability to deliver the project. This includes
demonstrating that the project has met all statutory requirements and is capable of
defraying SIF expenditure in the timescale set out.

3.7

There is a strong need for the project in that Halsnead will supplement the City
Region’s housing offer and bring forward additional employment land. Market studies
suggest that the site is well positioned to generate strong demand. An appropriate
options analysis has been undertaken and appropriate project management and
delivery structures are in place.

3.8

A state aid review has been undertaken confirming that the SIF investment is
contributing to general public infrastructure. The scheme also appears to be
deliverable; project design is well advanced (RIBA Stage 4) and the project activities
do not require planning permission.

3.9

Overall the appraiser’s view is that the project demonstrates a very good strategic
case with good alignment against City Region priorities. The economic benefits from
the intervention offer a satisfactory value for money position. Appropriate financial
processes and procurement arrangements have been presented. Consequently, the
project is recommended for approval subject to the following conditions:
i.

The total SIF investment is contingent on the conclusion of discussions between
the applicant and Highways England. Any funding secured for the M62 junction
works will be reduced from the SIF investment;

Page 103

ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.

A revised development programme is provided with the timescales reflected in the
Funding Agreement;
All necessary statutory approvals/agreements are signed;
The applicant will be responsible for any cost increases to the budget or overruns
during delivery. Cost savings should accrue 100% to SIF;
No project expenditure incurred pre-CA approval will be eligible for SIF funding;
An approach to monitoring and evaluation to be agreed with the Combined
Authority.
Investment Panel Advice

3.10

The LCR Investment Panel (the Panel) met on 13 December 2018 and considered the
project and the appraisal of the FBC. The Panel recognised the strategic value of the
proposal and the benefits it will bring to the City Region. The Panel noted comments
regarding the options analysis and was content that the rationale for the preferred
option was acceptable. The Panel acknowledged that the Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) of
1.92 is below the Combined Authority’s target BCR of 2; however, having considered
the strategic value of the scheme and the potential for outputs to improve over time,
the Panel were willing to proceed. In addition, it was noted possible cost savings at
tender stage could see the BCR increase. The Panel endorsed the recommendations
of the independent appraisal report, but suggested the CA should explore
opportunities for overage provisions with KMBC.

4

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

4.1

Financial Implications

4.1.1 Approval of the access work at Halsnead will commit a maximum of £12.142m SIF
grant funding which is currently forecast to be claimed per the profile below:
FY 2018/19
£0.607m

FY 2019/20
£3.086m

FY 20/21
£8.449m

Total
£12.142m

4.1.2 The LCR CA will monitor the delivery of the project within the funding envelope agreed
through established provisions in the Funding Agreement.

5 RISK AND MITIGATION
5.1

The applicant has submitted a risk assessment which sets out a realistic range of risks
to the project.

5.2

The independent appraisal has identified a number of risk areas to be carefully
monitored and has provided appropriate conditions to help the CA manage these risks
(see section 3.9). They relate to delivery programme, cost management and wider
consents.

Page 104

5.3

The SIF funding is sought to unlock the wider realisation of Halsnead. As such, the
impacts and benefits are contingent on the delivery of the wider Garden Village (1,600
homes and 172,000m2 of commercial floorspace). The wider Halsnead Garden
Village initiative is a large scale and complex development project; ultimately led by
third party development, largely outside the direct control of KMBC. Careful ongoing
monitoring and evaluation of the delivery programme for Halsnead will need agreeing
with KMBC as part of the monitoring and evaluation process.

MARK BOUSFIELD
DIRECTOR OF COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT
LCR Combined Authority

Page 105

This page is intentionally left blank

LCR CA SIF Appraisal Report – Full Business Case
Appraisers Details
Appraisal Completed By:

NAME: NEIL CHADWICK
Signature:

Company:

Steer

Date:
Appraisal Stage

Final Report

Version:

FINAL

1
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 107

Project Details
Project Name

Access to Halsnead Garden Village

Project number

SIF0066

Applicant/Lead organisation

Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council (KMBC)

Project theme

Housing

Project Summary

Improvements to M62 junction 6 Tarbock Island and
six other junctions to overcome transport
constraints on the development of the Halsnead
Garden Village (HGV). The HGV site has capacity for
1,600 homes and 22.5 ha. of employment land.

Documents submitted and status

Full Business Case, 25 May 2018
Full Major Scheme Business Case Supplementary
Report, May 2018
Economic Appraisal Report, May 2018
Land Use and Economic Development Report, May
2018
Environmental Constraints report, May 2018
Stakeholder Management and Communications
Plan, May 2018
Quantified Risk Assessment, May 2018
Monitoring and Evaluation Plan, May 2018
Delivery Report, May 2018
Cost Plan, May 2018
Letters of Support for Access to Halsnead Garden
Village, May 2018
Halsnead Garden Village SIF FBC Supporting
Narrative/Summary
Land Value Uplift – technical note, November 2018

Total project cost

£12,142,325 (inc. 3% Optimum Bias (OB))

Applicants SIF Funding Request and Profile
17/18
Capital (inc. 3%
OB)
Revenue

0
-

18/19
£607,116

19/20
£3,086,428

-

-

2
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 108

20/21
£8,448,780
-

Total
£12,142,325
-

Assessment Summary
Core Selection Criteria

Score
0-4

Fit with SIF Prospectus/Growth Strategy/other relevant strategies (effectiveness)

4

GVA and Jobs

2

Additionality of the Project

4

Value for Money in relation to Efficiency – GVA BCR NPPV
Value for Money in relation to Economy – Minimum costs to quality

2

Gain share/repayment of SIF

0

Total for core selection criteria
Hurdle Criteria – Satisfactory or Unsatisfactory

S or U

Need/demand for project

S

Rationale for public sector intervention

S

Options Assessment

S

Wider Benefits

S

Sustainable Development

S

Equality and Diversity

S

Preferred Option based on analysis of costs, benefits and risks

U

Stakeholder Support evidenced

S

Delivery Structure – suitable alternatives have been considered

S

Project Costs – robust estimates

S

Need for Investment Fund Support

S

Availability of match funding

S

Management and Delivery Arrangements – expertise/capacity/capability/systems

S

Capability to meet the financial requirements and liabilities

S

Risk register represents a realistic picture and appropriately apportioned

S

Intervention is deliverable regarding risks and dependencies

S

3
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 109

Compliance with necessary regulations state aid/procurement/planning/other

S

Communication strategy

S

Timescales are realistic

S

Benefit maximisation

S

Monitoring and Evaluation appropriate to scale and complexity

S

Appraisers overall judgement to be based on a composite of the above criteria
In addition, applicants will be required to supply suitable financial information and be subject to
a financial vet
Appraiser’s overall recommendations and comments

Recommendation
We recommend that funding is awarded to the application scheme with the following conditions:







The applicant concludes its discussions with Highways England on a contribution to the M62
J6 works from its Growth & Housing Fund (which, if agreed, would reduce the SIF ask by
£2.7m)
The applicant entering into necessary legal agreements with Highways England as well as
statutory utilities
The applicant submitting a revised timescale for completion of the project that reflects
current SIF approval timescales
Any cost overruns beyond the requested funds being met by the applicant (noting that, as
yet, there are no tender prices for the interventions)
An approach to monitoring and evaluation being agreed with the Combined Authority.

Comments
The application scheme would improve 7 road junctions. This would overcome a constraint on the
development of Halsnead Garden Village for residential and commercial use.
As would be expected for a FBC assessment, this review has focussed on the differences since the
OBC. The principal difference is that the applicant is now only seeking SIF monies for off-site
highway improvements, while at OBC stage it was looking for both off-site and on-site
improveemnts. This reduces the sum of money that is being applied for. Accepting that on-site
improvements would be funded by other means and would be forthcoming, then there is no
reduction in the benefits associated with realising the dependent development. However, a
consequence of this is that should a subsequent SIF application be made for on-site junctions, then
4
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 110

it would not be correct to claim the benefits from dependent development again. This would not be
a consideration should the on-site junctions be funded commercially.
Strategic Case
The Strategic Case for the intervention is strong. It will help deliver the established policy goals of
delivering new housing and commercial development by allowing a substantial site to be developed
that would otherwise not come forward for development due to transport network constraints.
While an appropriate range of options have been considered, the justification for the selection of
the preferred option is weak.
Economic Case
Using the WebTAG approach to assessing the economic benefits of transport interventions that
realise dependent development, the application scheme has a medium value for money case.
Following the approach set out in WebTAG A2.2, the WebTAG BCR of the scheme is 1.92.
Looking at job and GVA impacts, the scheme meets the relevant SIF benchmark for gross and net
jobs, but not for SIF benefit cost ratio benchmark.
Financial Case
There is no revenue stream from this scheme.
Commercial Case
An appropriate approach to procurement and contracting has been suggested.
Management Case
Knowsley Council has the necessary experience and skills to deliver this scheme.

Finally, we note that a substantial amount of work has been done to support this application. To us,
the volume of work and particularly on the scheme’s value for money and land use and wider
economic benefits is disproportionate to the scale of the proposed investment and its likely
impacts. Whether this is due to the requirements of the SIF process, or the way KMBC specified the
work programme, or the approach taken by the advisors, or a combination of all of these is unclear,
but to us there appears opportunity to streamline this process, while at the same time still gaining
sufficient assurance that investing public money in the scheme is worthwhile. Furthermore, we
consider that the development of the FBC and its assessment would have been more efficient (i.e
taken less time and cost all sides less money), if the recommendations we made at OBC has been
acted on.

Detailed Appraisal
Assessment scoring
Core selection criteria scoring

5
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 111

SCORE

DESCRIPTION

0

poor or unsatisfactory response giving rise to serious concerns about meeting the
criteria

1

weak response suggesting there are shortcomings of a less serious nature in meeting
the criteria

2

adequate response suggesting that the criteria is likely to be met, albeit only just

3

good response giving confidence that the criteria will be satisfactorily met in all
relevant respects

4

very good response giving a high level of confidence that the criteria will be fully met
and exceeded, offering added value and further improved outcomes

Hurdle criteria scoring
Assessment

DESCRIPTION

Unsatisfactory

response either gives rise to concerns about meeting
the criteria or there is insufficient evidence provided

Satisfactory

response giving confidence that the criteria will be met

Core selection criteria


Fit with SIF Prospectus/Growth Strategy/other relevant strategies (effectiveness)
o the proposed intervention contributes to the objectives set out in the Growth
Strategy/SIF Prospectus and, if relevant, other strategies (refer to Questions 1-5)
Assessment criteria: scored
0

1

2

3

4

Appraiser’s score
Appraiser’s comment

The request for SIF monies is for the modification of 7 road
junctions, including M62 Junction 6 Tarbock Island. The
objective is to facilitate the development of Halsnead Garden
Village, which is considered dependent on the enhancement of
road capacity. When fully built out Halsnead Garden Village will
comprise 1,600 residential units and 22.5 Ha of employment
land. The employment land is earmarked for B8 uses, including
logistics and advanced manufacturing.
The promoters state that by facilitating the development of
Halsnead Garden Village the scheme will address all three of
the LCR Growth Strategy pillars:


the productivity pillar, by providing employment
6

FBC Appraisal Report

Page 112

0




1

2

3

4

opportunities
as one of 14 sites nationally with Garden Village Status,
Halsnead Garden Village will support the place pillar. It
will extend the range of housing stock in the district, as
well as secure a new country park and other green
infrastructure
the people pillar, by providing job opportunities in a
deprived area

In similar ways, the project will support the SIF Prospectus
themes of housing and regeneration. It will also lead to a
measurable improvement in traffic conditions to nondevelopment related traffic, including traffic that will access the
strategic road network at M62 Junction 6.
The promoters also cite policy fit with: Locally-led Garden
Villages, Towns and Cities Prospectus; Strategy for Knowsley;
Knowsley Local Plan Core Strategy; LCR Growth Deal; LCR
Growth Prospectus, the DfT’s Transport Investment Strategy
and A Transport Plan for Growth. The application also states
that the project supports the Halsnead Masterplan SPD,
although to us this seems circular given that this scheme would
not exist without the Halsnead proposal. By providing land for
B8 development it supports meeting the need for additional
logistics-related land identified in the NIA Global LCR Superport
2014, Market Analysis Land and Property report.


GVA and jobs
o clear case that the investment will deliver relevant activities and outputs that lead to
GVA and jobs. Greater weight should be attached to direct rather than indirect jobs
(refer to Questions 15 and 16)
Assessment criteria: scored
0

1

2

3

4

Appraiser’s score
Appraiser’s comment

The application identifies that the preferred option (Option 3)
of the four options considered would open up land for B8
development, which when built-out would directly support 922
net jobs. Of these 922 net jobs, 524 would be supported by
2021/22 and the full build-out would be completed by 2026/27.
7

FBC Appraisal Report

Page 113

0

1

2

3

4

This figure of 922 jobs is derived as follows:









The application states that the 22.5 Ha of land for B8
will have a floor space of 87,400 m2 GEA.
Assuming a 90% occupancy rate and an employment
land density of 77m² of GEA/FTE leads to the gross jobs
figure of 1,022.
The net figure is derived by assuming 15% leakage, 14%
displacement and 10-30% displacement (depending on
the plot – the average is about 14.5%).
Together these factors lead to a net figure of 640.
A multiplier of 1.44 has been applied to assess indirect
jobs, leading to an additional 282 jobs.
The 640 net additional jobs added to the 282 indirect
jobs gives the figure of 922 net jobs.

Assuming £44,000 GVA per worker leads to a GVA figure of
£40.5m per annum. (See Table 9 in Land Use and Economic
Development Report. – assumes full build out, which will be
completed after 2021/22).
The results of the calculations are (of course) dependent on the
assumptions made. The assumptions were questioned at SOC
stage and while they were revised for the OBC they have not
been revised for the FBC. As we said at OBC stage, there is little
justification for the adopted assumptions in the submitted
documentation. Using the default assumptions set out in the SIF
Appraisal Method Note would reduce the net jobs impact to
454 and give a GVA figure of £20.0m per annum (at full build
out).
Also, as set out in the responses to questions 15 and 16, there is
no difference in the permanent job impact between any of the
four options considered by the promoter. While the assessment
of GVA and jobs identifies a direct impact of an improvement to
access arrangements to the site, it does not help identify that
the preferred option (Option 3) has a lessor or bigger impact
than any other of the options considered.
The direct job/indirect job assessment assumes that offsite
access and connectivity enhancements (this funding
application) will come forward, as well as site access junctions
which will be funded separately. As at present, the site access
junctions are unfunded, this presents a risk to the realisation of
8
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 114

0

1

2

3

4

the claimed job impacts.
o

additionality of the project – clear case that the intervention would not otherwise take
place, will have low levels of displacement, would be smaller, happen later or be of a
lower quality (refer to Questions 13, 15, 16 and 21)

Assessment criteria: scored
0

1

2

3

4

Appraiser’s score
Appraiser’s comment

While the application of the assumptions leading to the
quantification of additional jobs and GVA can be questioned,
the response to Q8 gives a clear rationale that the land use
development will not take place without road network
enhancements and that there is insufficient value to be gained
from the development for the private sector to pay for such
improvements. The evidence is that the development will only
proceed if pump primed by the public sector in the form of the
access improvements.
Accordingly, it can be said that with confidence that the
employment/GVA impacts would not materialise without public
sector intervention. While the question on the scale of
displacement is more moot, but even with alternative
assumptions, the additional job/GVA figures remain sizeable.



Value for money in relation to:
o Efficiency – the rate at which the intervention converts inputs to GVA – expressed as a
benefit cost ratio and Net Present Public Value (refer to Questions 13, 14, 15, 16 and 21
and additional information such as the results of webTAG and DCLG appraisals). The
appraiser should test the sensitivity of the results to changes to key variables.
Assessment criteria: ratio of net additional GVA to net public sector cost. GVA will be
estimated by the appraiser based on the data provided by the applicant. Net public sector
cost per gross and net additional job.

Net Present
Public Value

SIF Benefit Cost
Ratio

9
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 115

Below
benchmarks

Above
benchmarks

20.85

3.39

Gross job

Net public
sector cost per
gross job

1022

11,880.94

Net job

Net public
sector cost per
net job

454

26,728.42

Appraiser’s assessment

Appraiser’s assessment

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment
(including on national
level assessments and
the results of sensitivity
analyses)

Below
benchmarks

Above
benchmarks

Below
benchmarks

Above
benchmarks

In the table above and as per SIF guidance (“Liverpool City Region SIF
Appraisal – Method Note”), the SIF BCR has been calculated for costs
and benefits incurred in the period 2016/17 to 2021/22 only. A
persistence of 10 years has been assumed. It is noted that the
promoters state that 441 of the 1022 gross jobs will occur after
2021/22, which means that the SIF BCR calculation does not capture
the full benefits of the scheme. The GVA impact of construction jobs is
not included in the BCR calculation. For the BCR costs and benefits have
been discounted to 2010 prices using a 3.5% discount rate.
The cost per job benchmark is taken from Table 6 of the “SIF Appraisal
Guide VfM Benchmarks” note. Use of SIF default assumptions on
displacement, deadweight and leakage would result in the benchmark
being passed.
The metrics have improved since the OBC stage. This is because the
applicant is asking for less SIF money than at OBC, but is saying that
there is no change to the number of on-site jobs or when these will
occur. Their position is that the employment activity on the site is not
dependent of the currently un-funded on-site road enhancements.
The welfare approach to setting out the value for money of the
application scheme is set out in the DfT’s WebTAG guidance (WebTAG
Unit A2.2 Appraisal of Induced Investments). The applicant’s application
of this approach is documented in the November 2018 Land Value
Uplift – technical note. (This approach is identical to the approach in the
December 2016 DCLG Appraisal Guide, but WebTAG offers greater
detail on how the approach is applied to transport schemes.)
The DfT’s WebTAG guidance asks that promoters undertake a five-step
process:


Step 0: Demonstrate that the provision of new housing is
10

FBC Appraisal Report

Page 116











dependent on an enhancement to the transport network – that
is without enhancement the network level of service is not
considered reasonable
Step 1: Determine the quantity of new housing that should be
regarded as dependent on a transport scheme and the quantity
that can happen in any event (the deadweight);
Step 2: Identify the minimum transport scheme required to
restore a reasonable level of service with the dependent
development;
Step 3: Assess the transport user benefits of the transport
scheme in isolation (that is, in the absence of the dependent
housing development but with the deadweight);
Step 4: Assess the Transport External Cost, that is the negative
impact of the traffic generated by the dependent development
on the base load (including deadweight generated traffic);
Step 5: Consider any other traffic related impacts

It is noted that current WebTAG guidance only considers residential
development.
Question 8 of the application addresses Step 0 by showing that the
development is dependent on the road scheme. In the context of
WebTAG A2.2, the development will be 1600 houses
Step 2 is what leads to the preferred option and this is addressed
below.
Steps 3 to 5 are combined to calculate a WebTAG BCR. In this
assessment, the benefits are calculated as follows:
Dependent Development Benefits = Land Value Uplift (adjusted for
displacement) + Other Benefits – Transport External Costs – Land
Amenity Value – Non-Transport Complementary Interventions
Cost are assessed in the usual way.
The WebTAG BCR for the application scheme reported in the November
2018 Land Value Uplift analysis note is 1.92, which gives an initial VfM
category of medium. WebTAG then allows VfM assessments to be
adjusted in the light of non-monetised impacts (which can be positive
or negative). As the WebTAG approach does not include the LVU from
commercial property, it is argued by the applicant that the VfM should
be considered high. However, as applied the WebTAG approach also
does not consider the traffic impacts of these developments. In
addition, we consider optimism bias is understated and that the
reasonably applied but simplified approach to considering deadweight
will also lead to a modest overstatement of impact. Accordingly, we
11
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 117

recommend that the VfM category be considered to be medium.
o

Economy – the extent to which the intervention will ensure inputs are at a minimum
costs commensurate with the required quality (refer to Question 22)

Assessment criteria: scored
0

1

2

3

4

Appraiser’s score
Appraiser’s comment

As set out in Question 22, the approach to ensuring input costs
are at a minimum for the selected option is appropriate for a
project of this nature and scale. To reflect an evolved
specification, refined cost estimates have been since OBC. The
project design is at RIBA Stage 4 (Question 2).
However, as we noted at OBC stage do not consider that in the
round the OBC addresses the question that the scheme is being
delivered with economy and in particular, why Option 3 is the
preferred option over lower cost alternatives. We return to this
in a later question.



Gain share/repayment of SIF
o clear case (where applicable) that the investment is expected to result in the repayment
of SIF funding (refer to Questions 40-42)
Assessment criteria: scored
0

1

2

3

4

Appraiser’s score
Appraiser’s comment

The promoter is looking for 100% capital grant. There is no gain
share.

12
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 118

Hurdle criteria


Need/demand for project
o that there is clear evidence of need or demand for the project (refer to Question 6)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

As already noted, the promoter has demonstrated in their
response to Question 8 that the scheme is needed if the
Halsnead Garden Village is to come forward for development.
The FBC and supporting documents demonstrate that policy
supports the provision of additional housing and employmentsupporting development across the LCR and that these policies
have been framed in response to assessments of future
demand. Question 8 cites market demand studies that show
that the site is well positioned and is attractive to development.



Rationale for public sector intervention
o there is a clear rationale for why the project requires public sector support, based on a
credible market failure (refer to Questions 7 and 8)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment



Questions 7 and 8 demonstrate that intervention is needed to
overcome the financial viability issues faced by the private
sector bring forward the site for development.

Options assessment
o an appropriate range of alternative options has been considered, including a do nothing
/ do minimum option (refer to Question 13)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
13
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 119

Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory
Appraiser’s comment

Satisfactory

Four options have been considered. Given that the scheme is to
open up land for development, Option 1 (the do-minimum) is
substantial in cost when compared to the preferred option, but
nonetheless is appropriate – it involves one junction to open up
land north of the M62 and one to the south. The three dosomething options are progressively more intensive
investments.
It is noted that at present, the applicant is only seeking funding
for off-site works and it assumed that the on-site works that are
seen as integral to realising the dependent development will be
funded by other means.



Wider benefits
o that there is clear case that the project will deliver relevant activities and outputs that
lead to wider benefits. (refer to Questions 17 and 18)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

Question 17 identifies a number of additional wider benefits
not included in the jobs/GVA assessment. These are:







improvements to drainage
new walking and cycling routes leading to physical
activity/health benefits
new employment locations and other facilities (eg
school)
development of brownfield land reducing the
availability of contaminants and presence of invasive
plant species
provision of a country park.

While these are benefits of Halsnead Garden Village, rather
than the scheme, it is noted that its development that is
dependent on the road scheme.

14
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 120



sustainable development
o that there is clear case that the project will contribute to the principles of sustainable
development. (refer to Question 19)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment



While the Halsnead Garden Village will be predominantly
accessed by private car traffic, the Garden Village principles
that underpin the masterplan incorporate principles of
sustainable development. Walking and cycling networks will be
provided and the preferred option will be integrated with
these. Question 19 notes improvements to drainage, bringing
brownfield land back into use, insofar as possible the retention
and re-use of construction generated waste material and the
provision of a country park which will mitigate any localised
habitat loss.

Equality and diversity
o that there is clear case that the project will contribute to equality and diversity. (refer
to Question 20)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

The scheme does not discriminate against men or women. The
road enhancements would be beneficial to all types of road
user users, regardless of where they live.
As good practice dictates, Non Motorised User Audit and Road
Safety Audit are integral to the design process.
The applicants also are aligned to the requirements of The
Equality Act 2010 so there is no discrimination in the public
body workforce which are applying for the SIF grant.



Preferred option

15
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 121

o

based on the analysis of economic costs, benefits and risks, the proposed project
represents the preferred option (refer to Question 13-24)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

The responses to Questions 16 and 17 show that Options 1, 2, 3
and 4 deliver the same additional permanent jobs and GVA. The
response to Question 14 shows that Option 1 has a cost of
£12.5m, Option 2 has a cost of £15.0m, Option 3 has a cost of
£19.9m while Option 4 has a cost of £27.7m. (These costs
include on-site junctions, which are not part of this funding
application.) This shows that the same additional permanent
jobs and GVA can be delivered at lowest cost by Option 1.
However, because Option 1 supports fewer housing units it has
a lower (temporary) construction impact. Also, Option 1 does
not meet the objectives of supporting delivery of new housing
units.
Of the remaining options, Option 3 is preferred. The quantified
and monetised information provided in the OBC does not
support the position that Option 3 delivers the desired
outcomes with the greatest economy. The rationale for
selecting Option 3 over the less expensive Option 2 is therefore
qualitative.
A qualitative description of the difference between the options
is provided in the table that forms part of the response to
Question 13 and in the MCA assessment that form the answer
to Question 18. According to Question 13, the difference
between Option 3 and Option 2 is that Option 3 would provide
a “distinct sense of arrival and place making for Halsnead
Garden Village in accordance with the Masterplan SPD”, while
Option 2 would use “non-descript standard form priority
junctions”. In addition, it is stated that Option 2 would “not
facilitate additional future [traffic] growth across Knowsley and
the wider LCR”, while (presumably) Option 3 would. A similar
but different point is made in Table 6 on page 35/36 of the
Supplementary Business Case Report where it says: “Option 2
was discounted on because the priority junctions would not
providing gateway access that would support the development
of Halsnead as a Garden Village. Further concerns arising from
traffic modelling that the junctions would be over capacity as
16

FBC Appraisal Report

Page 122

Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

the scheme developed beyond the initial allocation of housing
and employment land.” There is no mention of any additional
development in the FBC itself.
The response to Question 18 (MCA) is considered unreliable as
the weights and scores cannot be substantiated from the
description of the options provided in either the FBC or the
supporting documentation.
Overall this response is considered unsatisfactory.


Stakeholder support
o that there is clear evidence that the project has stakeholder support (refer to Questions
9 and 10)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment



Appended to the FBC are letters of support from Barton
Wilmore (on behalf of an unnamed land owner); Highways
England; Frost Planning (on behalf of an unnamed client); Bloor
Homes; Countryside Properties; Maro Developments; Harworth
Estates and Barratt David Wilson Homes. Each of these letters is
dated May 2017. It is also noted in Question 10 that The Land
Trust and Places Matter! have expressed support. It is assumed
that there is no change to these positions expressed in 2017.

Delivery structure
o suitable alternative delivery options have been considered and the option selected is
the most appropriate (refer to Questions 25 and 26)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment

17
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 123

Satisfactory

Unsatisfactory
Appraiser’s comment



Satisfactory

Three delivery options have been considered. Option 1 is
delivery by KMBC’s Highways & Transportation Services. Option
2 has delivery responsibilities split between KMBC (local roads)
and Highways England (Tarbock Island). Option3 (the preferred
option) is delivery by a new KMBC Major Development Team,
the details of which are set out in Question 46. The selected
option, using the new Major Development Team recognises the
limitations of the alternatives considered, and best uses the
resources of Knowsley Council and partner organisations.

Project costs
o the application demonstrates that the project costs are based on robust estimates
(refer to Questions 34-37)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

The applicant has set out the basis of the cost build-up. The
Cost Plan submitted alongside the FBC provides a more detailed
breakdown of the individual components, but does not provide
any information on the derivation of these costs. The Cost Plan
is for both off-site and on-site interventions. Separately, the
applicant has provided a cost and spend profile for the off-sire
interventions (this application). Costs have been further
developed since OBC.
It is noted that costs for the Tarbock Island elements of the
scheme have been provided by Amey, although no details are
provided. The rest of the costs have been built up from unit
rates. While not inappropriate for an OBC of this nature, there
is a degree of risk with this approach. Greater certainty at FBC
would be beneficial.
The applicant has applied Optimism Bias at 3%. This is the value
set out in Table 8 of WebTAG Unit A1.2 for application at FBC
stage. However, this value assumes that the FBC is produced
between receiving tender submissions and signing contracts –
that is 3% is applied to the preferred bidder’s tender price. This
scheme is not at that stage yet. While applying 15% (the OBC
value) would appear excessive, we would suggest 3% is too low
18

FBC Appraisal Report

Page 124

Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

a value to apply. As this FBC is being submitted pre-tendering
there is therefore an element of cost risk which may not be
adequately captured by the assumed 3% OB.


Need for Investment Fund support
o that there is clear evidence that the project requires support from the SIF for example
due to a funding gap (refer to Questions 34, 35, 38 and 39)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment



The scheme generates no income and the response to Question
8 provides evidence that there is no prospect of the private
sector funding the scheme.

Availability of match funding
o appropriate arrangements (if applicable) are in place to secure the required level of
match funding (refer to Questions 38 and 43)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

This application is for 100% SIF funding of the components of
the project included in the scope of this application.
In Question 43 the application states that KMBC has made an
‘in kind’ contribution by funding development work to the tune
of £800,000 – this includes the Masterplan SPD, as well as
detailed design work.
It is also noted that infrastructure within the Halsnead Garden
Village site (local roads, services, etc.), as well as the houses and
commercial development will be funded by the private sector.
KMBC is in discussion with Highways England about funding the
Tarbock Island enhancement using Housing England’s Growth &
Housing Fund. This has the potential to reduce the SIF ask by
c.£2.7m.
19

FBC Appraisal Report

Page 125



Management and delivery arrangements
o appropriate expertise, capacity, capability and systems to deliver the intervention
successfully (refer to Questions 27, 28, 46, 47 and 48)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

o

The applicant is establishing a Major Development Team to take
this and other projects forward. The team is derived from best
practice and performance across other strategic projects.

capability to meet the financial requirements and liabilities that flow from receipt of SIF
support (refer to Questions 44 and 45)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

o

Knowsley Council has a successful track record of delivering
projects to time and budget, and has in place arrangements to
manage and mitigate any cost overruns. The Council’s Section
151 Officer has confirmed that the Council accepts
responsibility for meeting any potential cost overruns (dated 25
May 2018).

the risk register presents a realistic picture of the business and delivery risks to the
project, risks are apportioned appropriately between the public and private sector and
appropriate risk management arrangements are identified (refer to Questions 23, 33
and 52)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

The Council has included a risk assessment which sets out a
realistic range of risks to the project. As a wholly public sector
funded project, almost all of these risks rest with Knowsley
Council.
20

FBC Appraisal Report

Page 126

o

the intervention is deliverable having regard to risks and dependencies and that there is
clear evidence these can be addressed and/or managed (refer to Questions 11, 12 and
52)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment



The risk assessment and the proposed delivery, governance and
management arrangements provide evidence that the project is
deliverable having regard to risks and dependencies and that
these can be addressed and/or managed.

Compliance with necessary regulations and requirements, including
o
o
o
o

State aid
Procurement
Planning (what is the status and timescale implications)
other consents
(refer to Question 29-32)



Communication strategy
o that there is a clear and appropriate communication strategy for the project (refer to
Questions 49)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

The project has been subject to a separate and detailed
consideration of State Aid issues, including legal advice. Our
position is that this consideration takes precedence over the
FBC submission and this review. Consequently, we do not
comment on state aid issues.
The applicant has set out that no specific consents are required
for the highway works and that it will need to enter into a legal
agreement with Highways England for the works at M62 J6.
Minor utilities consents will be needed. The land which is
identified for dependent development is appropriately
21

FBC Appraisal Report

Page 127

Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

designated in the Local Plan.
An appropriate consultation strategy is set out in response to
Question 49.


Timescales
o the overall timescale for delivery of the project is realistic (refer to Questions 48, 49 50
and 51)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment



The elapsed time is plausible, given the nature of the proposed
works. The FBC has work commencing in December 2019,
assuming an August 2018 approval. Clearly, this is no longer
achievable. The c. 6 month delay in approval would suggest
completion in Q2 2021. Should funding be approved, the
applicant should be asked to update its timescales.

Benefit maximisation
o that there are clear and appropriate benefit maximisation arrangements proposed
(refer to Question 53)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence
Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment



There is a clear logic chain between the claimed benefits and
the outputs that the scheme will deliver, although the benefits
associated with the dependent development will require
further investment by the private sector on a commercial basis.

Monitoring and evaluation
o the proposed monitoring and evaluation arrangements are appropriate to the scale and
complexity of the project (refer to Questions 54-56)
Assessment criteria: satisfactory/unsatisfactory evidence

22
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 128

Unsatisfactory

Satisfactory

Appraiser’s assessment
Appraiser’s comment

A Monitoring & Evaluation Plan has been produced and this is
included as part of the FBC submission. The adopted approach
is based on the DfT’s Monitoring and Evaluation Framework for
Local Authority Major Schemes. Given the scale of the
investment, there may be opportunity to par back some of the
proposed data collection while still adopting a proportionate
approach.

23
FBC Appraisal Report

Page 129

This page is intentionally left blank

Version 2.5 (16/02/17)

Full Business Case – for all projects requesting LCR Combined Authority Single
Investment Fund (SIF) funding
Project name: Access to Halsnead Garden Village
SIF reference Number: SIF- 0066

Headline project description:
Please provide a summary to explain your project (approx. 100 words)
Halsnead Garden Village is the largest combined housing and employment site in the city
region. It has national significance as one of only 14 sites in England awarded Garden Village
Status by the Government. Halsnead will deliver approximately 1,600 homes and at least
22.5ha of employment land (securing in the region of 920 net jobs and £40.5m of new Gross
Value Added (GVA) per annum), together with a new Country Park.
Halsnead Garden Village will contribute to the Liverpool City Region’s objectives of providing
a mixed supply of housing types and developing Knowsley’s employment land offer.
Delivering a site of such scale will provide the City region with a significant new offer to the
employment market, attracting large scale investment in the logistic and advanced
manufacturing sectors for highly skilled workers, thereby helping to address the socioeconomic challenges caused by the dominant low skilled and low wage economy in the
borough.
SIF funding will support the provision of essential transport infrastructure, as outlined in this
application, to unlock these significant economic benefits by ensuring the site is viable and
attractive for development, thereby accelerating delivery. The scheme focuses on ensuring
adequate capacity and resilience of the existing surrounding highway network, and also
improving access to the site.
The key deliverables that require SIF support are Phase 1 - capacity improvements at 7
existing junctions including M62 Junction 6 ‘Tarbock Island’ without which the development
of Halsnead Garden Village will stall, and Phase 2 (subject to respective parcel viability) development of 9 new site access junctions.

Applicant details
Applicant organisation:

Knowsley Council

Contact:

Sean Traynor

Job title/Position:

Head of Highways and Transportation

382112/10/2

Page 131

1

Phone number:

Landline: 0151 443 2699
Mobile: 07825 117490

Email address:

Sean.Traynor@knowsley.gov.uk

Postal address:

Knowsley Council, Yorkon Building, Archway Road, Huyton,
Knowsley, L36 9FB

Company/Charity Registration
Number (where applicable)

N/A

Registered Office (where
applicable)

N/A

If a company, please confirm
size

N/A

Location of project: (LA,
postcode) (please provide a
location plan)

This project will facilitate the development of the Halsnead
Garden Village located at the heart of the Liverpool City Region
(LCR) near Whiston, Knowsley, L35 3SL.
At circa 175 hectares in size it represents the most significant
opportunity for a new settlement based around Garden Village
principles. The site has been identified as a key contributor to the
central investment and growth corridor, which runs along the
M62 from Manchester to Liverpool City Centre. Located on the
M57 ‘Tarbock Island’ intersection, the development has the
potential to provide exceptional transport links and create an
impressive gateway entrance to the LCR from the east.

Other organisations involved in

Delivery partners:

Page 132

2

project: (please briefly explain
roles)

Mott MacDonald and Turley: consultants appointed by Knowsley
Council to produce a Supplementary Planning Document and
comprehensive Masterplan that informs the scope of the
transport elements that support this development.
Waterman Group: consultants appointed by Knowsley Council to
provide detailed design and works order package for all scheme
components, except those at the M62 Junction 6 ‘Tarbock Island’.
Amey LG: consultants appointed by Knowsley Council to provide
detailed design and works order package for improvements to
M62 Junction 6 ‘Tarbock Island’.
Landowners and housing developers: consultation on SPD
Masterplan and ongoing dialogue pursuant to delivery.
Highways England: responsible for the Strategic Road Network,
which includes M62 Junction 6 ‘Tarbock Island’ and requires
capacity mitigation improvements to facilitate the proposed
development and future growth across the LCR.
The Land Trust: owner of the former Cronton Colliery site and
promoter of the country park element of the developing scheme.

Project theme:
(Please select the main theme
relevant to your project)
Please confirm whether the
project has support from the
relevant local authority –
include a named officer
Total project cost

Grant/loan requested – capital
or revenue

Homes England ATLAS Team: collaborative working and
promotion of good practice pursuant to the timely delivery of a
high quality sustainable development.
 Housing (however as detailed in this submission there is also
relevance to Regeneration, Development and Culture and
Transport, with the project being multifaceted)
This full Major Scheme Business Case is submitted by Knowsley
Council who are the relevant local authority,
The named officer at Knowsley Council is Sean Traynor, whose
contact details can be found under applicant details.
£12,142,325 -Phase 1 offsite junctions including 3% optimism bias
£9,025,815 - Phase 2 access junctions including 3% optimism bias
£21,168,140 – Total including 3% optimism bias
£12,142,325 -Phase 1 offsite junctions including 3% optimism bias
£9,025,815 - Phase 2 access junctions including 3% optimism bias
£21,168,140 – Capital total including 3% optimism bias
Notes:
1. At the time of this submission it is confirmed the SIF FBC seeks
100% capital grant for the 7 off-site junction improvements.

Page 133

3

However, Knowsley Council is continuing discussions with
Highways England over a complimentary partial/contributory
funding opportunity for the M62 ‘Tarbock Island’ element via
the Growth & Housing Fund programme, having passed the
initial sift. Whilst this potential funding bid opportunity (of
circa £2.720m) does not directly align with the SIF FBC
timeframe, if the Growth & Housing Fund bid is ultimately
successful then the SIF ask will be reduced accordingly.

Has the project previously been
considered by the LCR CA for SIF
funding or other funding bodies

2. With regards to that element of the SIF FBC relating to the 9
new site access junctions (Phase 2), it is confirmed that the
associated funding would be subject to respective phase
viability.
The project has only been considered for SIF funding and has
progressed to full MSBC stage as a result of a successful SOBC
application in December 2016 and successful OBC application in
May 2017.
Knowsley Council has been successful in a bid to Government for
inclusion of the proposed Halsnead Garden Village development
site in its ‘Locally-led Garden Villages, Towns and Cities’
prospectus. However, this application for funding focuses on
creating access and improving capacity to support development
so there is no duplication in this submission.

Please indicate whether any
information in this form is
considered is considered exempt
from release under the Freedom
of Information Act 2000. If so,
please outline why

The information in this form is not exempt.

This Business Case application has been structured to be consistent with the guidance
issued by HM Treasury regarding the preparation of business cases.
For transport projects of over £5 million, please submit a separate short report setting out
the adjusted Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) that the project will achieve. Please refer to the
following DfT guidance note to local decision makers:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/267296/
vfm-advice-local-decision-makers.pdf
In addition, please refer to webTAG guidance to demonstrate the present value of cost,
assumed optimism bias and present value of benefits.
Where relevant, please summarise the results of the webTAG appraisal (approx. 200 words)
The appraisal has been undertaken in line with DfT TAG Unit A2.3 – Transport Appraisal in
the Context of Dependent Development.

Page 134

4

The scheme is wholly designed and intended to provide essential capacity improvements at
M62 Junction 6 Tarbock Island, mitigate development trips associated with Halsnead
Garden Village and facilitate site access where appropriate. The site has been found to be
wholly dependent on the transport scheme which means that the benefits when the
transport scheme is assessed in isolation are low, as expected, given the nature of the
scheme. However, when combined with the dependent development benefits there is a
strong Value for Money case.
Scheme costs have been calculated in line with TAG guidance. A quantitative risk
assessment has been undertaken and the weighted mean value added to scheme costs.
Optimism bias has been applied at 3% as per TAG A1.2.
The monetised economic benefits (based on transport modelling outcomes) show that the
scheme as whole when assessed in isolation (i.e. without development trips) produces an
initial BCR of 0.60 from a Present Value of Benefits of £8.8m (2010 prices, discounted to
2010) and a cost to public accounts of £14.6m (2010 prices, discounted to 2010). The
modified BCR (including reliability benefits) is 0.68, which represents Poor Value for
Money.
However importantly the benefit of the dependent development is £101.5m which
represents large beneficial Value for Money.
Therefore of more relevance is the sensitivity test of including the development trips in the
transport benefit calculation, which produced a BCR of 3.4. This demonstrates that when
the scheme was assessed as a whole it would provide High Value for Money.
Furthermore it is important to understand that should the successful delivery of Halsnead
Garden Village be ultimately secured without a requirement for Phase 2 funding
(associated with the on-site access junctions) then the BCR and Value for Money levels
outlined above would further improve.
For development and housing projects please include a separate note providing an
assessment
of
the
project
based
on
the
DCLG
Appraisal
Guide
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/576427
/161129_Appraisal_Guidance.pdf) or complete the separate template.
Where relevant, please summarise the results of the DCLG appraisal (approx. 200 words) or
summary data from the template.
The Land Use and Economic Development Report included as part of this application
package estimates the potential land value uplift from the development to be in the region
of £101.5m once fully developed (using DCLG Appraisal Guidance). This is based on the
data on land values within WebTAG that is provided from the Valuation Office Agency
(VOA) on sub-regional per hectare residential land values (set as £1.5m per hectare for
Liverpool).
Furthermore, the supporting report calculates that over a 21-year period (2017-2038) the

Page 135

5

net present value of the benefits would be in the range of £442.3m[1] and the overall net
present value of the costs and benefits is £421.1. This compares to £75.3m of benefits
under the counterfactual (which assumes some commercial development comes forward
despite the transport interventions not proceeding).
For skills capital projects please also complete the separate application form.

Purpose of the Full Business Case
The purpose of the Full Business Case (FBC) stage is to revisit and, where necessary, update the
Outline Business Case (OBC) assumptions and analysis, recommending the most economically
advantageous option. It also documents the contractual arrangements, confirms funding and
affordability and sets out the detailed management arrangements and plans for successful
delivery and post evaluation.
The FBC will determine whether a project should be taken forward to be considered for
approval.

Part 1 – Strategic Case
Please revisit the Strategic Case set out within the OBC, answering the following questions:

Project description and update
1.

Please restate the brief description of the project, including its objectives, key deliverables,
for what aspect funding is being sought and the details of the wider programme or package
of investments that the project sits within (if applicable). (approx. 750 words)

Project description
Halsnead Garden Village is a strategic housing and employment development project which
will deliver approximately 1,600 homes and at least 22.5ha of employment land between
2017 and 2038, together with a new Country Park. The housing development components of
the project will provide the opportunity to diversify and enhance the housing mix in both the
borough and LCR by providing a broader range of housing types, with emphasis on the higher
parts of the housing market. The new employment development components of the project
will be at a strategic location to meet market demand for distribution, logistics and advanced
manufacturing space thereby supporting the growth of key LCR sectors. It will include a new
Country Park, linked by high quality green corridors and forming part of an extensive network
[1]

A 21-year time horizon has been used in line with the viability trajectory work with an average duration of GVA
benefits of 9 years. Although commercial buildings may last longer than 21 years the new businesses locating
within them are likely to move on sooner than this and therefore this time horizon is a reasonable assumption. The
average persistence of GVA benefits in general is perceived as 10-15 years (for references refer to Impact of RDA
Spending, Department for Business Enterprise & Regulatory Reform, March 2009) and therefore this analysis is
conservative. An average discount rate of 3.5% has been used in line with HM Treasury guidelines.

Page 136

6

of connected green infrastructure accessible to the communities of Knowsley and the wider
City Region. The location of these facilities is shown in the image below.
Existing environmental, landscape and historical characteristics will be enhanced to provide
an outstanding setting and a truly unique location. The inclusion of Halsnead in the 14
Government backed new Garden Villages nationally reflects Knowsley Council’s clear and
consistent commitment to plan for and develop the site in a way which can create a distinct,
identifiable and high-quality place.

Source: Halsnead Masterplan Plans Brochure (Part 2)

Objectives
The following strategic objectives reflect Knowsley Council and the Liverpool City Region’s
vision for Halsnead Garden Village:


A shared place-making approach
All development phases, developers and stakeholders working together to create a
place of consistently high environmental and experiential quality, that:
o Embeds Garden Village principles of design and functionality, but adapted to
the 21st Century and specific to Halsnead;

Page 137

7







o Rediscovers the former Halsnead Park Estate by retaining and enhancing the
landscape structure, integrating buildings and structures and reconnecting
areas lying north and south of the motorway; and
o Integrates with Whiston physically, visually and functionally.
Ensuring comprehensive development
Effective collaboration and partnership working ensuring that development is
designed and implemented to deliver the comprehensive delivery of Halsnead as a
whole, including the timely and coordinated provision of physical and community
infrastructure
Diversifying the housing stock
Helping to improve the range and quality of housing on offer at borough-wide and
local level by providing a mix of accessible homes in walkable neighbourhoods. New
homes will be coordinated by an overarching Garden Village structure and design
ethos, but with subtle character changes in different parts of the site.
Enhancing connectivity
Creating a clear and legible movement framework within the site that links existing
and new communities, facilitates clear access to Whiston Rail Station, Whiston Village
and other local facilities, and improves connections across the M62. Development
should capitalise upon existing infrastructure and public transport connections to
improve access for all and promote non-car modes including pedestrian, cycle and
equestrian



Creating a strong green space framework
A well-connected green and blue infrastructure network, comprising linked multifunctional spaces that bring a wide variety of benefits including ecology and
biodiversity, drainage, recreation, health, connectivity and sustainability. Using the
landscape structure of the former Halsnead Park estate to establish a highly
distinctive, high quality setting, and supporting the delivery of a new Country Park on
the former Cronton Colliery.



Bringing employment opportunities
Creating the right conditions to attract significant new employment development at a
strategic location that meets demand for distribution, logistics, advanced
manufacturing and other appropriate uses falling within the Liverpool City Region
economic growth sectors.



Strengthening a community core
Orientating development to maximise relationships with, and supporting the
continued use of, existing local community facilities in Whiston, and potentially
creating a new community focus within the development around a new primary
school. The new primary school can be an important component in the urban

Page 138

8

structure of Halsnead, influencing the orientation of key routes, green spaces and
corridors, and distribution of housing density / typology.
Rationale for Funding Requirements
To ensure this development is viable and to successfully realise the substantial benefits of
increased housing and employment opportunities at the earliest opportunity, it is essential
that the allocated land is fully accessible to all potential users including the construction
workers and future residents, workers and visitors. The location of the proposed residential
and commercial developments is shown in the image on the next page. Connectivity is poor
currently between different areas of the site and the wider area, and there are demonstrable
capacity constraints within the existing adjoining network. Thus the (Phase 1) off-site
transport infrastructure improvements are primarily required to enable the site to be capable
of development - given the scale of the site and likely phased approach, and as the
improvements are required in advance of any development, then it is considered that
delivery via the SIF funds is the only viable option. Secondly in order to ensure
comprehensive development and thereby secure the objectives of the Halsnead Masterplan
and maximise the associated benefits for Knowsley and the Liverpool City Region, Phase 2
funding (subject to phase viability) is required in order to underwrite development if
necessary. Therefore, funding is being specifically sought for transport interventions to
improve viability and facilitate early, effective and comprehensive delivery of the Halsnead
Garden Village scheme, particularly its housing and employment components that would
yield multiple and substantive benefits for the LCR.

Page 139

9

Source: Halsnead Masterplan Plans Brochure (Part 2)

Key Deliverables
To ensure that Halsnead Garden Village is capable of delivery and to further address any
development viability issues together with the poor connectivity between the wider area and
different areas of the site, and to ensure that the site is fully accessible and placemaking
attributes are provided, the following key deliverables have been identified in the Access to
Halsnead Garden Village scheme.



The introduction of highway capacity improvements to seven existing junctions to
mitigate the impacts of development traffic on the surrounding highway network.
The creation of nine high quality access points to the development sites; and

The locations of these interventions are shown on the following schematic. Off-site junction
improvements in red (Phase 1) and site access points (Phase 2) are shown in yellow.

Page 140

10

Source: Waterman Group

Summary of offsite Junction Improvements







Offsite junction J: Fox’s Bank Lane/Cronton Road; proposed signalisation and road
widening to improve capacity and highway safety
Offsite junction K: Lickers Lane/Fox’s Bank Lane; proposed signalisation together with
footway improvements and vegetation removal to improve capacity and highway
safety
Offsite junction L: Stoney Lane/Cumber Lane; proposed signalisation to improve
capacity and highway safety
Offsite junction M: Stoney Lane/Dragon Lane; carriageway widening and creation of
right turn pocket within existing signalised junction to improve capacity
Offsite junction N: Windy Arbor Road/Greene’s Road; reconfiguration of existing
signalised junction to improve capacity and highway safety

Page 141

11




Offsite junction O: Lickers Lane/Windy Arbor Road; proposed carriageway widening
and signalisation to improve capacity and highway safety
M62 (J6) /M57/A5300 interchange at Tarbock Island; carriageway and bridge widening
on Windy Arbor Road approach together with quadrant widening to the gyratory and
additional lane provision on the M57 approach, and the signalisation of existing
uncontrolled arms together with general enhancements to improve capacity and
highway safety

Summary description of new access junctions









2.

Access junction A: A 3-arm gateway roundabout on Windy Arbor Road South
Access junction B: A 3-arm gateway roundabout on Windy Arbor Road North
Access junction C: Cycle and pedestrian access on Lickers Lane West (Pennywood
Drive)
Access junction D: A 3-arm signalised junction on Lickers Lane East
Access junction E: A 3-arm gateway roundabout on Fox’s Bank Lane North
Access junction F: A 3-arm gateway roundabout on Fox’s Bank Lane South
Access junction G: A 3-arm gateway roundabout on Cronton Road East
Access junction H: A 3-arm signalised junction on the mid-section of Cronton Road
Access junction I: A priority access ghost island junction on Cronton Road West

Please provide an update on how the project has progressed since the SOC was prepared,
including any key changes that have occurred. Where relevant, please indicate what RIBA
Design Stage has been reached. What changes, if any, have there been since the SOC
(approx. 200 words)

At the Outline Business Case stage, designs were updated to reflect a number of changes to
the scheme since the submission of the SOC in December 2016. Designs for two of the
proposed site access junctions were altered (access junction C was previously a double
roundabout at SOC stage and access junction D, also on Lickers lane was relocated slightly
further to the west). An additional junction on Cronton Road was also proposed at this stage
to align with the finalised Halsnead Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document.
Since the OBC was submitted in May 2017, other than minor detail and alignment changes,
the only material change has been to access junction H, which was previously a 3-arm
gateway roundabout and is now a 3-arm signalised junction.
The following table summarises the changes to design between OBC and full MSBC stage:
Junction ID
(see schematic on
page 10)

A

Summary of Changes
ICD reduced from 35 m to 28 m, avoiding 3rd party land implications.

Page 142

12

B

ICD reduced from 35 m to 30 m, avoiding 3rd party land/existing sandstone wall
implications and to ensure geometry compliance.

C

Proposed Toucan crossing relocated a distance of 25m from Pennywood Drive
junction in the interests of highway safety.

D

Proposed junction is to be raised for consistency with existing traffic calming
measures.

E

Roundabout relocated northwards to avoid existing sandstone wall of local
significant value. Geometry of north and south approach arms revised
accordingly.

F

Geometry of north and south approach arms revised to accord with requirements
of prevailing design standards.

G

Existing Foxes Bank Brook requires culvert construction for proposed
roundabout. Relocation of roundabout northwards to avoid 3rd party land.
Geometry of approach arms revised accordingly.

H

Changed to traffic signal control to reflect emerging development proposal.
Requires a power connection and traffic signal equipment along with associated
geometry changes.

I

Amended in line with development aspirations. Relocated towards Tarbock
Island roundabout. Bus stop laybys provided in both directions along Cronton
Road.

J

Relocated south so that junction intervisibility can be achieved without cutting
through 3rd party land.

K

Proposed traffic signal junction relocated to the west to avoid junction
intervisibility cutting through 3 party land. Crossing on northern side of junction
removed as no footway link northwards.

L

Proposed controlled pedestrian crossing locations revised to allow for existing
driveway. Parking scheme has been implemented on Cumber Lane which affects
approach lanes and may require an amendment to the Traffic Regulation Order.

M

Junction design revised to avoid 3rd party land in south-east corner. Lane widths
reduced with acceptable range for location (existing signalised junction).

N

Bus stop to west of junction revised to allow for alignment through junction.
Triangular island introduced to reduce crossing distance for pedestrians. Two
mature trees to be removed and replaced within locality.

Page 143

13

Bus stop to be on carriageway rather than within a layby to reduce carriageway
construction. Triangular island introduced to reduce crossing distance for
pedestrians and avoid existing driveways. Proposed amendments to grass verge /
parking provision on north side of Lickers Lane

O

Notes:
1) All development access roads changed to meet masterplan to include grass verge and
footway / cycleway.
2) No changes to Tarbock Island design from OBC stage
The project is now at RIBA design stage 4, detailed design stage which includes detailed
drawings and updated cost and risk information in accordance with the design programme.

Strategic alignment
3.

Which of the LCR Growth Strategy objectives and ambitions does this project address?
(approx. 100 words)

The scheme addresses all three of the LCR growth Strategy’s Pillars:
‘Productivity’ Pillar
The proposed project will stimulate economic growth by addressing employment and housing
need in a highly deprived area; delivering 1,600 homes and at least 22.5ha of employment
land, creating in the region of 920 net jobs and £40.5m of net Gross Value Added (GVA) per
annum. This demonstrates very strong alignment with the ‘Productivity Pillar which is
focused on economic growth, the creation of new jobs and GVA uplift.
‘Place’ Pillar
Halsnead Garden Village is the largest combined housing and employment site in the city
region. It has national significance as one of only 14 sites in England awarded Garden Village
Status by the Government. The delivery of a range of high quality aspirational homes
upgrades and rebalances the Knowsley housing offer, and an improved outdoor environment
with a well-designed Green Infrastructure network including a new country park demonstrate
that the scheme addresses the ‘Place’ Pillar.
‘People’ Pillar
The development of employment land, which this scheme will unlock, directly supports the
‘People’ Pillar by addressing unemployment through job creation in a highly deprived area.
Halsnead Garden Village will support the ‘People’ Pillar by increasing the number of people
coming to live in the LCR and it also provides connectivity for businesses and residents of the
Halsnead Garden Village to the Strategic Road Network and wider LCR to access greater
opportunities elsewhere.

Page 144

14

More details of how this scheme aligns with this policy can be found in the supporting MSBC
Report.
4.

How will this project contribute to achieving the key investment priorities of the SIF
Prospectus? (approx. 150 words)

The scheme will contribute significantly to the investment priorities of the SIF prospectus by
delivering jobs and improving productivity, improving Knowsley and the Liverpool City
Regions housing offer and supporting the LCR’s key growth sectors, including advanced
manufacturing and logistics.
In summary against the key priorities:






5.

Housing - the scheme will play an important role in unlocking the development of
1600 high quality aspirational new homes in a key strategic LCR location. By providing
core highway infrastructure it will facilitate realisation across a number of housing
sites thereby accelerating delivery of a broad range of homes at the upper end of the
housing market where there are deficiencies and through the provision of high quality
affordable housing to address the housing needs.
‘Regeneration, Development and Culture’ - by providing highway and accessibility
infrastructure necessary to prepare one of the next generation strategic employment
sites in the LCR to provide a perfectly located site for logistics, distribution and
advanced manufacturing. Provide access to 22.5 hectares of employment land that
will deliver in the region of 920 net jobs and £40.5m of GVA per annum.
Transport - by improving capacity at existing junctions to mitigate any impact to
journey times as a result of development traffic, and future proof the transport
network to accommodate wider growth across the LCR. However, the housing and
employment land development is dependent on this transport infrastructure, as
evidenced in the viability appraisal undertaken in support of the Halsnead Garden
Village Masterplan SPD. This investment is therefore key to integrating all three of the
aims.

Which other local and national strategies will the project contribute to and how? (approx.
300 words)

Locally-led Garden Villages, Towns and Cities Prospectus
Halsnead has national significance as one of only 14 sites in England awarded Garden Village
Status by the Government. The proposed SIF project will directly assist the delivery of this
national prospectus to the benefit of the LCR’s reputation.
Halsnead Masterplan SPD
The Halsnead Masterplan SPD underpins the development of the Halsnead Garden Village
concept and the associated transport infrastructure enhancements outlined in this scheme.

Page 145

15

All components of this scheme have been designed to directly align with the Halsnead
Masterplan SPD (as stated in the response to Q1) by ensuring that all areas of the
development are viable and fully accessible, and are therefore able to reach their full
potential and generate the substantive multiple benefits at the earliest possible opportunity
(as noted in response to Q4 of this application). The Halsnead Masterplan SPD was adopted
by Knowsley Council in June 2017.
Strategy for Knowsley
This scheme contributes to Knowsley Council’s ‘Growth and Jobs’ priority by creating
employment opportunities through investment in commercial developments at Halsnead,
which will enable Knowsley residents to access good quality and well paid employment. The
proposed transport infrastructure not only enables these developments through the
resolution of related viability issues, but also ensures efficient access once the sites are
complete and operational.
The scheme also supports ‘Knowsley the Place’ priority by increasing and expanding
Knowsley’s housing offer with a range of high quality aspirational homes set in the context of
the Garden Village concept with green infrastructure links and green spaces, including the
proposed new Country Park.
Knowsley Local Plan Core Strategy
The Knowsley Local Plan Core Strategy sets out the strategic framework for growth and
development over the period to 2028, and has allocated Halsnead Garden Village as its
largest strategic development site.
NAI Global LCR Superport 2014, Market Analysis Land and Property
The projected demand for logistics facilities in the City Region identifies the need for a
minimum land supply of 418 hectares for logistics. The proposal would contribute 22.5
hectares in this regard and the site proposed for logistics development is specifically
identified in the report.
Liverpool City Region Growth Deal
Unlocking the land assigned for the Halsnead development site contributes to the following
Strategic Priority areas noted in the Liverpool City Region Growth Deal:
•
Skills and business support to enable growth – upgrading the transport network to
enable access to new employment land.
•
Freight and Logistics Hub - by improving our transport network, connecting a site to
the freight network, and creating jobs including access to the Port of Liverpool.
Liverpool City Region Growth Prospectus

Page 146

16

This scheme supports the ambition to deliver a housing offer to meet the needs of the LCR, as
it supports bringing forward the site for housing growth and raises the quality of Knowsley’s
housing offer to underpin economic growth.
It supports the ambition to ‘Be a competitive place’ by investing in transport infrastructure to
enable development of a major employment site which will stimulate growth and create a
high-quality destination to attract investment.
Department for Transport (DfT) - Transport Investment Strategy 2017
This scheme directly aligns with the DfT’s commitment to supporting the creation of new
housing. The DfT recognise that transport infrastructure is one of the keys to unlocking
development and delivering places where people want to live. This scheme will support the
delivery of approximately 1600 new homes, boosting the national housing supply and
contributing significantly to Knowsley’s housing target.
A Transport Plan for Growth
The scheme contributes to the ‘Growth’ transport priority - supporting economic growth in
the city region through increasing employment, levels of productivity and investment. The
scheme also supports the access to opportunity priority by providing access to employment.
Further details of how this scheme aligns with these policies can be found in the attached
MSBC Report.

Case for intervention
6.

Please provide evidence of need or demand for the project. (approx. 300 words)

Halsnead Garden Village is a strategic housing and employment development for the
Liverpool City Region (LCR) and is one of only 14 sites in England awarded Garden Village
Status by the Government. These developments will be distinct new places with their own
community facilities and Halsnead will deliver approximately 1,600 homes and at least 22.5ha
of employment land (delivering in the region of 920 net jobs and £40.5m of GVA per annum),
together with a new Country Park.
Knowsley currently suffers from an unbalanced housing offer with a majority of housing
being of low value and many residents living in homes provided by the social rented sector.
This causes many skilled workers employed in Knowsley to reside in other areas of the city
region and beyond. Recognising that increasing the supply and quality of housing is a key
priority for both Knowsley Council, LCR and National Government, it is clear there is an
established need for a mixed supply of housing types.
There is also a need to develop Knowsley’s employment land offer to help address the issues
caused by the dominant low skilled and low wage economy, by attracting highly skilled
workers, providing employment opportunities and meeting housing need, Halsnead Garden
Village will be key in addressing these issues.

Page 147

17

In order for the Halsnead Garden Village development to address these needs, transport
infrastructure enhancements are required in the first instance to the existing network (Phase
1) to open up the land required for development and secondly (Phase 2) to address any
viability issues. Enhancements to and from the construction of new junctions are required
due to the poor levels of connectivity to the site at present.
A Transport Assessment (TA) was produced and SATURN modelling undertaken by Mott
MacDonald in 2015/16 and this identified that the existing junctions surrounding the
development site require capacity improvements to accommodate background growth and
development generated traffic. There is a need to install and upgrade all of the infrastructure
outlined in this scheme to ensure that all areas of the development are able to reach their full
beneficial potential. The TA also demonstrated a requirement for eight new site access
junctions to provide appropriate access and distribute development traffic; this has since
increased to nine new site access junctions in response to consultation on the Halsnead
Masterplan SPD. Modelling of the traffic impacts of the development also
Further evidence demonstrating the need for this project is set out in the attached MSBC
Report document. Particular reference is also made to the Land Use and Economic
Development Report included as part of this application.
7.

Please explain what barriers/problems the project will address and/or the opportunities it
will unlock. (approx. 300 words)

The key barriers and problems the delivery of the Access to Halsnead Garden Village
application will address are as follows:






It will mitigate the impact of increased traffic on the network as a whole together with
that from the development and ensure the local network is future proofed to
accommodate further growth across the LCR;
It will provide adequate access to strategic housing and employment development
sites to accelerate delivery and ensure the Halsnead Garden Village site is developed
in a comprehensive manner as prescribed in Knowsley’s Local Plan and the Masterplan
SPD; and
It will overcome financial viability issues to ensure the earliest realisation of the
substantive multiple benefits arising from the Halsnead Garden Village, which include
increased jobs, GVA uplift, increased land values and addressing Knowsley’s
unbalanced housing offer.

The overarching opportunity the scheme will unlock is that it will enable the earliest possible
realisation of Halsnead Garden Village, and provide future residents and employers with high
quality connections to the wider LCR and beyond. The Council wishes to use the sites profile
and connections to ensure that it is developed in a way which provides a visible
demonstration of the quality and opportunities that the LCR can offer.
Specifically, the Garden Village development will unlock the following specific opportunities:

Page 148

18

 Deliver a significant volume of high-quality aspirational family housing for the LCR at a
strategic gateway location on the M62, rebalancing housing stock through the
provision of a range of homes to serve the higher end of the market;
 Provide high quality employment floorspace to meet market demand in logistics/B8
employment and exploit its location at the M62/M57 gateway interchange;
 Create a significant number of construction and permanent employment
opportunities;
 Take advantage of the site’s visibility to promote the LCR’s profile and enhance
external perceptions;
 Secure the transformation of the former Cronton Colliery into a new Country Park, and
enhance the environmental infrastructure of the LCR by connecting this resource into
the wider hinterland; and
 Facilitate the concurrent presence of active developers on the site, increasing the rate
of delivery of new homes and employment premises.
8.

State why the project public sector funding is required. What market failures will the
project address? (approx. 300 words)

Market demand studies for Halsnead Garden Village show that the site is well positioned
with strategic connectivity offered by the M62 towards Liverpool and Manchester and the
M57 towards Wigan, as well as Whiston and Prescot rail stations offering connectivity to
Liverpool, Manchester and Warrington and Wigan by sustainable modes.
However, funding for transport infrastructure is needed to unlock the potential development,
as current residual land values (influenced by the associated significant development
infrastructure burden, including a substantial transport infrastructure element) are
prohibitive to landowners/developers. Furthermore the (Phase 1) off-site improvements are
required upfront and are unlikely to be delivered given the potential 18 year delivery
programme together with fragmented ownership and multiple development phases.
Without appropriate incentives to support the private development sector, including the
provision of essential highway mitigation measures and potentially key access points, the site
will not achieve comprehensive development and the Halsnead Garden Village concept will
not be realised in a timely manner for the Liverpool City Region.
A viability study, undertaken by Turley in support of the Halsnead Garden Village SPD has
identified a scheme investment deficit of £11.449m for the residential land and an
investment deficit of £8.018m for the employment land (with ancillary housing element). This
totals a circa £19.5m investment deficit overall which has given rise to this application for
funding.
In specific relation to the housing element, which will be located on the land north of the
M62, the policy compliant viability appraisal produces a Residual Land Value (RLV) of £6.1m,
which equates to £34,915 per gross acre, or £57,217 per net developable acre. The results

Page 149

19

taken directly from the Halsnead Masterplan SPD Delivery & Implementation Advice
Document prepared by Turley in May 2017 are shown below.

Overall, this falls below the minimum site value anticipated to be acceptable to incentivise
the site to developers for delivery of the Halsnead Garden Village scheme. It further
reinforces that without SIF support to the delivery of the off-site improvement works (Phase
1) then the Halsnead Garden Village development site will simply stall.
Similarly, the viability appraisal shows that the land located south of the M62 which is
designated for commercial development has a negative RLV of £1,907,577. A positive RLV
would have represented the potential capital receipt to the present landowners, whilst
allowing for a competitive return to the developer(s). The negative RLV identifies a significant
requirement for financial subsidy in order to bring forward the site for development in
accordance with the design assumptions set out within the Masterplan SPD. In addition to
filling the ‘gap’ of circa £1.9m, there would also be a need to allow for a competitive return to
the landowners (and additional £100,000 per gross acre = £6.111m) in order to incentivise the
release of the land for development.
It is for these evidence based reasons that public funding is required to ‘pump-prime’ the
initial infrastructure required to enable suitable access and bring forward development so
that the benefits detailed in the accompanying Land Use and Economic Development Report
can be realised.

Stakeholder involvement
9.

Who are the main beneficiaries of the project? (approx. 150 words)

Page 150

20

The main beneficiaries of the project are Knowsley and Liverpool City Region residents,
businesses and employers. Providing access to a choice of housing types will not only provide
the current residents of Knowsley and the LCR with a high-quality and diverse housing offer
but will also be beneficial in attracting new residents and their skills to the area. This would
boost the local economy and stimulate economic growth providing additional benefits for
local businesses in the area. Residents would also be provided with a variety of new
employment opportunities once the employment land is accessible which has the potential to
provide approximately 920 net FTE jobs. Further employment opportunities would arise
through the construction of the development.
Pedestrians, cyclists an equestrians around the Halsnead area would also benefit directly
from this scheme and a number of improvements to the highway network would improve
safety for all road users. The facilitation of a new Country Park would also provide an
improved leisure for residents and visitors to the LCR.
10. Who are the main stakeholders and what stakeholder consultation has taken place to date

/ will be undertaken? Please provide evidence (e.g. letters of support) that the key
stakeholders are supportive of the project. (approx. 200 words)
Key stakeholders in the development of the Halsnead Garden Village are parties that own
land within the site as the majority of land is in private ownership, either by developers or
residential land owners. This includes the Land Trust, owners of the former Cronton Colliery,
and statutory utility undertakers all of whom have been consulted as part of the preparation
of the Halsnead Masterplan SPD, adopted in June 2017. Further details can be found in the
supporting Stakeholder Management and Communications Plan.
During production of the Halsnead Masterplan SPD, landowners were invited to several
workshops in September 2016 where the broad options for development were discussed, and
in November 2016 where the preferred Masterplan was presented. Separately to these
consultations, one-to-one meetings were also held with developer land owners to provide a
preview of the Masterplan before publication of the consultation draft SPD. Meetings were
secured with all major landowners in November 2016. Whilst landowners were largely
supportive of proposals for development in the Masterplan SPD, they held varying aspirations
for phasing, developable areas, density, access arrangements and green infrastructure. All
confirmed that they were keen to maintain a line of dialogue with Knowsley Council.
In addition to consulting with landowners The Land Trust, Places Matter!, the CABE Design
Review Panel and Whiston Town Council were also involved in Masterplan development.
Stakeholder responses to the Masterplan during early 2017 provide evidence that they are in
support of the proposed scheme. Landowners responses in support of the scheme stated that
the Halsnead Masterplan SPD reflects their priorities, such as the retention of Lickers Lane
playing fields which also reflects issues raised by Whiston Town Council.

Page 151

21

The Land Trust and Places Matter! are also in support of the scheme as issues they raised
such as prioritising connections with existing communities were addressed within the
Masterplan.
Highways England are responsible for the Strategic Road Network, which includes the M62
and M57 and Tarbock Island. Knowsley Council has worked closely with Highways England in
allocating the Halsnead development site through its Local Plan, and subsequently as part the
Halsnead Masterplan SPD, to identify suitable mitigation measures for development traffic.
This dialogue continues positively with particular regard to the detailed design and delivery
of improvement proposals for Tarbock Island. Without certainty of delivery of improvements
to Tarbock Island then there is distinct possibility that Highways England will object to any
development on Halsnead Garden Village, which would cause the site to stall indefinitely.
Letters of support are included as part of this application package.

Constraints and dependencies
11. Describe any constraints that could affect the successful delivery of the project in line with

its identified objectives (e.g. Government policy or regulation). (approx. 200 words)
A key risk is that despite transport infrastructure investment (sought through this application)
the Halsnead Garden Village development is not brought forward and/or delivery is not
sufficiently accelerated by landowners and developers. To mitigate this risk, the current close
dialogue with all developers and landowners will continue to secure implementation in
accordance with the Masterplan SPD. Furthermore, Knowsley Council is proactively seeking
to establish formal ‘Collaboration Agreements’ with landowners and developers to secure
associated delivery of units alongside the transport infrastructure. Compulsory Purchase
Orders can also be used if necessary to help secure the built-form development.
Planning risks may also affect the delivery of the scheme i.e. if appropriate planning
approvals cannot be obtained, the progression and overall delivery of the scheme will be
delayed. To reduce the risk of this occurring the planning and statutory process requirements
have been identified through the Masterplan SPD development process, as directed by
related policies in the Local Plan Core Strategy. Furthermore, the Council has established a
Halsnead Garden Village Steering Group, which provides dedicated resource to the Halsnead
Garden Village development, thereby ensuring that all statutory processes are facilitated and
any issues overcome in a timely manner.
12. Set out any actions or developments required of others that the success of the project is

dependent on (i.e. external influences on the project). What are the key success factors?
(approx. 200 words)
The success of Halsnead Garden Village will ultimately be determined by the extent to which
development is delivered comprehensively across the site (and multiple benefits realised), in
a way that meets the vision and objectives set within the Masterplan SPD and Knowsley’s

Page 152

22

Local Plan. Close collaboration and discussion between the Council, its Major Development
Team, Masterplan team and delivery partners such as Amey and Highways England, in
relation to wider works at Tarbock Island, will need to take place to ensure procurement and
delivery mechanisms for the interlinked developments at Tarbock Island are aligned. These
delivery considerations need to be informed by (and be consistent with) wider
delivery/viability considerations. Developers will also be required to make appropriate and
proportionate contributions, which include the early provision of a Primary School, strategic
and localised Public Open Space across the site, together with highways and transport
infrastructure within the site.

Part 2 – Economic Narrative and Case
Please revisit the Economic Case set out within the OBC, answering the following questions:

Options considered
13. Please describe the options that have been considered in identifying the preferred way

forward. This should include a minimum of four options:
a. A baseline option representing the do nothing, do minimum or status quo, providing
the counterfactual against which all intervention options can be compared;
Option 1 (Do Minimum)
Option 1, the ‘Do Minimum’ would see off-site junction improvements to seven existing
junctions (listed below) within the vicinity of the development to resolve current capacity
constraints, accommodate background growth and the Halsnead development.
•

Fox’s Bank Lane/Cronton Road

•

Lickers Lane/Fox’s Bank Lane

•

Stoney Lane/Cumber Lane

•

Lickers Lane/Windy Arbor Road

•

Dragon Lane/Windy Arbor Road/Greene’s Road

•

Dragon Lane/Stoney Lane; and



M62 (J6) /M57/A5300 interchange at Tarbock Island.

Improvements to the existing off-site junctions listed above include the addition of traffic
signals and additional lanes to improve traffic flow and capacity. Improvement works to the
Tarbock Island interchange include widening on the existing circulatory carriageway, further
signalisation of the Cronton Road/Tarbock Island junction and carriageway widening to the
M57 off slip, Windy Arbor Road and Cronton Road to improve traffic flow and capacity.

Page 153

23

This option would also see the provision (subject to viability) of two access points; one to the
northern housing part of the site and one to the southern employment section of the
proposed development.
On-site access works proposed in this option are to include a new roundabout junction on
Windy Arbor Road (just north of M62 J6, Tarbock Island) to provide access to the northern
section of the development. This junction includes a new uncontrolled crossing for
pedestrians and a 3m wide footway/cycleway to allow shared use by pedestrians and cyclists.
A second priority junction, serving the southern section of the development provides access
to the Maro employment parcel on Cronton Road. This would include local carriageway
widening achieved by re-alignment of the existing kerbline to create a right turn pocket into
the development site, an uncontrolled crossing for pedestrians and a 3m wide
footway/cycleway to allow shared use by pedestrians and cyclists.
A general arrangement drawing showing the two new access points suggested within this
option is shown below.

b. An option that sets out a less ambition intervention to achieve the core project
objectives;
Option 2 (Do something 1)
This option consists of similar improvements as highlighted in the ‘Do-Minimum’ scenario to
seven existing off-site junctions within the vicinity of the development to resolve current
capacity constraints, accommodate background growth and the Halsnead development.
In addition, this option makes provision (subject to viability) for six new access junctions to
the northern housing section of the development site from Windy Arbor Road, Lickers Lane

Page 154

24

and Fox’s Bank Lane. Three access junctions to the southern employment section of the
development site are also proposed on Cronton Road.
The majority of on-site access works are in the form of new priority junctions to provide
access to both the northern and southern sections of the development site. These junctions
include 2m wide footways, new uncontrolled crossings for pedestrians and right turn pockets
to allow turning traffic to wait in the carriageway without affecting through traffic flow. A
new signalised pedestrian crossing at Pennywood Drive/Lickers Lane is also proposed along
with a new signalised junction on Lickers Lane near to St Leo’s Church and the Community
Centre. Off-site junction improvements are as described in the ‘Do Minimum’ scenario
(Option 1).
A general arrangement drawing of the site access components of this option is shown below.

c. The proposed option, as described in Part 1 (project description); and
Option 3 (Do Something 2) - Preferred Option
Option 3 (Preferred option) features highway capacity improvements to seven existing
junctions to mitigate the impacts of development traffic on the surrounding highway
network. These are similar to those set out in the Do Minimum option.
Summary description of off-site junction improvements

Page 155

25

 Offsite junction J: Fox’s Bank Lane/Cronton Road; proposed signalisation and road
widening to improve capacity and highway safety
 Offsite junction K: Lickers Lane/Fox’s Bank Lane; proposed signalisation together with
footway improvements and vegetation removal to improve capacity and highway safety
 Offsite junction L: Stoney Lane/Cumber Lane; proposed signalisation to improve capacity
and highway safety
 Offsite junction M: Stoney Lane/Dragon Lane; carriageway widening and creation of right
turn pocket within existing signalised junction to improve capacity
 Offsite junction N: Windy Arbor Road/Greene’s Road; reconfiguration of existing signalised
junction to improve capacity and highway safety
 Offsite junction O: Lickers Lane/Windy Arbor Road; proposed carriageway widening and
signalisation to improve capacity and highway safety
 M62 (J6) /M57/A5300 interchange at Tarbock Island; carriageway and bridge widening on
Windy Arbor Road approach together with quadrant widening to the gyratory and
additional lane provision on the M57 approach, and the signalisation of existing
uncontrolled arms together with general enhancements to improve capacity and highway
safety
These improvements are shown in the following figure.

Page 156

26

This preferred option also provides for the creation of nine high quality, gateway junctions, to
the development sites; six to the northern housing section and three to the southern
employment section that will act as gateways to Halsnead Garden Village. The majority of
these junctions are roundabouts.
The nine new access junctions are shown on the following plan together with a brief
description.

Summary description of new access junctions










Access junction A: A 3-arm gateway roundabout on Windy Arbor Road South
Access junction B: A 3-arm gateway roundabout on Windy Arbor Road North
Access junction C: Cycle and pedestrian access on Lickers Lane west (Pennywood
Drive)
Access junction D: A 3-arm signalised junction on Lickers Lane East
Access junction E: A 3-arm gateway roundabout on Fox’s Bank Lane North
Access junction F: A 3-arm gateway roundabout on Fox’s Bank Lane South
Access junction G: A 3-arm gateway roundabout on Cronton Road East
Access junction H: A 3-arm signalised junction on the mid-section of Cronton Road
Access junction I: A priority access ghost island junction on Cronton Road West

Page 157

27

d. An alternative option(s) that has a different combination of benefit, risk and cost
due to variations in the project’s scale and/or scope.
Option 4 (Do Something 3)
Proposals for option 4 match those presented for the preferred option (Option 3) but with
the addition of a new bridge over the M62 linking the northern and southern sections of the
development. This bridge would be a steel structure with two 3.65m traffic lanes and 3.5m
footways to enable shared use by pedestrians and cyclists. The bridge would provide
increased permeability (internally) between the housing and employment sites, and create an
additional north-south link between Lickers Lane and Cronton Road. Off-site junction
improvements are as described in the previous three options and illustrated in the preferred
option. The following plan illustrates the option components.

Along with a description of the main options, identify the relative advantages and
disadvantages of each option.

Option 1 (Do
Minimum)

Description

Advantages

Disadvantages

Off-site junction
improvements to seven
existing junctions
including addition of
traffic signals and lanes
and improvement works

Improvements to seven
existing local off-site
junctions which would
improve traffic flow,
capacity and improve
resilience and journey

Does not facilitate
comprehensive development
of the site as required by the
Local Plan and Masterplan
SPD. Consequently, the
benefits derived would be

Page 158

28

Option 2 (Do
Something 1)

to the Tarbock Island
interchange.
Minimal access points
(subject to viability) to
the north and south of
the site and
improvements to
existing off site
junctions.
On-site works (subject
to viability) include a
new roundabout
junction on Windy
Arbor Road and a 3m
wide footway/cycleway.
A second priority
junction (subject to
viability) will provide
access from Cronton
Road.

times within the local
highway network.

severely limited.
Both the northern and
southern sites are served by
only one access.
Vehicular traffic will be
concentrated at these points
making it progressively
difficult to access the site as
it is developed.
Construction traffic and
residents would have to use
the same access points.
Permeability for pedestrians
and cyclists would be poor
due to the minimal number
of site access points.
This could slow down the
number of housing outlets
on the site and therefore
slow delivery rates.
No additional internal access
facilitated between northern
and southern sites, although
connectivity exists via
Tarbock Island and Fox’s
Bank Lane and traffic
modelling does not identify
requirement for additional
access across the M62.

Similar improvements
as highlighted in the DoMinimum scenario to
seven existing off-site
junctions.
Off-site junction
improvements are as
described in Do
Minimum (Option 1).
Six new access junctions
to the north of the
development site and
three to the south (all
subject to viability).
On site access works
(subject to viability)

Comprehensive
development and timely
delivery would be
achieved through the
facilitation of access at
all parcels.
Nine new priority
junctions would
distribute traffic around
the sites.
Permeability for cyclists
and pedestrians would
be improved.
General site traffic and
construction traffic
could use separate

The Halsnead Garden Village
Masterplan SPD sets out a
clear need for distinctive
development, embedding
the garden village principles,
to increase market demand.
The use of non-descript
standard form priority
junctions would therefore
not accord with this
requirement.
The priority junctions would
not facilitate additional
future growth across
Knowsley and the wider LCR.
No additional internal access

Page 159

29

Option 3 (Do
Something 2)

include new priority
junctions, a new
signalised pedestrian
crossing and a new
signalised junction on
Lickers Lane.

access points whilst the
sites are being
developed.
Improvements to seven
existing local off-site
junctions which would
improve traffic flow and
capacity and improve
resilience and journey
times within the local
highway network.

facilitated between northern
and southern sites, although
connectivity exists via
Tarbock Island and Fox’s
Bank Lane and traffic
modelling does not identify
requirement for additional
access across the M62.

Similar improvements
as highlighted in the DoMinimum scenario
seven existing off-site
junctions.
Off-site junction
improvements are as
described in Options 1
and 2.
Six new high-quality
gateway access
junctions to the north of
the development and
three high quality
gateway access
junctions to the south
(all subject to viability).
On-site access works
(subject to viability)
include a combination
of roundabout and
priority junction
accesses to both the
northern and southern
sections.
The access works
include footways and
cycleways, together
with associated crossing
facilities.

Comprehensive
development and timely
delivery would be
achieved through the
facilitation of access at
all parcels.
Nine new high-quality
gateway access
junctions would provide
a distinct sense of
arrival and place making
for Halsnead Garden
Village in accordance
with the Masterplan.
The new access
junctions would
distribute traffic
effectively around the
sites.
Permeability for cyclists
and pedestrians would
be improved.
General site traffic and
construction traffic
could use separate
access points whilst the
sites are being
developed.
Improvements to seven
existing local off-site
junctions which would
improve traffic flow and
capacity and improve
resilience and journey
times within the local

No additional internal access
facilitated between northern
and southern sites, although
connectivity exists via
Tarbock Island and Fox’s
Bank Lane and traffic
modelling does not identify
requirement for additional
access across the M62.

Page 160

30

highway network.
Option 4 (Do

Something 3)

Off-site junction
improvements are as
described in the
previous three options
Proposals match those
presented for Do
Something 2 (Option 3)
but with the addition of
a new bridge over the
M62. A steel structure
with two 3.65m traffic
lanes and 3.5m
footways.

Comprehensive
development and timely
delivery would be
achieved through the
facilitation of access at
all parcels.
Nine new high-quality
gateway access
junctions would provide
a distinct sense of
arrival and place making
for Halsnead Garden
Village in accordance
with the Masterplan.
The new access
junctions would
distribute traffic
effectively around the
sites.
Permeability for cyclists
and pedestrians would
be further improved by
additional link over
M62, addressing
severance issue.
The new internal link
over the M62 would
reduce development
traffic flows through
Tarbock Island and
along Windy Arbor Road
and Fox’s Bank Lane,
thereby reducing impact
and potentially reducing
scope of development
traffic mitigation
proposal thereon.
General site traffic and
construction traffic
could use separate
access points whilst the
sites are being
developed.
Improvements to seven
existing local off-site

Page 161

Increased costs.
New link over the M62 does
not form part of the access
and movement strategies
described in the Masterplan
SPD.
New link between northern
and southern sites over the
M62 may encourage ratrunning within the site.
Delivery risk linked to
provision of new structure of
M62 mainline.
Increased dependencies with
Highways England.
Additional future
maintenance liabilities
associated with new
structure over the M62.

31

junctions, which would
improve traffic flow and
capacity and improve
resilience and journey
times within the local
highway network.
14. Set out the overall public sector cost and amount of SIF support requested (in constant

prices i.e. excluding inflation) and discounted in line with HM Treasury guidance) under
each option (this should include both the gross and net cost allowing for public sector loan
repayments and/or other public sector revenues).
(Constant prices,
discounted, £000s)

Public sector cost Public sector cost SIF support - gross
- net
gross

SIF support - net

Option 1

£12,521,805

£12,521,805

£12,521,805

£12,521,805

Option 2

£15,009,524

£15,009,524

£15,009,524

£15,009,524

Option 3

£21,168,140

£21,168,140

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815 –
(Phase 2)

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815 –
(Phase 2)

Option 4

£27,723,776

£27,723,776

£27,723,776

£27,723,776

Estimating benefits
15. For each option, please populate the following table with expected tangible outputs -

periods are in Financial Year (FY). Please state whether the outputs are direct or indirect.
Rows should be added to the table to incorporate all principal outputs of the project and
additional options, where relevant. Include outputs only in the year when they will be fist
generated.

Expected tangible
outputs / outcomes

Direct or
indirect

Total

2017/18

Employment (full-time equivalent) – direct
Option 1

Direct

Option 3

Direct

Direct

2019/
20

2020/
21

2021
/22

Future years

NOTE: Job figures are cumulative

1,022 gross jobs

50 net
jobs

177
net
jobs

282
net
jobs

524
net
jobs

Rest of net
jobs fully built
up by
2026/27

922 net additional jobs

50 net
jobs

177
net
jobs

282
net
jobs

524
net
jobs

Rest of net
jobs fully built
up by
2026/27

1,022 gross jobs

50 net

922 net additional jobs

Option 2

2018/
19

1,022 gross jobs

Page 162

177

282

524

Rest of net

32

Expected tangible
outputs / outcomes

Direct or
indirect

Total

2017/18

922 net additional jobs

Option 4

Direct

1,022 gross jobs

2019/
20

2020/
21

2021
/22

Future years

jobs

net
jobs

net
jobs

net
jobs

jobs fully built
up by
2026/27

524
net
jobs

Rest of net
jobs fully built
up by
2026/27

50 net
jobs

922 net additional jobs

Employment (full-time equivalent) – indirect

2018/
19

177
net
jobs

282
net
jobs

NOTE: Job figures are cumulative

Option 1

282 multiplier jobs

15

54

87

160

Rest of
multiplier jobs
build up by
2026/27

Option 2

282 multiplier jobs

15

54

87

160

Rest of
multiplier jobs
build up by
2026/27

Option 3

282 multiplier jobs

15

54

87

160

Rest of
multiplier jobs
build up by
2026/27

Option 4

282 multiplier jobs

15

54

87

160

Rest of
multiplier jobs
build up by
2026/27

Employment (full-time equivalent) – construction
Option 1

160 net jobs

*No clear
construction
trajectory
known.

Option 2

201 net jobs

*No clear
construction
trajectory
known.

Option 3

201 net jobs

*No clear
construction
trajectory
known.

Option 4

201 net jobs

*No clear
construction
trajectory
known.

Other output: Commercial floorspace constructed
Option 1

22.5ha (87,400m² Gross
External Area (GEA))

24,597
m²

37133
m²

12536
m²

6580
m²

6580
m²

22.5ha
(87,400m ²
GEA)

Option 2

22.5ha (87,400m² GEA)

24,597
m²

37133
m²

12536
m²

6580
m²

6580
m²

22.5ha
(87,400m ²

Page 163

33

Expected tangible
outputs / outcomes

Direct or
indirect

Total

2017/18

2018/
19

2019/
20

2020/
21

2021
/22

Future years

GEA)
Option 3

22.5ha (174,900m²)

Option 4

22.5ha (174,900m²
GEA)

24,597
m²
24,597
m²

37133
m²

12536
m²

6580
m²

6580
m²

22.5ha
(87,400m²
GEA)

37133
m²

12536
m²

6580
m²

6580
m²

22.5ha
(87,400m ²
GEA)

Other output: Houses built (per annum)
Option 1

1120 houses

33

67

50

50

Rest of
houses built
by 2040

Option 2

1600 houses

26

54

80

94

Rest of
houses built
by 2040

Option 3

1600 houses

33

67

100

117

Rest of
houses built
by 2035

Option 4

1600 houses

33

67

100

117

Rest of
houses built
by 2035

Other output: Number of existing junction improvements
Option 1

Direct

7

0

0

3

4

0

Option 2

Direct

7

0

0

3

4

0

Option 3

Direct

7

0

0

3

4

0

Option 4

Direct

7

0

0

3

4

0

Other output: Number of new junctions created
Option 1

Direct

2

0

2

0

0

0

Option 2

Direct

9

0

3

4

2

0

Option 3

Direct

9

0

3

4

2

0

Option 4

Direct

9

0

3

4

2

0

Other output: Length of new footpath/cycleways constructed (m)
Option 1

Direct

200

0

200

0

0

0

Option 2

Direct

900

0

300

400

200

0

Option 3

Direct

900

0

300

400

200

0

Option 4

Direct

1000

0

300

400

300

0

Other output: Number of new pedestrian/cycle routes created
Option 1

Direct

2

0

2

0

0

0

Option 2

Direct

9

0

3

4

2

0

Option 3

Direct

9

0

3

4

2

0

Option 4

Direct

10

0

3

4

2

0

Page 164

34

Expected tangible
outputs / outcomes

Direct or
indirect

Total

2017/18

2018/
19

2019/
20

2020/
21

2021
/22

Future years

Other output: Number of new pedestrian crossings created
Option 1

Direct

7

0

2

2

3

0

Option 2

Direct

14

0

3

6

5

0

Option 3

Direct

14

0

3

6

5

0

Option 4

Direct

15

0

3

6

6

0

Explain below how the project is delivering the outputs/outcomes identified and the
methodology, assumptions and evidence used to calculate them (approx. 250 words).
The wider economic benefits have been calculated using Mott MacDonald’s Transparent
Economic Assessment Model (TEAM), which assesses the economic benefits arising from
land-use changes, calculated in-line with HM Treasury Green Book principles of
additionality. The gross economic benefits associated with the land use changes are
calculated and local data analysed to convert these to net economic benefits (once
accounting for deadweight). The transport outputs have been derived for the alternate
option designs and the phased delivery programmes associated with their construction.
With the exception of the do-minimum option, all of the do-something options assessed
are likely to generate similar wider economic impacts for Knowsley and the LCR as the
preferred option (which is fully assessed in the supporting Land Use and Economic
Development report). Again, with the exception of the do-minimum option, they will all
fundamentally provide comprehensive access to Halsnead and thereby support
development which will provide the housing and economic benefits noted above.
However, and most importantly, the do-minimum option was tested using an
appropriate transport model which found that the single housing site access junction in
the north of the development would be significantly over capacity (defined as greater
than 85%) in the AM peak hour, with a volume/capacity of around 110%, and a delay of
4.5 minutes, if the full housing allocation of 1600 units was delivered. The transport
model does not include any representation of the internal roads within the site, so no
delay inside the site has been considered in this analysis.
Tests have been undertaken to determine what level of housing could be supported by
this single junction, and they have found that if the number of trips decreased by 30%
this access point would be at capacity. This implies that only an estimated 1120 houses,
rather than the anticipated and desired 1600, could be developed with the do-minimum
transport scheme, reducing the net social value of housing benefit from £103.6m to an
estimated £75m. This scenario would therefore not support comprehensive development
as defined in Knowsley’s Local Plan and the Masterplan SPD and as such reduce
associated wider benefits such as GVA uplift and land value uplift. The inability to bring

Page 165

35

all housing forward for development would also have a significant detrimental effect on
temporary construction jobs.
It is also of note that the do-minimum would severely limit the number of housebuilders
that could deliver the development due to the availability of a single access point, and
consequently the housing delivery rate would be significantly less than for other options.
The housing delivery rate in Option 2 would be less than that of Options 3 and 4 because
its proposed site access solutions would not provide the desired gateway arrival points
conducive with the Halsnead Garden Village principles and therefore demand for
development would be reduced.
The impacts on GVA uplift and jobs are explained further in response to question 16.
The Land Use and Economic Development Report details the full methodology and
assumptions in detail. In summary those assumptions used for the additionality analysis
(to convert gross to net jobs) are as follows:
Assumption

Level

Justification

Additionality assumptions
Deadweight

10-30%

The strategic infrastructure is clearly required to unlock the development of
Halsnead. However, it is unwise to assume no development would come forward
over the planning period but it is still deemed unlikely. Therefore, deadweight is set
at 10% for all of the employment land except one parcel of land, which is set at 30%,
given this plot of land is being actively marketed already. There is a chance that this
land could be developed without the infrastructure but it is unlikely and the
investment would almost certainly accelerate delivery.

Displacement

15%

Reflecting high levels of occupier demand in the area and growth initiatives to build
freight and logistics sector displacement is considered to be lower than that
suggested in the guidance (25% for low displacement, Additionality Guide, p.30).

Leakage

14%

Based on travel to work flows approximately 14% of LCR jobs are filled by non LCR
residents. Therefore, leakage is expected to be relatively low. This is also in line with
the best practice ready reckoner (Additionality Guide, p.27).

Composite
multiplier

1.44

Average linkages across the economy assumed, following guidance (based on
evidence collected) on B2/B8 developments and the average ready reckoner values
within the best practice guidance. (Additionality Guide, p.35-36).

£44,000

Regional Accounts, ONS, 2015 and Workforce Jobs, North West, 2014 and workforce
jobs, North West, ONS, 2014.
In reality, the average could be higher for B8 use but the regional economy average
is used to ensure conservative approach given level of unknowns relating to type of
development.

Data assumptions
GVA per worker

The accompanying report also sets out other key benefits for tax related impacts and the land
value analysis and furthermore calculates that over a 21-year period (2017-2038) the net
present value of the benefits would be in the range of £442.3m and the overall net present
value of the costs and benefits is £421.1m.
16. What are the main outcomes that each option is expected to generate? Please explain

how each option will generate or contribute to increased economic activity (as measured

Page 166

36

using Gross Value Added (GVA)) and employment. This could include indirect and longer
term benefits – although if these are identified please indicate whether and how much
additional public funding would be required to generate them (approx. 750 words)
As noted in Question 15 all do-something options assessed (with the exception of the do
minimum option) are likely to generate similar wider economic impacts for Knowsley and the
LCR as the preferred options because they will all fundamentally provide access to the
Halsnead Garden Village development and thereby support development which will provide
the housing and economic benefits noted here. However, the do-minimum option
significantly reduces the likely number of homes developed (through the impact of secondary
access constraints to the site) leading to fewer construction jobs and a much smaller
quantum of GVA generation as a result of building only circa 1120 homes compared to the
1,600 homes associated with all other options.
The development of employment land in the south of the site is, however, expected to be
unaffected by capacity issues at this single junction serving this area. Based on this, the same
quantum of employment land is anticipated to be delivered under the do-minimum as under
all other options. The breakdown of the wider economic impact of each option is set out
below.

Option
1
2
3
4

Permanent impacts
Total net
Total net GVA, £m
jobs
p.a
922
£40.5
922
£40.5
922
£40.5
922
£40.5

Temporary construction
impacts
Total net
Total net GVA,
jobs
£m
160
£7.0
201
£9.0
201
£9.0
201
£9.0

The table above shows the cost of the whole development in terms of ‘lost’ construction jobs
and associated GVA of the Do-minimum option relative to all other Do-something options.
This equates to 44 fewer jobs and £2m less of net additional GVA during the course of the
construction period for option 1, compared to the other options”.
All of these construction figures include the jobs and GVA generated from the construction of
the employment developments on the site. Focusing solely on the housing development in
the north of the site, the difference between the construction of the maximum of 1120
homes under do-minimum option and the 1,600 homes enabled by the do-something options
is set out below.

Page 167

37

Temporary construction impacts – housing only
Option Net additional jobs Net additional GVA, £m
1
102
£4.5
2
146
£6.4
3
146
£6.4
4
146
£6.4
This shows the significant difference between the Do-Minimum, Option 1 and all other
options in terms of construction impacts. In addition to this, the reduction in housing
numbers associated with the Do-minimum compared to the other options is equal to a
reduction of approximately £500,000 per annum in council tax rates from the homes not built
under Option 1. The resident population of Halsnead Garden Village would also be
significantly lower under Option 1 compared to Options 2, 3 and 4. This difference is
approximately 1,000 residents who could not be accommodated at the Garden Village
development.
However, the do-something options (2, 3 and 4) generate:





922 (permanent) net additional jobs and £40.5m of net additional GVA per annum;
201 (temporary) net additional construction jobs and £9m of net additional GVA
during the construction period (of which 146 jobs and £6.4m is directly due to the
construction of housing; and
Additional benefits of approximately £9.1m from employment related taxes (PAYE
and NI), £1.7m per annum in council tax revenues and £1.2m per annum in business
rates.

17. Please explain the other wider quantifiable benefits (including social and environmental

effects) that each option will generate. (approx. 250 words)
Although the scheme is at FBC stage and detailed designs have been undertaken, timescales
have not permitted the completion of surveys or assessments to be able to quantify the
following benefits, although environmental surveys are in progress at the time of writing. The
likely environmental and social benefits set out are applicable to options 2 to 4 (and to a
lesser extent option 1) and include:
1. Improvements to drainage associated with new road junctions will reduce the
incidence of surface water run-off, including potentially contaminated surface
water;
2. New pedestrian and cycle routes within the proposed Garden Village that
accommodate the facilities/amenities and the new housing developments.
3. Increased physical activity and health benefits as a result of new cycle and
pedestrian provision and creation of a new Country Park that promote and
encourage active travel;

Page 168

38

4. Improved social, employment and economic benefits by improved accessibility to
new facilities, amenities and jobs from the new residential development;
5. Development of areas of brownfield land, reducing the availability of potential
ground contaminants and presence of invasive plant species; and
6. The proposed creation of a new Country Park and green-infrastructure
development will result in new habitat establishment/creation and wildlife
enhancement, resulting in a gain for biodiversity if implemented correctly.
Once surveying work is complete the anticipated improvements to brownfield land, new
habitat creation, increase in employment opportunities and improvements to site drainage
will likely be quantified and verified via survey’s and statistical analysis in the future after the
scheme has been implemented.
18. Where one or more of the intervention options is expected to result in other, less tangible

wider benefits that are difficult to quantify, undertake a weighting and scoring assessment
of the qualitative benefits associated with each option. Please explain each weight and
score.
A weight (0 to 100) should be applied to each wider benefit, reflecting its relative
importance, with a score (1 to 10) given to each option in terms of how well it delivers the
benefit in question. The respective weights and scores should then be multiplied together
to provide a total weighted score.
Rows should be added to the table to incorporate all key wider benefits of the project
Weighting and scoring of the qualitative benefits
Wider benefit

Weight

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3

Option 4

Score

Weight
x score

Score

Weight
x score

Score

Weight
x score

Score

Weight
x score

Provision of
green space

25

4

100

10

250

10

250

10

250

Construction
sector –
potential for
training
opportunities.

40

4

160

10

400

10

400

10

400

Environmental Air quality
improvements

5

1

5

2

10

2

10

6

30

Environmental Carbon per mile
per capita
reduction

5

1

5

2

10

2

10

6

30

Environmental -

20

3

60

5

100

7

140

7

140

Page 169

39

Weighting and scoring of the qualitative benefits
Wider benefit

Weight

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3

Option 4

Score

Weight
x score

Score

Weight
x score

Score

Weight
x score

Score

Weight
x score

5

1

5

2

10

3

15

6

30

100

25

335

32

780

34

825

34

880

Potential
redevelopment/
improvement of
brownfield
areas
Environmental Drainage
improvements
associated with
new
cycleways/high
ways

Total

 Provision of green space scores 10 as Halsnead Garden Village will incorporate a new
Country Park, linked by high-quality green corridors, and form part of an extensive
network of Green Infrastructure. This will build and enhance on the Green
Infrastructure and leisure and recreation facilities in the Borough and LCR, providing
associated wellbeing benefits. This benefit has been allocated a high weighting as the
provision of green space will be central to the development of Halsnead as a Garden
Village. The importance of encouraging modes of active travel has also been
recognised as important, in light of issues of health deprivation across Knowsley, and
taken into consideration when assigning a weight to this particular benefit.
 Construction sector – potential for training opportunities scores 10 because given the
scale of the development site there are clear opportunities for Knowsley to ensure
that construction companies use local labour wherever possible and provide training
opportunities such as Apprenticeships. Wider benefits to the construction sector has
been given the highest weighting due to the importance of economic jobs across many
key local and regional policies, such as Knowsley’s Economic Growth Plan, which
states that economic growth will be concentrated in advanced manufacturing and
housing.
 Environmental: Brownfield areas - The improvements/redevelopment of brownfield
areas has also been given a high weighting as the development makes use of the
former Cronton Colliery transforming the land into an economically productive area
able to provide many benefits for the wider area of Knowsley. Scores are lower for
Option 1 as this option provides only minimal access to the land.

Page 170

40

 Air quality, Carbon miles and drainage have been given the lowest weighting as they
are not recognised as primary objectives of the scheme. However, these are still
beneficial to the areas and so have been given some consideration. Scores are also
relatively low as the ability of the options to deliver in relation to realisation of these
benefits is likely only to be marginal. There is recognition that Option 4 would provide
greater opportunity to derive benefits through the inclusion of a new link over the
M62 and reduced impact on the existing network by development traffic.

19. How does the project respect the principle of sustainable development? In particular how

does the project maximise positive environmental impacts or mitigate potential negative
impacts (with regard to the “polluter pays” principle where appropriate)?
One of the primary objectives of the scheme is to improve/resolve existing capacity,
congestion and delay issues, together with associated pollution impacts, on the transport
network adjoining Halsnead Garden Village to the benefit of sustainable development.
Another objective of the scheme is to unlock land through the provision of access to facilitate
development, which all include the creation of a new Country Park, linked by high quality
green corridors, forming part of an extensive network of connected green infrastructure
accessible to the wider communities of Knowsley.
As a sustainable development, achieving these primary objectives must ensure the current
needs can be met without compromising future needs. The environmental impacts associated
with the project and their sustainable mitigation measures are summarised below, but a
detailed analysis can be found in the appended Environmental Constraints Report.
Environmental Impact

Sustainable Project Mitigation Measures

Surface water flooding

Improvements to site drainage associated with new road
infrastructure that will stem from development as a
result of unlocking the land through provision of road
access will reduce the incidence of surface water run-off,
including potentially contaminated surface water.
Potential water management through SuDS, comprising
a network of attenuation features including swales and
attenuation basins.
The project will result in areas of current brownfield land
being improved, reducing the availability of potential
ground contaminants and the presence of invasive plant
species. This will be done by voluntary clean-up of
impacted ground through the planning process.
Where appropriate, excess materials generated during
excavation and construction would be retained and
managed for re-use on site, thereby reducing

Brownfield land

Construction generated
waste materials

Page 171

41

Habitat loss

requirement for landfill, associated vehicle movements
and the need for imported virgin materials.
Potential existing habitat loss through creation of new
infrastructure and housing will be mitigated through the
creation of a new Country Park and green-infrastructure
development. This will result in new habitat
establishment/creation and wildlife enhancement,
resulting in a gain for biodiversity if implemented
correctly.

Establishing new road connections, which incorporate accessible alternative methods of
transport including cycling and walking, is consistent with Knowsley Council’s Sustainable
Transport (SO6) objective noted in Knowsley’s Local Plan, which states “To ensure new
development in Knowsley encourages a reduction in the overall need to travel, and prioritises
sustainable transport such as walking, cycling and public transport”. This will help to ensure
accessibility and linkage between housing areas and employment locations, shopping, leisure,
culture, health care, education, community and sporting facilities, green spaces and other
services.
Furthermore by providing access to encourage development, there is potential to deliver a
truly integrated and mixed use development, incorporating sustainable modes of transport,
recreational and wildlife areas with significant health and wellbeing and biodiversity benefits
and significant new employment opportunities.

20. How will you ensure that equality between men and women as well as gender perspective

are taken into account and promoted throughout the preparation and implementation of
the project?
What steps will you take to ensure accessibility for persons with disabilities are taken into
account throughout the preparation and implementation of the project?
In light of the Equality Act 2010 how does your proposed project further the following
aims:




The need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act.
The need to advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who don’t.
The need to foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who don’t.

This project will provide enhanced measures to meet the accessibility needs to persons with
disabilities. This includes improved footway surfacing and pedestrian crossing points to make
journeys to and around the site on foot safer and easier. The Knowsley Council ‘Ensuring a

Page 172

42

choice of Travel Supplementary Planning Document’ states that design of new developments
provide a good level of accessibility to the whole community.
The Equalities Act places a duty on Local Authorities to promote and include disability
equality in their work. The Equality Act 2010 states that it is unlawful to public authority to
discriminate in the exercise of its public functions, including highways functions. The
infrastructure for the Halsnead Garden Village project has been designed to the latest
standards which take account of the needs of mobility impaired and disabled persons, for
example at proposed junctions, footpaths are at a minimum width of 2m to allow mobility
scooter users to travel along the footpath with ease. Where footpaths meet road crossings
tactile paving and dropped kerbs have been built in to ensure a step free transition between
the footpath and the road surface. Footpaths have been designed with minimal street clutter
and pedestrian crossings have been designed to include visual and audible feedback.
As part of the design process a Non-Motorized User audit and Road Safety Audit will be
undertaken on proposed designs at different stages of the project. These audits are required
as part of the design process for any new highway infrastructure or changes to existing and
examine the road safety and user implications of changes to the Highway network and with a
focus on vulnerable road users such as pedestrians, cyclists, mobility impaired and disabled
persons.
With regard to the Equality Act 2010 which legally protects people from discrimination in the
workplace and in wider society, under this act, local authorities have a public sector Equality
Duty which means that public bodies have to consider all individuals when carrying out their
day to day work in shaping policy, delivering services and in relation to their own employees.
This scheme is not targeted at one specific group of people with a specific set of
characteristics and does not discriminate against any group of people with a protected
characteristic. Opening up the land to support the Halsnead development is equally beneficial
to both men and women and benefits of the scheme will be felt by people of all ages as the
site consists of a range of amenities and facilities and will benefit both those living in
Halsnead and those already living in the surrounding area.
21. Please explain the level of ‘additionality’1 associated with the benefits under each

intervention option at both the LCR level and the UK level. Reference should be made to
the Homes and Communities Agency’s Additionality Guide2. (approx. 300 words)

1

Additionality is the extent to which activity takes place at all, on a larger scale, earlier or within a specific designated area or target
group as a result of the public sector intervention. In order to assess the net additional impact of the project the following factors will
need to be considered: Leakage - the proportion of outputs that benefit those outside of the project’s target or reference area or
group; Displacement - the proportion of project outputs accounted for by reduced outputs elsewhere in the target area;
Substitution - this effect arises where a firm substitutes one activity for a similar one (such as recruiting a jobless person while
another employee loses a job) to take advantage of public sector assistance; Multiplier effects - further economic activity
associated with additional local income and local supplier purchases; and Deadweight - output which would have occurred without
the project – this is assessed through the reference case i.e. the do nothing option.

Page 173

43

As outlined in questions 15 and 16 the gross and net economic impact of all options is
assumed to be the same (with the exception of the do-minimum option), given all will unlock
Halsnead Garden Village for residential and commercial development and therefore help
realise the economic benefits (any differences in the scale of development are likely to be
small).
The economic assessment demonstrates the following:
 Gross economic impact of 1,022 jobs generating £44.9m of GVA per annum. It is
unlikely from a macroeconomic perspective that any of these benefits would be
additional at a UK level (given they are likely to take place where the market is
stronger if not accommodated here).
 Net economic impact of 922 jobs generating £40.5m of GVA per annum, at the LCR
level. The following key additionality assumptions are made to justify this level:
Additionality assumptions
Deadweight

1030%

The strategic infrastructure is clearly required to unlock the development of Halsnead
but it is unwise to assume no development at all would come forward over the
planning period. Deadweight is set at 10% for all of the employment land except one
area, which is set at 30%, given this plot of land is being actively marketed already.

Displacement

15%

Reflecting high levels of occupier demand in the area and growth initiatives to build
freight and logistics sector displacement is considered to be lower than that suggested
in the guidance (25% for low displacement, Additionality Guide, p.30).

Leakage

14%

Based on travel to work flows approximately 14% of LCR jobs are filled by non LCR
residents. Therefore, leakage is expected to be relatively low. This is also in line with
the best practice ready reckoner (Additionality Guide, p.27).

Composite multiplier

1.44

Average linkages across the economy assumed, following guidance (based on
evidence collected) on B2/B8 developments and the average ready reckoner values
within the best practice guidance. (Additionality Guide, p.35-36).

 Given these findings the overall additionality of the project is around 89.5%. This is a
high figure but demonstrates that the LCR has a shortage of strategic employment
space coming forward to support its growth aspirations for the logistics sector.
Note: The accompanying Land Use and Economic Development report fully explains the
assumptions and modelling that has been undertaken to convert economic impacts from
gross to net, following the Additionality Guide and using local data to inform
assumptions.

22. Explain how the intervention will ensure that inputs are at a minimum cost given the

required quality. For example, will the final costs be identified following a competitive
procurement process? (approx. 150 words)
2

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/additionality-guide

Page 174

44

The costs for the project have been determined on the basis of detailed design work and
calculated using recently tendered rates for similar highway improvement schemes in
Knowsley, together with current live unit rates within the Knowsley term-maintenance
contract. Estimates from statutory undertaking authorities have also been obtained and
applied. As set out elsewhere in this submission, final costs will be determined through
competitive tendering processes based on the detailed design work where all submissions
will be assessed against cost/quality and delivery of similar projects. The tender process will
be conducted in full accordance with the Council’s established formal Finance and Contract
Procedure Rules, which can be seen via the following hyperlink FPR's and CPR's. There will
also be opportunities to consider complementary delivery of the proposed new site access
junctions with the respective developers across Halsnead to secure minimum costs.

Risk analysis
23. Please complete the Risk Register in the table below, identifying the main risks associated

with each option and overall risk score. Please explain the basis for the risks scores under
each option. (approx. 200 words)
Against each risk, a score should be given to the probability (P) of the risk arising – ranging
from very high (a maximum score of 5) to very low (a score of 1). The impact (I) of each risk
should also be assessed, using the same scoring range as has been used for probability (i.e.
a range of 1-5). The overall risk score (S) is calculated by multiplying the probability score
by the impact score (giving a maximum score for each risk of 25, representing an extreme
risk).
Rows should be added to the table to incorporate all principal risks of the project.
Risk Register
Key risk

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3

P

I

S
(PxI)

P

I

S
(PxI)

1. StrategicPolitical Risk

4

4

16

1

1

1

2. StrategicLegislative Risk

5

5

25

1

1

1

3. StrategicPolicy Risk

5

5

25

2

2

4. StrategicStaff Risk

2

1

2

2

5. StrategicInternal
Communication

2

1

2

2

P

Option 4

I

S
(PxI)

P

I

S
(PxI)

1

1

2

2

4

1

1

1

3

4

12

4

1

1

1

3

3

9

1

2

1

1

1

3

3

9

1

2

1

1

2

1

2

1

Page 175

1

45

Risk Register
Key risk

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3

Option 4

P

I

S
(PxI)

P

I

S
(PxI)

P

I

S
(PxI)

P

I

S
(PxI)

6. StrategicExternal
Communication
Risk

3

3

9

3

3

9

1

2

2

3

3

9

7. StrategicConstruction
Programme Risk

2

2

4

2

3

6

2

3

6

4

4

16

8. StrategicStakeholder Risk

5

5

25

2

4

8

1

3

3

4

4

16

9. StrategicRegulation Risk

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

2

4

10. StrategicProcurement
Risk

1

3

3

1

4

4

1

4

4

2

4

8

11. StrategicPlanning Risk

5

5

25

2

3

6

1

3

3

3

3

9

12. FundingInflation Risk

1

3

3

1

4

4

1

3

3

3

5

15

13. FundingCost Risk

2

2

4

3

4

12

2

3

6

4

4

16

14. FundingFunding Claim
Risk

1

1

1

1

2

2

1

2

2

1

4

4

15. FundingCost Estimate
Risk

2

2

4

2

3

6

2

3

6

4

4

16

16.
InfrastructureProvider Risk

1

3

3

2

4

8

2

3

6

4

4

16

17.
InfrastructureInternal
Interface Risk

3

2

6

3

2

6

2

3

6

3

3

9

18.
Infrastructure -

3

2

6

4

2

8

2

3

6

5

4

20

Risk

Page 176

46

Risk Register
Key risk

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3

Option 4

P

I

S
(PxI)

P

I

S
(PxI)

P

I

S
(PxI)

P

I

S
(PxI)

19.
InfrastructureEngineering Risk

1

1

1

2

2

4

2

2

4

4

4

16

20.
InfrastructureStructural
Constraints

1

2

2

2

3

6

2

3

6

4

4

16

21.
EnvironmentalFlood Risk

2

1

2

2

4

8

2

3

6

3

4

12

22.
EnvironmentalAgricultural
Land Risk

1

1

1

1

2

2

1

2

4

3

12

23.
EnvironmentalNoise Important
Area (NIA) risk

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

2

4

2

3

6

24.
EnvironmentalAuthorised
Landfill/Historic
Landfill

1

2

2

1

3

3

1

3

3

2

3

6

25.
EnvironmentalAncient
Woodland

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

2

4

3

12

26.
EnvironmentalLand Issues

1

3

3

1

3

3

2

3

6

4

3

12

27.
EnvironmentalEnvironmental
Constraints

2

2

4

2

2

4

2

3

6

4

3

12

Total score

-

-

181

-

-

122

-

-

98

-

-

298

External
Interface Risk

Page 177

2

47

The preferred option
24. Based on the preceding analysis, identify the preferred option with supporting justification

for selection. (approx. 200 words)
Each option was assessed against the risks listed in the above risk table and the
probability/impact score of 1 to 5. The appended QRA report details the risks, likely
probability of occurrence and impact, as well as mitigation measures for the preferred option.
In terms of risks a variety have been identified which can be grouped into four broad
categories: •
•
•
•

Strategic;
Funding;
Infrastructure; and
Environmental.

Option 1 scoring was reflective of its more basic nature and minimal access points. However,
the scheme attracted higher individual scores in the political, policy, communications and
stakeholder strategic risk elements due to the scheme’s misalignment with the Halsnead
Masterplan SPD and the Local Plan’s vision for a comprehensive approach to development.
Option 2 scored better than Option 1 although the addition of constructing new access points
in this option caused slightly higher risks in aspects of infrastructure, funding and
environmental issues. However, this option received low risk scoring for policy and
stakeholder engagement as it is broadly in a position to meet the objectives of the Halsnead
Masterplan SPD. However, it does not provide for the distinctive design of gateway
infrastructure as set out as a requirement in the Halsnead Masterplan SPD, and therefore
scores less than Option 3 for strategic policy and external communication risk.
Option 3 produced the lowest risk score out of the four options as it largely contributes to key
policy and political and stakeholder thinking. This option scored similarly to Option 2 as the
same amount of access points are proposed, with the only difference being in the type of
junction. However, the type of junction and associated land take/disruption to the
environment has caused the slight differential.
Option 4 scored higher than all other options, particularly in terms of impact, due to the
infrastructure and funding risks involved with the construction of a bridge over the M62. This
option also scored highly on Stakeholder Risk as the construction of a bridge could prove
controversial to local residents and land owners.

Part 3 – Commercial Case

Page 178

48

Please revisit the Commercial Case set out within the OBC, answering the following questions:

Delivery structure
25. What are the organisation and management arrangements for delivery of the preferred

option? What are the delivery options that have been considered? Please outline the
advantages and disadvantages of each delivery option and state which is the preferred
delivery option. (approx. 300 words)

Delivery Option

Description

Advantages

Disadvantages

Delivery Option 1

Utilise Knowsley
Council’s existing
Highways and
Transportation Service
to manage deliver of
the project.

Track record for the
delivery (to budget) of
schemes that are
similar in nature to
some of the project
components.
Considerable
knowledge of the
locality and the
proposed
development.

Limited available human
resources.

The project essentially
comprises two distinct
components, i.e. the
delivery of new access
junctions. One of the
existing junctions for
which funding is
sought is Tarbock
Island which falls
under the remit of
Highways England.
Therefore, this option
would essentially have
two separate
organisation and
management
arrangements.
Knowsley Council for
the most part, and
Highways England in
respect of Tarbock
Island.

The two organisations
would be responsible
for their respective
areas of expertise.

There are clear
interdependencies
between these two
components; although
Tarbock Island is 1 of only
16 sites pinpointed for
works it is integral to the
realisation of the overall
benefits.

The organisation and
management
arrangements for the
final scheme are set
out fully in response to

The organisational
structure shown in Q46
ensures the Council’s
most senior officers
are an integral

Delivery Option 2

Delivery Option 3 (Preferred
Delivery Option)

Programme
management and
accountability
responsibilities would
be clearly defined.

Conflicting demands
between the project and
other scheme delivery
commitments, together
with the fulfillment of
wide ranging day- to- day
tasks (including statutory
duties).

Potential for disjointed
communications.
Inability to manage
delivery/cost issues across
the overall project, which
would lead to increased
risks for the Council as
applicant to the SIF.

Page 179

The Halsnead Garden
Village Steering Group is
derived from best practice
and performance across
other strategic projects of

49

Q46.

component of delivery,
demonstrating
commitment to those
projects that fall within
its remit.
The regeneration
Board in combination
with the Halsnead
Garden Village Steering
Group provides
dedicated and
additional multidisciplinary
programme and
technical resource with
considerable
experience of
successfully delivering
similar multi-faceted
projects.

this nature. The approach
of project specific steering
groups was also adopted
by the Council during
previous eras of
substantive economic
growth and proved central
of key projects of this
nature. Consultation with
partner and developer
organisations has
endorsed the Council’s
approach in establishing a
bespoke team.

This approach ensures
the separation of dayto-day activities and
major strategic
projects of this nature
to maximize
opportunities for
successful
comprehensive
delivery.

26. If the preferred delivery option will require the involvement of partner organisations,

please set out the details in the table below. (approx. 200 words)
Delivery Partner

Contact details

Role in project
delivery (work to be
procured, value,
outputs)

Agreed contract
arrangements /
status of
negotiations

Highways England

Kristian Marsh,

Organisation
responsible for
management of
Strategic Road
Network, which
includes M62
Junction 6 Tarbock
Island.

Legal agreement
required with
Knowsley Council
under the Highways
Act 1980, to facilitate
Knowsley Council
undertaking
improvement works
at Tarbock Island.
Detailed Design
discussions ongoing
pursuant to legal
agreement in Q1

Asset Manager
Highways England
Piccadilly Gate Store Street
Manchester M1 2WD
Tel: +44 (0) 300 4705263
http://www.highways.gov.uk
GTN: 0300 470 5263

Page 180

50

2018.
Mott MacDonald

Paul Walton
Associate

Preparation of
Business Cases

Instructions in place
to cover OBC and FBC
stages.

Consultants
appointed to advance
detailed design and
tender package for
M62 Junction 6
Tarbock Island
improvements
elements.

Appointment made
via Merseytravel
Framework for
Professional Services.

Consultants
appointed by
Knowsley Council to
provide detailed
design and works
order package for all
scheme components,
except those at the
M62 Junction 6
‘Tarbock Island’

Appointment made
by Knowsley Council.

Deeding of land for
highway purposes (as
and where necessary)
in connection with
delivery of proposed
site access junctions.

The Council has
established positive
dialogue and
relationships with all
land owners and
developers with
interest in the
Halsnead Garden
Village SPD
development.

Mott MacDonald
Ground Floor
Royal Liver Building
Pier Head
Liverpool L3 1JH
United Kingdom
D +44 (0)151 482 9956
paul.walton@mottmac.com
Amey

Cathryn Nunnery
Principal Project Manager
Unit 2-6, The Matchworks
142 Speke Road
Garston
Liverpool L19 2PH
Cathryn.Nunnery@amey.co.uk

Waterman Group.

Richard Baker
Waterman Infrastructure &
Environment Ltd
2nd Floor, South Central
11 Peter Street
Manchester
M2 5QR
Tel. 0161 839 8392

Developers/Landowners

Multiple

27. Please demonstrate that appropriate capacity, capability, systems and expertise will be

available to deliver the intervention successfully (include experience, if applicable, of

Page 181

51

delivering similar projects for LCR CA or other public bodies – set out details of the projects,
scope, costs, date, public funding, role played). (approx. 300 words)
Knowsley Council is the promoter of this scheme, and will also act as the relevant planning
authority and highways authority during scheme delivery.
Knowsley Council has significant recent experience of delivering schemes to improve access
and provide capacity enhancements on the highway network within the borough, in support
of economic development:


Knowsley Business Park Access and Connectivity Improvement Scheme - This major
transport scheme was funded by the Local Growth Fund at a total scheme cost of
£6.7m, and was delivered concurrently with the A5300 scheme detailed below. It
involved access and capacity improvements to five busy complex junctions at
Knowsley Business Park, the largest business park in the Liverpool City Region,
forming key gateway features in support of economic development. Two junctions on
A580 East Lancashire Road were upgraded to allow right turns into and out of the
park, a new roundabout was delivered on Moss End Way/North Perimeter Way, and
the junctions of Gale Road and Admin Road with South Boundary Road were
consolidated into one roundabout junction, with associated bus stops and walking
and cycling infrastructure. The scheme was successfully completed in Autumn 2016.
Already helping to secure the Matalan Headquarters and Northern distribution facility
safeguarding 1200 jobs and creating 400 new jobs. The investment also secured the
letting of a 110,00 sq ft. speculative distribution warehouse facility to Amazon
providing them with a North West base and creating 100 jobs.



A5300 Access to opportunity and employment - This major transport scheme was also
funded by the Local Growth Fund at a total scheme cost of circa £5.4m, and was
delivered concurrently with the Knowsley Business Park scheme above. The A5300
represented the most heavily congested route in the LCR prior to the intervention. A
£5.3million scheme was completed in September 2016 to provide a new slip road,
reducing congestion at the gyratory and improving journey times between the A562
and the A53000 Northbound. This scheme helped to facilitate the Alstom’s investment
who acquired 30 acres of land, for the construction of a new Technology Centre. This
£20 million investment will deliver a UK centre for research and development,
providing training in engineering, manufacturing, project management. In the
immediate future, Alstom will use the centre to carry out essential maintenance work.



Greystone Road Footbridge Replacement, M62 Motorway – Knowsley Council
successfully delivered a scheme to replace an existing dilapidated structure with a
new iconic gateway at the entrance to the LCR. At a cost of circa £2.5m the scheme

Page 182

52

was funded by Knowsley Council. The project involved significant logistical issues in
terms of demolition and installation over the M62 Motorway, and the Council secured
delivery to programme and causing minimal disruption to road users through
extensive pre-planning and project management.

Procurement
28. If you intend to commission or procure any activities in the development or delivery of this

project, please demonstrate that your procurement method will comply with public
procurement requirements (e.g. will your procurement trigger the OJEU process). Set out
details for each procurement. (approx. 100 words)
Procurement of all services necessary to deliver this project will be undertaken in line with
Knowsley Council’s Financial Procedure Rules (which can be seen via the following hyperlink
FPR's and CPR's).
Every contract entered by the Council shall be entered into pursuant to or in connection with
the Council’s functions and shall comply with:






All relevant statutory provisions;
The relevant European procurement rules (i.e. the EC Treaty, the general principles of
EU law and the EU public procurement directives implemented by the EU
Regulations);
The Council’s Constitution including these Contracts Procedure rules, the Council’s
Financial Procedure Rules are the Council’s scheme of delegation; and
The Council’s vision, priorities and values, Social Value Statement, Procurement
Strategy and policies.

Statutory and other consents
29. Please indicate how your project complies with and/or has secured (is securing) the

necessary regulations and requirements with regard to: (approx. 200 words)
a. Legal issues, e.g. lease agreements, evidence of land ownership and/or
contractual agreements
The Council has established positive dialogue and relationships with all land owners,
developers and key stakeholders with interest in the Halsnead Garden Village development
sites. The Council owns a proportion of the site, and is keen to utilise its ownership to
facilitate site delivery (e.g. recycling of land receipts, land swaps or provision of essential upfront infrastructure). It is confident that the site can be delivered in partnership through an
agreed collaboration agreement and delivery mechanism, however if cooperation fails the
Council will facilitate land assembly using its Compulsory Purchase powers if necessary.
b. Planning or other consents

Page 183

53

The adopted Knowsley Local Plan Core Strategy (January 2016) removed the site from the
Green Belt and allocated it for development. A Masterplan Supplementary Planning
Document was adopted in June 2017 and will be used to guide future planning applications
for individual development parcels. No planning consents are required for the off-site
highway capacity improvements set out in this project proposal because the Council as Local
Highway Authority has statutory powers in this regard. The Masterplan SPD establishes the
site access locations/arrangements in principle terms and the landowners will deed the
necessary land to Knowsley Council as public highway, subsequent to which the Council will
use its statutory powers to construct the site access junctions. In accordance with the letters
of support accompanying this submission, planning applications for the first and multiple
housing land parcels are expected in the summer of 2018
c. Other – such as Section 106 (please specify)
Based on the nature of the scheme there are no other identified consenting requirements at
this stage.
30. Please provide evidence of the State aid compliance of the funding request including

details of any relevant exemptions relied upon and the conditions of compliance that you
believe are satisfied. It is the responsibility of applicants to ensure they are satisfied that
their project, and the receipt of SIF support and any public match taken together, is
compliant with State aid rules. Further detail on State Aid is provided at Appendix A.
(approx. 200 words)
The scheme proposal comprises public highway and infrastructure works for the benefit of
the local communities in the vicinity of Halsnead Garden Village. Most of the works relate to
improving the public highways which surround Halsnead Garden Village.
There will also be infrastructure works creating new site entrances to Halsnead Garden
Village, which will be adopted as part of the public highway in due course. In addition to
enhancing public highways, a State is permitted to invest in infrastructure at a local level
(local infrastructure) when it contributes to improving the business and consumer
environment and modernising and developing the industrial base.
The proposed enhanced built infrastructure will be made available to road users on an open,
transparent and non-discriminatory basis, with no charges for the public highway additions
and improvements. On this basis, and having wider regard to the application of the State Aid
rules by the European Commission, the proposals are State Aid compliant.
31. In the event that the European Commission determines SIF support for the project is not

compliant with State aid rules, the repayment of any SIF funds received by the applicant
will be required in full. Please confirm your acceptance to this condition.
Knowsley Council understand and accept this condition.

Page 184

54

32. Please outline the timescales for securing planning permission and any other relevant

statutory permissions. (approx. 100 words)
As explained in the response to Q29, no specific planning consents are required for the
transport infrastructure works set out in this proposal. A legal agreement will be required
with Highways England under the Highway’s Act 1980 to facilitate the improvement works at
M62 Junction 6 Tarbock Island, and this is scheduled for Q1 19/20. Minor consents will be
required with United Utilities in respect of drainage connections but only short lead in
timescales relate.

Risk apportionment
33. For each of the key risks identified in the risk register, set out how these risks will be shared

between the public and private sectors. The governing principle is that risk should be
allocated to the party best able to manage it.
In the risk allocation table below, the percentage of risk being borne by the public and
private sectors should be identified. However, if this is not feasible at this stage, use ticks to
designate the principal risk owner.

Risk Category

Public

Private

Strategic-Political Risk

√

Strategic-Legislative Risk

√

Strategic-Policy Risk

√

Strategic-Staff Risk

Shared

√

Strategic- Internal
Communication Risk

√

Strategic-External
Communication Risk

√

Strategic-Construction
Programme Risk

√

Strategic-Stakeholder Risk

√

Strategic-Regulation Risk

√

Strategic- Procurement
Risk

√

Page 185

55

Strategic-Planning Risk

√

Funding-Inflation Risk

√

Funding-Cost Risk

√

Funding-Funding Claim Risk

√

Funding-Cost Estimate Risk

√

Infrastructure-Provider Risk

√

Infrastructure-Internal
Interface Risk

√

Infrastructure - External
Interface Risk

√

Infrastructure- Engineering
Risk

√

Infrastructure-Structural
Constraints

√

Environmental- Flood Risk

√

Environmental- Agricultural
Land Risk

√

Environmental-Noise
Important Area (NIA) risk

√

Environmental- Authorised
Landfill/Historic Landfill

√

Environmental-Ancient
Woodland

√

Environmental- Land Issues

√

EnvironmentalEnvironmental Constraints

√

Part 4 – Financial Case
Please revisit the Financial Case set out within the OBC, answering the following questions:

Project funding summary
34. Provide a summary of the required project funding. The costs should be presented in

current prices = i.e. including inflation (please outline any assumptions made about
inflation).

Page 186

56

Note that we have provided project funding summary for costs both with and without
optimism bias. This first table shows the total scheme costs without optimism bias, i.e.
covering only design, construction and preliminaries costs, plus application of the mean
Quantified Risk Assessment figure of £2,359,850 based on all identified risks, including
strategic and funding risks, inclusive of inflation. Please refer to the appended QRA report for
more detail.
Project funding summary

Capital

Revenue

Total

Status of funding
(confirmed etc.)

Total SIF

Grant

£11,788,665
(Phase 1)
£8,762,927
(Phase 2)

£0

£11,788,665
(Phase 1)
£8,762,927
(Phase 2)

Dependent on
outcome of full
MSBC appraisal and
Phase 2 subject to
parcel viability
appraisals

Loan

£0

£0

£0

N/A

Private and/or voluntary sectors

£0

£0

£0

N/A

Public sector

£0

£0

£0

N/A

Total project cost

£20,551,592

£0

£20,551,592

Costs in this second table shows the scheme costs plus QRA, inclusive of 3% optimism bias,
which reflect costs applied for the purposes of economic appraisal.
Project funding summary

Capital

Revenue

Total

Status of funding
(confirmed etc.)

Total SIF

Grant

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815
(Phase 2)

0

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815
(Phase 2)

Dependent on
outcome of full MSBC
appraisal and Phase 2
subject to parcel
viability appraisals

Loan

0

0

0

N/A

Private and/or voluntary sectors

0

0

0

N/A

Public sector

0

0

0

N/A

Total project cost

£21,168,140

£21,168,140

At the time of this submission it is confirmed Knowsley Council seeks 100% capital grant,
however, the council is continuing discussions with Highways England over a complimentary
partial/contributory funding opportunity for the M62 Tarbock Island element via the Growth
& Housing Fund programme, having passed the initial sift. Whilst this potential funding bid
opportunity (of circa £2.720m) does not directly align with the SIF FBC timeframe, if the

Page 187

57

Growth & Housing Fund bid is ultimately successful then the SIF ask will be reduced
accordingly.
With regards to that element (Phase 2) of the SIF FBC relating to the 9 new site access
junctions, it is confirmed that the associated funding would be subject to respective phase
viability considerations.

Capital and revenue costs
35. Please summarise the expected project capital and revenue costs and attach a detailed cost

plan. The costs should be presented in current (nominal) prices.
As in question 34, the breakdown of expenditure shows in the first table total scheme costs
without optimism bias, i.e. covering only design, construction and preliminaries costs, plus
application of the mean Quantified Risk Assessment figure based on all identified risks. The
QRA figure of £2,359,850 has been proportionally spilt in accordance with construction
expenditure in each of the noted years, (7.13%, 62.21% and 30.66% respectively).
Costs (£000s)

Total

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Future
years

Capital expenditure (Capex)
(Capex item)

£11,788,665
(Phase 1)
£8,762,927
(Phase 2)

£0

£1,465,325

£12,785,216

£6,301,051

£0

£0

Total capital
expenditure

£11,788,665
(Phase 1)
£8,762,927
(Phase 2)

£0

£1,465,325

£12,785,216

£6,301,051

£0

£0

Operational (revenue) expenditure (Opex)
(Opex item)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Total revenue
Expenditure

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Total
expenditure

£11,788,665
(Phase 1)
£8,762,927
(Phase 2)

£0

£1,465,325

£12,785,216

£6,301,051

£0

£0

The next table shows the above breakdown, including the 3% optimism bias added to the
total construction costs plus QRA shown above. As with the QRA, the 3% optimism bias has
also been split proportionally in line with the breakdown on construction costs, (7.13%,
62.21% and 30.66% respectively).

Page 188

58

Costs (£000s)

Total

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Future
years

Capital expenditure (Capex)
(Capex item)

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815
(Phase 2)

£0

£1,509,285

£13,168,772

£6,490,083

£0

£0

Total capital
expenditure

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815
(Phase 2)

£0

£1,509,285

£13,168,772

£6,490,083

£0

£0

Operational (revenue) expenditure (Opex)
(Opex item)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Total revenue
Expenditure

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Total
expenditure

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815
(Phase 2)

£0

£1,509,285

£13,168,772

£6,490,083

£0

£0

36. Please explain the source and evidence for the costs (attach cost plan and cash flow) set

out above (provide separate detailed information including, where appropriate, supporting
business plan and/or financial analyses).
Costs for the Tarbock Island element of the project have been provided separately by Amey,
all other costs have been provided by the Waterman Group. The Waterman Group have
derived costs from detailed design work and calculated using similar highway improvement
schemes in Knowsley, together with current live unit rates within the Knowsley term
maintenance contract. Estimates from statutory undertakers have also been obtained and
applied.
The following table provides an overview of the breakdown of the key elements of the above
costs for the preferred option, showing both costs with and without optimism bias. Full
details of this breakdown in terms of key construction components can be found in the Cost
Plan that is appended to this application.

Scheme Component

Cost

New Access Junctions

£7,756,717

Off-Site Improvements (Junctions J-O)

£5,602,501

Off-Site Improvements: Tarbock Island (Junction 1)

£4,832,524

Page 189

59

Construction Total

£18,191,742

QRA (mean value)

£2,359,850

Sub Total

£20,551,592

3% Optimism Bias

£616,548

Total

£21,168,140

Notes/Assumptions
 Costs included for utility diversions are based on budget estimates received from
Statutory Undertakers through C3 enquiries.
 Only one junction has been identified as requiring third party land (off-site works).
A sum has been included within cost estimates based on current land values.
 Design fees have been reduced to 8% for Tarbock Island to cover site supervision
only as design costs have already been committed.
 Risk removed from all design and construction estimates and are included in the
QRA.
37. Identify the areas where contingency has been applied and the reasoning behind the level

of contingency. (approx. 100 words)
A quantified risk assessment has been undertaken and its methodology and results are
detailed in the appended QRA report. This assessment looked at the following risk categories:





Strategic risks;
Funding risks;
Infrastructure/construction risks; and
Environmental risks

Key risks under each category were identified and the probability and impact of each
occurring was assessed. A risk score was identified for each risk on this basis and associated
costs were derived as a percentage of total scheme costs. A mean value of quantified risk was
identified as £2,359,850. It is this value, covering all identified risks that has been factored
into the overall funding request as a contingency. An additional amount of £616,547 (3%
optimism bias) has also been added as further contingency.

Funding requirement
38. Please outline the expected funding profile by individual sources, including the amount of

SIF support requested. The funding should be presented in current (nominal) prices.
As in questions 34 and 35, this first table excludes 3% optimism bias which reflects what was
applied to costs for the purposes of economic appraisal. The QRA figure of £2,359,850 has

Page 190

60

been proportionally spilt in accordance with construction expenditure in each of the noted
years, (7.13%, 62.21% and 30.66% respectively).
Funding (£000s)

Total

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Future
years

Capital funding
(SIF)

£11,788,665
(Phase 1)
£8,762,927
(Phase 2)

£0

£1,465,325

£12,785,216

£6,301,051

£0

£0

(Project income)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other public
sector)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other private
sector)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other forms of
funding)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Total capital
funding

£11,788,665
(Phase 1)
£8,762,927
(Phase 2)

£0

£1,465,325

£12,785,216

£6,301,051

£0

£0

(SIF)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Project income)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other public
sector)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other private
sector)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other forms of
funding)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Total capital
funding

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Total funding

£11,788,665
(Phase 1)
£8,762,927
(Phase 2)

£0

£1,465,325

£12,785,216

£6,301,051

£0

£0

Revenue funding

This second table provides the financial profile of capital expenditure and funding sources,
including 3% optimism bias as used as the basis for the economic appraisal and calculation of
the transport BCR. As with the QRA, the 3% optimism bias has also been split proportionally
in line with the breakdown on construction costs, (7.13%, 62.21% and 30.66% respectively).
Funding (£000s)

Total

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

Future
years

Capital funding

Page 191

61

Funding (£000s)

Total

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

Future
years

(SIF)

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815
(Phase 2)

£0

£0

£1,509,285

£13,168,772

£6,490,083

£0

(Project income)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other public
sector)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other private
sector)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other forms of
funding)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Total capital
funding

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815
(Phase 2)

£0

£0

£1,509,285

£13,168,772

£6,490,083

£0

(SIF)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Project income)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other public
sector)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other private
sector)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Other forms of
funding)

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Total revenue
funding

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Total funding

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815
(Phase 2)

£0

£0

£1,509,285

£13,168,772

£6,490,083

£0

Revenue funding

39. Please explain why public funding and, in particular, SIF support is necessary, for example,

due to a funding gap. Why is this the minimum level? What other funding sources have
been explored (such as Chrysalis)? (approx. 250 words)
For development and housing projects, please provide a development appraisal, summary
assumptions/evidence.
Funding for transport infrastructure is needed to unlock the potential development, as
current residual land values (influenced by the associated significant development
infrastructure burden, including a substantial transport infrastructure element) are
prohibitive to landowners/developers. Without appropriate incentives to support the private

Page 192

62

development sector, including the provision of highway mitigation measures and (subject to
viability) key access points, the site will not achieve comprehensive development and the
Halsnead Garden Village concept will not be realised in a timely manner for the Liverpool City
Region.
A viability study, undertaken by Turley in support of the Halsnead Garden Village SPD has
identified a scheme investment deficit of £11.449m for the residential land and an
investment deficit of £8.018m for the employment land (with ancillary housing element). This
totals a circa £19.5m investment deficit overall which has given rise to this application for
funding.
In specific relation to the housing element, which will be located on the land north of the
M62, the policy compliant viability appraisal produces a Residual Land Value (RLV) of £6.1m,
which equates to £34,915 per gross acre, or £57,217 per net developable acre. The results
taken directly from the Halsnead Masterplan SPD Delivery & Implementation Advice
Document prepared by Turley in May 2017 are shown in the following tables.

Overall, this falls below the minimum site value anticipated to be acceptable to incentivise
the site to developers for delivery of the Halsnead Garden Village scheme. It further
reinforces that without SIF support to the delivery of the off-site improvement works (Phase
1) then the Halsnead Garden Village development site will simply stall.
Similarly, the viability appraisal shows that the land located south of the M62 which is
designated for commercial development has a negative RLV of £1,907,577. A positive RLV
would have represented the potential capital receipt to the present landowners, whilst
allowing for a competitive return to the developer(s). The negative RLV identifies a significant
requirement for financial subsidy in order to bring forward the site for development in

Page 193

63

accordance with the design assumptions set out within the Masterplan SPD. In addition to
filling the ‘gap’ of circa £1.9m, there would also be a need to allow for a competitive return to
the landowners (and additional £100,000 per gross acre = £6.111m) in order to incentivise the
release of the land for development.
It is for these evidence based reasons that public funding is required to ‘pump-prime’ the
initial infrastructure required to enable suitable access and bring forward development so
that the benefits detailed in the accompanying Land Use and Economic Development Report
can be realised.
40. How will you ensure there is a return or repayment to the SIF and over what timeframe?

Will the project result in public sector savings or additional income? Will any of the SIF
funding be in the form of a loan? If so, how much, when and why are commercial loans not
available/appropriate (please provide separate details of the principal and interest
repayment profile). If the project is not expected to provide a return or repayment to the
SIF, please explain why. (approx. 300 words).
This application is for a capital grant to fund the delivery of key transport infrastructure
improvements and (subject to viability) access solutions that will enable the comprehensive
development of Halsnead Garden Village. This is key to unlocking the land to bring to fruition the
comprehensive development as set out in the Halsnead Garden Village SPD and realise the land
value uplift, job creation and GVA uplift as set out in this application package. It is not currently
anticipated that the project will provide a direct financial return or repayment to the Single
Investment Fund but the wider benefits generated as a result of the enabled development will
directly add value to the economy of both Knowsley Council and the Liverpool City Region.
These benefits include: 








22.5 hectares of employment land that will deliver in the region of 920 net jobs and
£40.5m of GVA per annum;
A range of 1600 new high-quality homes, addressing Knowsley’s current unbalanced
housing offer;
Strategic connectivity for existing and future residents and businesses to the LCR and
further afield, supporting Knowsley’s aspirations to further develop a key employment
and logistics hub; in turn, attracting inward investment and a high skilled workforce to
stimulate growth;
Tax related benefits of £9.1m from employment related taxes (PAYE and NI);
Additional council tax revenue of £1.7m per annum;
Additional business rates of £1.2m per annum; and
Future proofing of the transport network to facilitate further growth across the LCR.

However, with regards to that element of the SIF FBC relating to the 9 new site access
junctions, it is confirmed that the associated funding would be subject to respective phase
viability. It is of note that the private sector will fund the significant additional site

Page 194

64

infrastructure requirements internal to the development sites (briefly summarised in
Q42), once these initial investments to enable access are made to initialise development
and stimulate investor interest.
Furthermore, Knowsley Council is continuing discussions with Highways England over a
complimentary partial/contributory funding opportunity for the M62 Tarbock Island
element via the Growth & Housing Fund programme, having passed the initial sift. Whilst
this potential funding bid opportunity (of circa £2.720m) does not directly align with the
SIF FBC timeframe, if the Growth & Housing Fund bid is ultimately successful then there
the SIF ask will be reduced accordingly.

41. Using the table below, set out the net public sector funding requirement, after taking

account of loan repayments and/or other public sector revenues and receipts from the
project, in current (nominal) prices.
As stated in previous questions this first table excludes optimism bias which reflects what
was applied to costs for the purposes of economic appraisal, it does however include the QRA
figure of £2,359,850, which has been proportionally spilt in accordance with construction
expenditure in each of the noted years, (7.13%, 62.21% and 30.66% respectively).
Net Funding
Position (£000s)

Total

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

£0

£1,465,325

£12,785,216

£6,301,051

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Future
years

Gross public sector funding requirement
SIF

£11,788,665
(Phase 1)
£8,762,927
(Phase 2)

Other public
sector

£0

Public sector loan repayments and/or other public sector revenues / receipts
SIF

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Other public
sector

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£1,465,325

£12,785,216

£6,301,051

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Net public sector funding requirement
SIF

£11,788,665
(Phase 1)
£8,762,927
(Phase 2)

Other public
sector

£0

Page 195

65

This second table provides the financial profile of capital expenditure of funding sources,
including 3% optimism bias as used as the basis for the economic appraisal and calculation of
the transport BCR. As with the QRA, the 3% optimism bias has also been split proportionally
in line with the breakdown on construction costs, (7.13%, 62.21% and 30.66% respectively).
Net Funding
Position (£000s)

Total

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815

SIF

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

Future years

£0

£1,509,285

£13,168,772

£6,490,083

£0

(Phase 2)
Other public
sector

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

SIF

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Other public
sector

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

SIF

£12,142,325
(Phase 1)
£9,025,815

£0

£1,509,285

£13,168,772

£6,490,083

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

(Phase 2)
Other public
sector

£0

42. How will the project, and provision of SIF support, ensure that private sector investment is

maximised? (approx. 200 words)
The Access to Halsnead Garden Village scheme is an important project for the development
of the site. The scheme is vital to the successful implementation of the Halsnead Masterplan
SPD and ensuring it is fully accessible. This will make Halsnead an attractive location for
private sector investment by:





Creating a high quality attractive environment where people will want to live and
work;
Opening up a significant amount of land for employment opportunities;
Facilitating the longstanding ambition of a new Country Park within the former
Cronton Colliery Site; and
Growing the offer of high quality housing attracting new residents and skilled workers
to the area.

It is important to note that in addition to the transport infrastructure that forms the basis of
this SIF application, there are significant other site wide strategic infrastructure requirements
that will still need to be provided by the private sector as part of the Halsnead Garden Village
development. This includes remediation, utility provisions and network upgrades, internal

Page 196

66

highways, footways, cycleways, drainage systems, public open space and green
infrastructure, playing field enhancements, GP and medical facility improvements, a new
primary school, etc. The proposed SIF application will essentially make the development site
viable and in doing so, act to secure this accompanying necessary substantial private sector
investment.
Notwithstanding the above commentary, with regards to that element of the SIF FBC relating
to the 9 new site access junctions, it is confirmed that the associated funding would be
subject to respective phase viability.

43. Please explain what arrangements have been made to secure the required level of

matched funding (if applicable). In addition, please provide the name of the organisations
providing the funding, together with evidence such as a letter or resolution confirming
availability of funding. (approx. 200 words)
At the time of this submission, this application is for a capital grant for the full cost of the
scheme, however, with regards to that element of the SIF FBC relating to the 9 new site
access junctions, it is confirmed that the associated funding would be subject to respective
phase viability. It is of note that the private sector will fund the significant additional site
infrastructure requirements internal to the development sites (briefly summarised in Q42),
once these initial investments to enable access are made to initialise development and
stimulate investor interest.
Knowsley Council has already made significant ‘in kind’ contributions. It has undertaken
extensive transport modelling works, commissioned the Masterplan SPD for the Halsnead
Garden Village and detailed design work for the off-site highway mitigation proposals
(including in depth analysis of M62 Junction 6 Tarbock Island), all of which lay the
foundations for the proposed investment. To date, Knowsley Council have funded around
£800,000 of this initial foundation work for this significant City Region development.
Furthermore, Knowsley Council is continuing discussions with Highways England over a
complimentary partial/contributory funding opportunity for the M62 Tarbock Island element
via the Growth & Housing Fund programme, having passed the initial sift. Whilst this
potential funding bid opportunity (of circa £2.720m) does not directly align with the SIF FBC
timeframe, if the Growth & Housing Fund bid is ultimately successful then there the SIF ask
will be reduced accordingly.
44. Please demonstrate that there is sufficient capability to meet the financial requirements

and liabilities that flow from receipt of SIF support (e.g. to fund cash flow ahead of grant
and to meet any cost overruns). (approx. 200 words)

Page 197

67

Knowsley Council has a successful track record of delivering schemes that benefit the wider
LCR. Recent examples of successfully delivered schemes that the Council funded ahead of
claiming grant instalments include:
•

Knowsley Business Park Access and Connectivity Improvement Scheme;

•

A5300 Access to Opportunity and Employment; and

•

STEP Programme Year 1 & 2 Schemes.

The impact of any unanticipated cost overruns that may occur during the delivery of the
project would be reduced through appropriate value engineering of the infrastructure,
together with proactive project management and governance structures. Evidence that
Knowsley Council practices such controls is provided through the actual cost outturns in
respect of the aforementioned three schemes, in that the LCR Growth Fund contributions
were expended but not exceeded.
An accompanying declaration from Knowsley Council’s Section 151 officer is appended to
support this position.
45. Please confirm that there is provision for dealing with the financing of any cost overruns?

(approx. 100 words)
Robust project and risk management procedures will be implemented to minimise the
likelihood and scale of cost overruns. The risk register details the financial implications of
each risk occurring and mitigating actions. An amount of £2,976,397 has been calculated as a
contingency to cover risks. This is based on the QRA figure of £2,359,850 plus optimism bias
of 3% on construction costs and QRA, equating to £616,547 being applied. However,
Knowsley Council will ultimately take full responsibility for any project cost overruns.
As with question 44 an accompanying declaration from Knowsley Council’s Section 151 officer
is appended to support this position.

Page 198

68

Part 5 – Management Case
Please revisit the Management Case set out within the SOC, answering the following questions:

Management arrangements
46. Please summarise the project governance and management arrangements, including the

organisation and management structure for the project and key roles and responsibilities.
(approx. 300 words)
A Regeneration Governance Board has been established for the Halsnead Garden Village
project. The Regeneration Board will provide executive direction, review and oversight. The
board will also provide a clear strategic lead for each specific area of the broader programme.
The group will meet every six weeks to assist in establishing strategic priorities, and highlight
any risks and issues to the programme which could affect the community and the Council’s
reputation. A Programme Sponsor has been established who will be responsible for
facilitating overall engagement, defining and monitoring the programme, budget, resources
and schedule and will also be responsible for issue escalation and resolution.
The day to day delivery of the scheme will be led by a Knowsley Council project manager who
will be responsible for coordinating components of delivery commissioned internally, through
contractors and through Highways England. Highways England controls the intersection of
the M57 and M62 motorways and is an important junction that caters for high volumes of
daily commuter and other traffic. Highways England operates, maintains and improves many
of England’s motorways and trunk roads. They are responsible for the up keep, operation and
performance of the Tarbock Island junction and are therefore a key stakeholder and
consultee in the development and implementation of improvement proposals at the junction.
Progress Reports will be provided to the Knowsley Council project manager on a weekly basis
by the component delivery leads. Any incident occurring in between each Progress Report
will be escalated to the project manager immediately if the incident breaches the tolerances
set for the delivery managers to the Regeneration Board whose members are the most Senior
Officers of the Council.
A Halsnead Garden Village Steering Group has also been established, the group with be
responsible for:







Tactical direction, review and oversight;
Monitoring and Reporting;
Issue tracking and resolution;
Risk management;
Issue management and escalation; and
Steering, monitoring and managing progress.

Page 199

69

An organigram illustrates this structure below: -

47. If use has or will be made of external support in the development or delivery of the project,

please provide details of the advisers and their role. (approx. 100 words)
Mott MacDonald have provided consultancy support in the design and development of
scheme options at SOC and OBC Stages and have subsequently supported Knowsley Council
in the development of the Full MSBC, with Waterman Group providing the detailed designs
and scheme costs. Moving forward to scheme delivery Knowsley Council will continue to
work with Waterman Group as the designers and engineers to finalise design options, and
construction contractors who are yet to be identified and will be procured through the
method noted in the appended Delivery Plan.
48. Please describe how you will engage with key stakeholders (e.g. do you have a

communications plan and engagement strategy). (approx. 200 words)
A summary of the stakeholder engagement which has been undertaken to date in the
development of the Access to Halsnead Garden Village scheme can be seen in the table below
along with any further planned engagement. Full details of the planned stakeholder
engagement for the Access to Halsnead Garden Village scheme can be found in the appended
Communications and Stakeholder Engagement report.

Page 200

70

Stakeholder

Interest

Summary of
Engagement to Date

Summary of Planned
Engagement

Local MP’s

The scheme will have a
significant impact in
facilitating Halsnead
Garden Village

Knowsley Council holds
regular liaison meeting with
MPs

Knowsley Council to
continue to liaise with MP's
via established
arrangements

Elected Members

The scheme will have a
significant impact in
facilitating Halsnead
Garden Village and on the
surrounding network

Knowsley Council holds
regular liaison meeting with
elected members in relation
to the wider Halsnead
Garden Village initiative

Knowsley Council to
continue to liaise with
elected members via
established arrangements

Liverpool City
Region Combined
Authority

The scheme will have a
significant impact in
facilitating Halsnead
Garden Village

Knowsley Council holds
regular liaison meetings with
the Combined Authority

Knowsley Council continue
to liaise with the Combined
Authority via established
arrangements

Merseytravel

Potential future bus
network changes and
impact during construction

Consultation on Halsnead
SPD and in response to
Knowsley bus network review

Initial meeting to be held
to discuss potential future
impacts of Halsnead
development on bus
network.
Established network
bulletin process to be used
for construction impact.

Bus Operators

Bus service changes

Consultation on Halsnead
SPD and in response to
Knowsley bus network review

Initial meeting to be held
to discuss potential future
impacts of Halsnead
development on bus
network.
Established network
bulletin process to be used
for construction impact.

Local Media

The scheme will have a
significant impact in
facilitating Halsnead
Garden Village and on the
surrounding network

Please refer to Halsnead SPD
Report of Consultation

Knowsley Council
Communications Team to
disseminate information
(including outcome of
Business Case) through
established media channels
at appropriate stages

Homes England

Homes England have
supported the
development of Halsnead
Garden Village and will be
monitoring delivery

Core member of the
Halsnead Garden Village
programme team and also
please refer to Halsnead SPD
Report of Consultation

Knowsley Council to
continue to liaise via
established arrangements
as part of wider Halsnead
Garden Village programme

Garden Village
Forum

Scheme delivery and
progress but also learning
for other garden village
locations

Attendance at regular Garden
Village Forum meetings

Knowsley Council to
continue to liaise via
established arrangements
as part of wider Halsnead
Garden Village programme

Page 201

71

Stakeholder

Interest

Summary of
Engagement to Date

Summary of Planned
Engagement
(including attendance at
future meetings)

General Public and
Businesses

The scheme will have a
significant impact in
facilitating Halsnead
Garden Village and on the
surrounding network

Please refer to Halsnead SPD
Report of Consultation

Use of forums established
by Knowsley Council Major
Development Team as part
of wider Halsnead Garden
Village programme. Also
use of tailored consultation
events, newsletters,
forums, drop in centre and
community liaison
committee initiative

Landowners

Impact on development
aspirations/ viability

Please refer to Halsnead SPD
Report of Consultation

Use of forums established
by Knowsley Council Major
Development Team as part
of wider Halsnead Garden
Village programme

Developers

Impact on development
aspirations/ viability and
delivery programme

Please refer to Halsnead SPD
Report of Consultation

Use of forums established
by Knowsley Council Major
Development Team as part
of wider Halsnead Garden
Village programme

Environment
Agency

Impact on water courses
and implications for flood
zones

Established partnership
meetings and also please
refer to Halsnead SPD Report
of Consultation

Via continued attendance
at established partnership
meetings but further
meetings to be held in
respect of specific
issues/impacts at certain
project components

Whiston Town
Council

The scheme will have a
significant impact in
facilitating Halsnead
Garden Village and on the
surrounding network. It
also has a land impact for
the Town Council.

Please refer to Halsnead SPD
Report of Consultation

To form part of regular
dialogue established by
Knowsley Council Major
Development Team as part
of wider Halsnead Garden
Village programme

Utility providers

Services will have a
significant impact on all of
the scheme components.

C3 enquiries issued and also
please refer to Halsnead SPD
Report of Consultation

Instructions to proceed
with service diversions/
enhancements and liaison
throughout ECI and
construction

Highways England

Impact and performance at
M62 Junction 6 Tarbock
Island

Regular progress meetings
held during modelling
refinement stage and please
also refer to Halsnead SPD
Report of Consultation

Continue regular progress
meetings throughout ECI
and construction

Page 202

72

Stakeholder

Interest

Summary of
Engagement to Date

Summary of Planned
Engagement

Road Users

The scheme will have a
significant impact in
facilitating Halsnead
Garden Village and on the
surrounding network

Please refer to Halsnead SPD
Report of Consultation

Statutory notices and
scheme boards at the
relevant times relating to
temporary road closures,
etc. Also Knowsley Council
Communications Team to
disseminate information
via established media
channels throughout ECI
and construction

Knowsley Council
planning

Planning approval and/or
advice will be required for
some scheme components

Pre-planning application
submissions and meetings

Submission of planning
applications (as required)
and technical
submissions/dialogue
pursuant to conditions
discharge.

Knowsley Council
highways

The scheme will have a
significant impact in
facilitating Halsnead
Garden Village in terms of
new infrastructure and on
the surrounding network

Knowsley Council highways
are integral to preparation of
the Business Case

Knowsley Council are to
remain integral to delivery
of the project delivery
team on a day to day basis

Knowsley Council
EHO

Impacts during
construction

Pre-planning application
submissions and meetings

Meetings to be held during
ECI and construction in
respect of specific
issues/impacts at certain
project components

Emergency Services

The scheme will have an
impact on the highway
network during
construction

Please refer to Halsnead SPD
Report of Consultation

Established network
bulletin process to be used
for construction impact.

Communication strategy
49. Please provide details of the communication and marketing strategy for the project.

(approx. 200 words)
This project has direct association with the delivery of outputs from the Halsnead Garden
Village Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document (Halsnead SPD). Stakeholders were
engaged during preparation of the Halsnead SPD, in the identification of
highway/transportation issues and the development of solutions to address these. This
process yielded technical information to assist in the development of this Business
Case. Further information in this regard is contained within the Halsnead SPD Report of
Consultation

Page 203

73

Going forward a high level of community and business engagement will be maintained
throughout the duration of the works. This will include:
 Active use of Internet and social media, using existing platforms including Knowsley News
and dedicated portal;
 Specific tailored events and one-to-one consultation opportunities for key stakeholders;
 Newsletters;
 Communication forums and drop in centre;
 Community liaison committee – quarterly meetings with community representatives; and
 Consultation and letter drops – to provide advance notification and address specific areas
of construction directly impacting individual homes or businesses
Although the scheme as a whole is designed to provide benefits to a range of stakeholders,
many aspects of the design of the individual components will affect specific groups. As part
of the delivery process, there will be ongoing consultation geared to the scheme elements in
isolation or in combination. Consultation designed to address these scheme-specific issues
will be undertaken using the mechanisms set out in the appended Communications Plan and
Stakeholder Management Report
This arrangement highlights the benefit of the comprehensive consultation approach
undertaken by Knowsley Council and ensures that wherever possible, the opinions and
requirements of all interested parties are considered during the design process and scheme
delivery.
Further details of the planned communication and marketing strategy for the Access to
Halsnead Garden Village scheme can be found in the appended Communications and
Stakeholder Engagement report.

Milestones
50. Please outline the indicative timescales for the key project milestones:
Milestone activity

Timescales

Funding Approvals

July 2018-August 2018

Start date – date from which eligible expenditure
will be incurred

August 2018

Appointment of preferred developer / contractor

August 2018- November 2018

Planning and other statutory approvals

May – Dec 2018

Work commences

December 2019

Page 204

74

Work complete

October 2020

Final financial claim date

October 2020

Proposed project completion date – date by
which outputs/outcomes will be achieved

October 2020

Proposed activity end date – date by which all
project activities described in the application will
be completed

October 2020

51. Please provide a Gantt Chart setting out details of the project plan.

The project plan is outlined below and is discussed further in the appended delivery plan. The
plan notes in green the timescales put forward at OBC stage and the purple reflects the
revised timescales at this MSBC stage.

Risk management
52. For each of the key risks identified in the risk register, provide details of the risk mitigation

and management measures. Attach a full risk register. (approx. 300 words)

Page 205

75

The table below outlines the key risks from the risk register that are predicted to have the
greatest impact on the scheme. Key issues are defined as those having a score of six or higher in
the risk register, noting that in the case of Halsnead Garden Village six was the highest score
assigned to any of the identified risks. A full list of quantified risks and details on mitigation can
be found in the appended Quantified Risk Assessment Report.
Risk Category

Risk Mitigation / Management

Action Owner

Strategic- Construction
Programme Risk

Due diligence during procurement
process. Ongoing monitoring of progress
against delivery milestones and stringent
project management during delivery
with clear procedures in place for
reporting and addressing any slippage.

Knowsley Council

Strategic- Stakeholder
Risk

There is an established and positive
communications strategy with key
stakeholders, which was developed as
part of the SPD process, and the
proposals reflect ambitions for
mitigation of development impact.

Knowsley Council

Strategic- Procurement
Risk

Engagement with experienced
procurement and legal services teams
together with due diligence during
appointment process.

Knowsley Council

Strategic-Planning Risk

The planning and statutory process
requirements have been identified
through the SPD development process
and key parties remain engaged to
ensure there is adequate allowance in
the programme.

Knowsley Council

Funding- Cost Risk

The Project Board will monitor cost and
delivery throughout the project.

Knowsley Council

Funding- Cost Estimate
Risk

Progress scheme in sufficient detail to
Knowsley Council
enable robust cost to be produced. Apply
suitable risk allowances and
contingencies to option development
stage cost estimate

Infrastructure- Provider
Risk

Due diligence during the procurement
process.

Knowsley Council

Infrastructure- Internal
Interface Risk

Site access junction works and off-site
junction improvements to be

Knowsley Council

Page 206

76

programmed separately.
Infrastructure - External
Interface Risk

Project Manage works, hold regular
progress meetings to ensure work is
progressing according to programme.
Hold update meetings with
stakeholders/partners.

Knowsley Council

Infrastructure- Structural
Constraints

Asset information obtained from HE /
LHA and recommend structural
surveying / investigation works to be
undertaken in support of the detailed
design.

Knowsley Council

Environmental- Land
Issues

Planning and statutory process
requirements identified through the SPD
process. Key parties have also been
positively engaged and support the
proposals. Ensure there is adequate
allowance in the programme.

Knowsley Council

EnvironmentalEnvironmental
Constraints

Baseline environmental scoping and
surveys undertaken and shall be
reviewed through detailed design
process.

Knowsley Council

Environmental-Flood
Risk

Early engagement has been undertaken
with the Environment Agency. A Flood
Risk Assessment will be undertaken to
identify any issues and potential
mitigation measures

Knowsley Council

Benefit maximisation
53. Please explain how you will ensure that the benefits are maximised, including to local

residents and businesses. (approx. 200 words)
The scheme objectives set out in Question 1 will drive scheme development and scheme
outcomes. Outcomes that can be expected if the identified objectives are achieved include:








Land unlocked for the development of 1,600 homes;
Improved connectivity between north and south of the M62;
A highway network which is resilient to development impacts;
Land unlocked for employment sites;
Improved connectivity to the Halsnead site;
A comprehensive well connected development; and
Increased opportunities for pedestrians and cyclist.

Page 207

77

These outcomes will ultimately give rise to wider benefits such as:







Accelerated delivery of Halsnead Garden Village;
Greater, more balanced housing offer in Knowsley;
Economic growth;
Increased attractiveness to investors and developers;
New skills attracted by employment sites; and
Healthier more active communities resulting from active travel infrastructure.

These benefits will be achieved through the delivery of the scheme objectives. Therefore, to
ensure these benefits are maximised, detailed monitoring and evaluation will be undertaken
throughout the scheme which will monitor the delivery of the project and its achievements
against the objectives and wider benefits. Full details of the approach to monitoring and
evaluation can be found in the appended Monitoring and Evaluation Plan Report.

Monitoring and evaluation arrangements
54. Please explain the arrangements that will be put in place to monitor the progression of the

project and delivery of benefits. (approx. 100 words)
A detailed Monitoring and Evaluation Plan (appended Monitoring and Evaluation Plan
Report) has been developed for this scheme using the Department for Transport’s (DfT)
guidance for Local Authority Major Schemes. Monitoring and evaluation will be undertaken in
two parts:
1. Monitoring of project delivery, focusing on scheme inputs and outputs; and
2. Monitoring achievement of the scheme objectives.
The monitoring of project delivery will ensure that the scheme is delivered on time, within
budget and to specification and will be an ongoing process throughout the delivery and
construction. The impacts and outcomes of the scheme will then be monitored following
scheme completion. Methods of monitoring, timeframes and owners of these tasks are set
out in the appended Monitoring and Evaluation Plan report.
55. Set out how and when the project will be evaluated. (approx. 100 words)

The Monitoring and Evaluation Plan identifies a number of methods which will be used to
monitor the scheme against the scheme outcomes. The data collection will be carried out
prior to or during delivery to assess baseline data. The process will then be repeated 1 and 4
years after scheme completion in order to make comparisons with the baseline data and
evaluate the success of the scheme.
Performance indicators will be used to measure the success of the scheme which include
reduced congestion on the surrounding highway network and junctions operating at or below
operating capacity.

Page 208

78

56. Summarise the exit strategy for the public sector and your forward strategy for the project.

(approx. 100 words)
The project involves opening up land for commercial and residential development through
the upgrade of surrounding junctions to accommodate background growth and development
traffic together with the provision of key access points and. On completion of the project the
interventions will form part of the adopted public highway and be managed and maintained
through existing associated budgets, thereby providing a suitable exit strategy for the public
sector. The project will remain part of the Halsnead Garden Village Programme and will
retain its governance and management arrangements, which are outlined earlier in this
submission. This will provide an appropriate forward strategy for the project, ensuring that
its benefits are maximised and sustained through a ‘whole place approach’ as stipulated in
the Liverpool City Region Growth Strategy.
In addition to completing the above, please also provide the following, where relevant:


Title



Planning consent certificate



State aid opinion



Evidence of matched funding



Land/building valuation



Cost plan



Design information (photo of existing building, plans of proposals, elevations, images)



Development appraisals



Market demand report



Business Plan (if appropriate)



Gantt Chart



Organisation chart



Job descriptions



Procurement policies



Service level agreements



Risk register



Financial information about the applicant

Page 209

79

Please also provide any additional information that you consider is relevant to
your application.

Data Protection Act 1998 and Freedom of Information Act 2000
The Combined Authority is a public body and may have to disclose contents of this application
on request.
The Combined Authority is the data controller for the purpose of the Data Protection Act 1998.
By proceeding to complete and submit this form, you consent that we may process the
personal data (including sensitive personal data) that we collect from you, and use the
information you provide to us, in accordance with our Privacy Policy.

Declaration
To be completed by the Business Case Applicant:
I hereby confirm that the information provided in this form is complete and, to the best of my
knowledge, accurate.
I acknowledge that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority may seek to verify the information
set out herein and agree to provide further information where it is available.
I acknowledge that any funding agreement reached with the Combined Authority is provisional until
approved by the LCR Combined Authority and confirmed in writing.

Signed……………………………………………………………………………………………………….

Date: 25 May 2018

Name: Sean Traynor

Position: Head of Highways & Transportation

Organisation/Company: Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council

Page 210

80

Certificate of Approval
To be completed by LCR CA staff:
I have read and understood the information provided by the applicant in this Initial Proposal and
confirm that the application has been appraised in accordance with the Liverpool City Region
Combined Authority Assurance Framework.
Appraisal Team

Investment Panel

Decision: Approve/Reject

Decision: Approve/Reject

Signed:……………………………………………………………….

Signed:……………………………………………………………….

Date:………………………………………………………………….. Date:…………………………………………………………………..
Name:………………………………………………………………… Name:…………………………………………………………………
Position:…………………………………………………………….. Position:……………………………………………………………..

Investment Committee

CA / Mayor

Decision: Approve/Reject

Decision: Approve/Reject

Signed:……………………………………………………………….

Signed:……………………………………………………………….

Date:………………………………………………………………….. Date:…………………………………………………………………..
Name:………………………………………………………………… Name:…………………………………………………………………
Position:…………………………………………………………….. Position:……………………………………………………………..

Page 211

81

Appendix A: State Aid
1.

2.

For all applicants using General Block Exemption Regulation "GBER" 651//2014 OJ L 187/1
of 26 June 2014 exemptions (eg. regional investment, training, research and development)
they must confirm that the project against which funding is sought has not yet started as at
the time of application.
For all applicants not qualifying as an SME within the meaning of Annex I GBER, they should
confirm "incentive effect" within the meaning of Article 6.3 GBER in showing evidence of
either:
a. in the case of regional investment aid, that but for the aid the project would not
be carried out in the area concerned or would not have been sufficiently
profitable for the beneficiary in the area concerned; or
b. in all other cases that the aid would result in a material increase in the scope of
the project/activity, the total amount spent by the beneficiary on the
project/activity, or the speed of completion of the project/;activity; or
c. confirm by nature of the exemption relied on that the incentive effect
requirements of Article 6.3 GBER are not required.
3. For applicants seeking to rely on regional investment aid (Articles 13
and 14 GBER) in particular please confirm:
a. All applicants regardless of size:
i. project is in an assisted area under the UK Regional aid Map 2014-20 see
http://www.ukassistedareasmap.com/ieindex.html;
ii. applicant has not closed down the same or a similar activity in the
European Economic Area in the two years preceding this application or
does not have concrete plans to close down such an activity within a
period of up to two years after the initial investment for which aid is
requested is completed in the area concerned (Article 13(d) GBER and
Article 2(50) GBER for definition of "same or similar activity");
iii. project will not involve activities in the steel sector, the coal sector, the
shipbuilding sector, the synthetic fibres sector, the transport sector as
well as the related infrastructure, energy generation, distribution and
infrastructure (Article 13(a) GBER and Articles 2(43), 2(44), 2(45) and
2(130) GBER for sector definitions);
iv. project will not involve activities in the fisheries and aquaculture sectors
(Article 1.3(a) GBER);
v. Project will not involve activities in the primary agricultural production
sector (Article 1.3(b) GBER and Article 2(9) and 2(11) GBER for
definitions) and
vi. Where cost of lease of plant or machinery is claimed, the lease must take
the form of financial leasing and must contain an obligation for the

Page 212

82

beneficiary of the aid to purchase the asset upon expiry of the term of
the lease (Article 14. 6(b) GBER).
b. if applicant is a large enterprise3 or member of a large group then please
confirm further to a above:
i. That the project involves an initial investment in favour of new economic
activity (Article 14.3 GBER and Articles 2(50) and 2(51) GBER for
definitions);
ii. The assets acquired are new (Article 14.6 GBER);
iii. for land and buildings, any eligible lease will continue for at least five
years after the expected date of completion of the investment project
(Article 14.6(a) GBER); and
iv. the investment will be maintained in the recipient area for at least five
years after completion of the investment (Article 14.5 GBER)4
c. If applicant is an SME or member of an SME group then (instead of b) please
confirm further to a above:
i. for land and buildings, any eligible lease will continue for at least three
years after the expected date of completion of the investment project
(Article 14.6(a) GBER);
ii. the investment will be maintained in the recipient area for at least three
years after completion of the investment (Article 14.5 GBER); and
iii. If the asset is acquired second hand there must be a suitable valuation for
it from an independent professional valuer.
Note: Further guidance on State aid can be obtained from the text of GBER or the GBER
PracticalGuidehttp://ec.europa.eu/competition/state_aid/legislation/practical_guide_gber_en.
pdf
For avoidance of doubt, in the event that the European Commission or a national Court would
determine that SIF support for the project is not compliant with State aid rules, the repayment
of any SIF funds received by the applicant will be required in full together with interest in
accordance with the European Commission's recovery rates from time to time5.

3

GBER Annex I Article 1-2 for stand alone companies and Article 3 for groups
This is to ensure durability of operations by maintaining investment in the area.
5
https://rubix.dwf.co.uk/Interact/Pages/Section/Default.aspx?homepage=1&section=-1#
4

Page 213

83

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY
To:

The Metro Mayor and Members of the Combined
Authority.

Meeting:

11th January 2019

Authority/Authorities Affected:

All

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No
Key Decision
REPORT OF THE TREASURER AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER – EDUCATION,
EMPLOYMENT, APPRENTICESHIPS AND SKILLS
ACCEPTANCE OF EU GRANT AND EXTENSIONS TO EXISITING PROGRAMMES

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

The purpose of this report is to propose that the Liverpool City Region Combined
Authority should accept and act as the Accountable Body for the European
Regional Development Fund (ERDF) North West Local Energy Technical
assistance project; make an onward grant award to the LCR Local Enterprise
Partnership for the ERDF North West Local Energy Technical assistance project;
accept additional EU grant awarded to the exisiting Liverpool City Region ERDF
Integrated Business Support Project programme and the Liverpool City Region
ERDF New Markets 2: Building Business Capacity programme and extend and
increase the grants awarded to partner agencies who deliver the ERDF Integrated
Business Support Project programme and the ERDF New Markets 2: Building
Business Capacity programme.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1.

It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority:
(a)

Formally accept the EU grant for the ERDF Local Energy Technical
Assistance project outlined in Table 1 and agree for the Combined Authority to
act as the Accountable Body for the project;

(b)

Agree the onward grant award of this money to the partner agency the LEP
listed in Table 2;

(c)

Agree to extend the end dates of the existing EU programmes listed in Table 3
due to receipt of additional grant funding available until end of March 2022;

(d)

Formally accept the additional EU grant outlined in Table 4 for which the
Combined Authority will continue to act as the Accountable Body;

Page 215

3.

(e)

Agree the onward grant awards of the additional money to relevant partner
agencies listed in Table 5;

(f)

Delegate authority to the Combined Authority Treasurer to sign relevant grant
funding agreement letters and agree any necessary amendments to these
schemes during the period of their delivery.

BACKGROUND

ERDF North West Local Energy Technical assistance
An application for ERDF North West Local Energy Technical assistance has been
submitted by the Combined Authority to the Ministry of Housing, Communities &
Local Government (the managing authority for European Regional Development
Funding) in order to support the delivery of the North West Local Energy Hub.
The North West Local Energy Hub will be established as one of five regional hubs in
England. These hubs funded by BEIS will operate for two years initially. The Local
Energy Hubs will seek to promote investment in energy projects by working with
local organisations to develop robust business cases. The hubs will also support
coordination of activity between organisations.
It is proposed that within the NW Local Energy Hub programme an ERDF Technical
Assistance activity is created. A proportion of local energy hub resource will be
devoted to supporting the development of business cases for projects that are
eligible to apply for ERDF 2014-2020 funds, either through open calls or through the
UDF vehicle. ESIF funding support will create a dedicated ERDF technical
assistance role within the team and enable the project to dedicate more time to
working with organisations which wish to submit grant applications for ERDF
funding.
The Combined Authority has now received a grant offer letter which will need to be
signed and accepted on behalf of the Combined Authority. This report requests that
the Combined Authority agree to accept this grant and act as Accountable Body for
the funding as outlined in Table 1.

Table 1: Summary of grant

Scheme Name

Amount of Grant
Awarded

Programme End Date

ERDF North West Local
Energy Technical
assistance

£76,742

31/03/2021

The bid will require the Combined Authority to make an onward grant awards to the
Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership as outlined in Table 2 below.

Page 216

Table 2:
Scheme Name: ERDF North West Local Energy Technical assistance
Partner Agency
LEP

Amount of Grant Awarded
£76,742

ERDF Extension Schemes
The Liverpool City Region ERDF Integrated Business Support Project programme
and the Liverpool City Region ERDF New Markets 2: Building Business Capacity
programme were awarded European Regional Development Funding (ERDF)
funding in 2016 to support LCR SMEs to create jobs and economic growth until the
31st December 2018.
The Managing Agent for the grant (the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local
Government) announced earlier this year that additional funds were available for
existing EU projects to apply to continue delivery over an extended period of time.
Approval has been granted by MHCLG to extend both programmes as outlined in
Table 3 and approval to award additional funds as outlined in Table 4.

Table 3: Summary of End Dates
Scheme Name
Liverpool City Region
ERDF Integrated
Business Support
Project
Liverpool City Region
ERDF New Markets
2: Building Business
Capacity

Original Programme End
Date
31/12/2018

Revised Programme End
Date
31/03/2022

31/12/2018

31/03/2022

Table 4: Summary of extension grants
Scheme Name
Liverpool City Region
ERDF Integrated
Business Support
Project
Liverpool City Region
ERDF New Markets
2: Building Business
Capacity

Original Amount of Grant Revised Amount of Grant
Awarded
Awarded
£2,935,124
£5,488,321

£5,641,582

Page 217

£6,705,297

The Combined Authority will be required to issue partner agencies with variations to
their existing grant funding agreements to confirm the extended end date and
increased grant awards as detailed in Table 5. The revised amount of grant
awarded is derived from budgets submitted by each partner agency to reflect on
going delivery costs until the revised programme end date.
Table 5.
Scheme Name: Liverpool City Region ERDF Integrated Business Support
Project
Partner Agency
Knowsley MBC
Sefton MBC
Halton BC
Liverpool Sefton
Chamber
Wirral Chamber
Liverpool Vision
Local Enterprise
Partnership
St Helens Chamber

Amount of Grant Awarded
£528,944
£544,207
£231,073
£118,108
£321,776
£349,129
£661,886
£180,000

Revised Amount of
Grant Awarded
£893,425
£993,708
£364,707
£250,141
£730,778
£417,835
£1,362,017
£475,710

Scheme Name: Liverpool City Region ERDF New Markets 2: Building
Business Capacity
Partner Agency
Agent Marketing
Downtown in
Business, The
Venture Accelerator
Programme (VAP)
High Performance
Consultancy, The
Venture Accelerator
Programme (VAP)
Local Enterprise
Partnership
Liverpool & Sefton
Chambers of
Commerce
St Helens Chamber
The University of
Liverpool

Amount of Grant Awarded
£245,211

Revised Amount of
Grant Awarded
£402,057

£245,562

£546,351

£233,976

£406,465

£1,090,255

£2,231,607

£450,483

£720,068

£340,495

£527,826

£357,533

£984,238

Accepting the additional money and extending the delivery end date will enable
partners to deliver additional outputs and results to benefit more LCR SMEs. This
support should help create jobs and economic growth to the LCR.

Page 218

4.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

4.1.

Financial
All delivery partners contribute towards the overall costs for the Programme
Management costs incurred by the Combined Authority. Therefore, accepting the
additional grant will not result in any additional costs for the Combined Authority.

4.2.

Human Resources
The Combined Authority ESIF Programmes Team will continue to oversee the
delivery and compliance of the projects with support from the Combined Authority’s
legal and finance teams.

4.3.

Physical Assets
There are no impacts on physical assets arising from this report.

4.4.

Information Technology
The approval to accept the additional grant and extend the two programmes will not
give rise to Information Technology issues.

5.

RISKS AND MITIGATION

5.1.

There is always a risk of clawback when dealing with European funding. This has
been mitigated by putting into place back to back grant funding agreements with
partner agencies and by securing experienced European grant management
officers to oversee this work. The Combined Authority will issue each partner
agency with a variation to their current grant funding agreement to confirm the
revised end date and increase in grant.

5.2.

There is a risk of under delivery against these projects with consequent opportunity
loss to the City Region. This will be mitigated by clear management responsibilities,
with regular reporting to the Combined Authority on progress.

6.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

6.1

There are no specific equality and diversity implications associated with the
implementation of the recommendations in this report.

7.

COMMUNICATION ISSUES

7.1

The various programmes and schemes outlined in Tables 1, 2, 3, 4 &5 of this report
will provide a range of key support services to the businesses and citizens of the
sub-region and should provide Combined Authority members with a range of good
news opportunities within their local area.

Page 219

8.

CONCLUSION

8.1.

This report presents the Combined Authority with the opportunity to support the
delivery of £12,270,360 EU ERDF funded schemes across the Liverpool City
Region.
JOHN FOGARTY
Treasurer
COUNCILLOR IAN MAHER
Portfolio Holder: Education, Employment, Apprenticeships & Skills

Contact Officer(s):
Darren Hardy, Liverpool City Council (0151 233 0257)
Alex Eslick, Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (0151 330 1569)
Appendices: None
Background Documents: None

Page 220

Agenda Item 10
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY
To:

The Metro Mayor & Members of the Combined Authority

Meeting:

11 January 2019

Authority/Authorities Affected:

All

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF POLICY AND STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING AND
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: TRANSPORT AND AIR QUALITY
TRANSFORMING CITIES FUND: UPDATE AND PROPOSED NEXT STEPS

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

This report updates the Combined Authority on the progress of the Transforming
Cities Fund programme, following the first commissioning round launched in July
2018. It also provides a brief update on additional Transforming Cities Funding that
has been secured within the 2018 Autumn Budget.

1.2

Following consideration of the issues by the Transport Committee on 13 December
2018, the Combined Authority is recommended that the detail and timing of future
Transforming Cities Funding “calls” (i.e. invitations to submit bids and applications)
be delegated to the Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning, in conjunction
with the Lead Portfolio Member for Transport and Air Quality.

1.3

This is in the interests of effectiveness and efficiency, by ensuring that schemes and
priorities are brought forward on a rolling basis per the overarching principles agreed
by the Combined Authority in July 2018. However, all final project funding decisions
on Transforming Cities Fund applications will rest with the Combined Authority in line
with the SIF Investment Strategy and assurance framework.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

It is recommended that members of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority:
(a) note the progress to date with the development of the first tranche of
Transforming Cities Funding;
(b) agree that commissioned “calls” for the Transforming Cities Funding be delegated
to the Director of Policy and Strategy Commissioning in conjunction with the Lead
Portfolio Member for Transport and Air Quality in the interests of effectiveness
and efficiency; and

Page 221

(c) agree that further updates on future commissioning rounds and on emerging
schemes and priorities be provided at regular intervals.

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

Members will recall that, as part of the 2017 Autumn Budget, the Government
created a £1.7bn Transforming Cities Fund. This had the aim of driving up
productivity through investment in public and sustainable transport, focused on
enhanced intra-city connectivity in some of England’s biggest cities.

3.2

Half of this funding was allocated on a per capita basis to Mayoral Combined
Authorities with an existing, directly-elected Mayor. The remainder was set to be
allocated by a competitive process to up to ten other city regions.

3.3

Through this process, the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority was initially
awarded £134 million over four years. As a condition of funding, the allocation falls
under the Combined Authority’s Strategic Investment Fund (“SIF”) and will be
managed in accordance with its assurance framework.

3.4

In July 2018, the Combined Authority agreed a broad commissioning plan1 for the
funding, based on the key issues and challenges identified by the city region. Three
priority themes were agreed:

Theme 1: Improving and expanding the public transport network to meet
new areas of demand
Transforming intra-city regional rail connectivity and exploiting the city region’s rail
network to maximise the attractiveness and uptake of the new, bespoke rolling
stock on the Merseyrail network from 2019/20 onwards. This will improve the
quality, capacity and resilience of the network, particularly at Liverpool Central
Station, which serves the main areas of growth in the city centre.



Theme 2: Improving the appeal of public transport, and particularly bus,
against private transport
This will principally entail a programme of enhancements to the city region’s bus
highway infrastructure on core commuting routes to the main growth areas that
exist or which are developing. The focus will be on technological enhancements
to secure more competitive journey times, operational efficiencies, lower levels of
congestion and improved air quality.



Theme 3: Intervening for health and wellbeing
This will be focused on decarbonising the transport network, reducing emissions
and encouraging more healthy forms of travel. It will entail the development of a
comprehensive programme of a network of high quality cycleways linking key
residential areas and employment areas and also measures that reduce
emissions and pollution from motorised transport.

1

http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/uploadedfiles/Members/lcrca_270718_agenda.pdf

Page 222

3.5

The Combined Authority also agreed to start the commissioning process, focusing on
the first year’s funding allocation, with the aim of seeking to commit, and where
possible, spend the £10 million of funding available in 2018/19.

3.6

More specifically, members agreed to commission Merseytravel, on behalf of the
Liverpool City Region’s local authorities, to bring forward three proposals at a
Strategic Outline Case stage ahead of a deadline of 1 November 2018:a) Funding for the launch of a smart ticketing portal and new ticketing media as a
successor to “Walrus”;
b) Support for a new, low carbon and low emission vessel(s) to replace the ageing
Mersey Ferries; and
c) Match funding in respect of the priority European Regional Development Fund
Sustainable Urban Development (SUD) programme of green travel routes for
cyclists

3.7

These interventions were identified as they directly support Mayoral priorities and
were in the strongest position to commit funding that is available this financial year.

3.8

In addition, £500,000 of development funding was made available in the current
financial year, to allow Merseytravel, again on behalf of the Liverpool City Region, to
accelerate scheme development work, to help bring forward future transforming cities
funding schemes. This pre-development funding was made available under the SIF
Round 1 process and assurance framework tests, and applications thus require
approval by the Combined Authority. All future development funding is proposed to
follow the updated assurance framework submitted for approval in a separate report
to this meeting of the Combined Authority.

3.9

Furthermore, members will be aware that all final project funding decisions on
Transforming Cities Fund applications rest with the Combined Authority in line with
the SIF Investment Strategy2 and when approved, the updated assurance framework.

4.

PROGRESS TO DATE

4.1

Firstly, at a national level, it is worth noting that in September 2018, the government
shortlisted the following ten cities to progress their competitive bids:-.

4.2

At a Liverpool City Region level, benefiting from its predetermined allocation, three
Strategic Outline Cases (SOCs) were duly received in respect of the three

2

http://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_Strat_Invest_Fund_July_2018.pdf

Page 223

commissioned projects outlined in paragraph 3.6 above. At the time of writing this
report, these are in the process of being appraised by the Combined Authority’s
Investment Team in line with the new Investment Strategy and Assurance
Framework principles.
4.3

Should these applications meet the underlying requirements and tests, they will be
invited to progress to the next stage of development, namely to Outline Business
Case (OBC) level. For projects costing less than £5 million, the Combined Authority
has previously agreed3 that these can take the form of conjoined Outline Business
Cases and Full Business Case, in the interest of expediency.

4.4

In addition, four bids seeking a share of the £500,000 development fund were
received, to support the following concepts:




transforming Commuter Bus Corridors;
a Liverpool City Region Cycle and Walking Network;
Liverpool City Region Mass Transit Options; and
Hydrogen fuelling options study.

These development funding bids will be presented to a future meeting of the
Combined Authority.
4.5

In parallel, the 2018 Autumn Budget confirmed that the Government had extended
the Transforming Cities Fund by a year, from 2021-22 to 2022-23. The Budget
provides an extra £240 million to the six Metro Mayors for significant transport
investment in their areas, of which the Liverpool City Region will receive £38.5
million. A further £440 million was made available to the non-Mayoral Combined
Authority city regions shortlisted for the competitive funding element.

4.6

In light of this additional funding and in order to explore the potential of introducing
and delivering more transformational public transport and sustainable transport
schemes, it is also proposed that in addition to the list of proposals that have been
submitted by partners and that can be packaged together where appropriate, we now
explore a range of other initiatives that could include the following:





4.7

A surface or underground access system linking Liverpool South Parkway to
Liverpool John Lennon Airport
The potential devolution of Merseyrail Infrastructure
Introducing digital railway technology on the Merseyrail network to improve
journey time reliability, safety and public information
Urban Traffic Control technology to improve journey time reliability and
punctuality whilst at the same time reducing delays and air pollution.

The additional funding thus alters the profiling of the Combined Authority’s overall
Transforming Cities Fund allocation as follows:-

3

http://councillors.knowsley.gov.uk/documents/s46436/Item%2012%20%20Liverpool%20City%20Region%20Single%20Investment%20Fund.pdf?StyleType=standard&StyleSize=no
ne

Page 224

Year
Profile

2018/19
£10m

2019/20
£30m

2020/21
£40m

2021/22
£54m

2022/23
£38.5m

Total
£172.5m

4.8

This means that the Combined Authority has both additional time and additional
funding to deliver transformational enhancements to sustainable transport, and which
is extremely welcome. However, this creates further pressure to accelerate scheme
development and delivery on the ground, to maximise the impact and success of the
funding. It is also important to note that the funding allocations each year are in-year
allocations, not indicative levels and must be spent or swapped with other capital
funds, as they cannot be carried over. There are significant reputational issues
associated with this.

5.

NEXT STEPS

5.1

As agreed in principle by the Combined Authority in July 2018, the city region’s
Transforming Cities Funding will be commissioned on a rolling basis, with “calls” (i.e.
invitations to submit specific bids and applications) issued at regular stages until all of
the funding has been committed and ultimately, spent in an appropriate way. This
approach reflects the fact that candidate measures that support the three agreed
priority themes are at varying states of readiness, with some at an embryonic or
conceptual stage. This is not unexpected, given the scale and transformational
significance of the measures at stake.

5.2

Allied to this, members will appreciate the importance of ensuring a steady flow of
funding “calls” from the Combined Authority to applicants, to secure a steady flow of
applications and ultimately, scheme approvals. This is especially important in view of
the increased level of funding that the Combined Authority now benefits from and the
imperative to deliver on the ground. At a practical level, the actual timing of these
calls also needs to be responsive to eligible schemes’ state of development and
readiness.

5.3

As such, the Transport Committee recommends to the Combined Authority that the
detail and timing of future Transforming Cities Funding “calls” is delegated to the
Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning, in conjunction with the Lead Portfolio
Member for Transport and Air Quality. These funding “calls” or commissions will be
published on the Combined Authority’s website and communicated to local authority
and other interested parties as they become available. The “calls” would be linked
wholly to the three agreed priorities and associated commissioning text agreed by the
Combined Authority in July 2018.

5.4

This approach is commended in the interests of effectiveness and efficiency, by
ensuring that schemes and priorities are invited to be brought forward on a rolling
basis and without needing formal approval by the Combined Authority each time. It is
important to note that the Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning also sits as
a member of SIF Investment Panel, and that in the interests of transparency, they will
be required to register an interest when considering projects that they have
specifically invited to come forward.

Page 225

5.5

In addition, Members are reminded that all final funding decisions on Transforming
Cities Fund applications rest with the Combined Authority, in line with the principles
governing the Strategic Investment Fund as set out in the newly adopted Assurance
Framework. This proposal to streamline the commissioning process does not alter
the overriding tests and safeguards set out within the Assurance Framework.

6.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

6.1

Financial
The funding takes the form of a section 31 capital grant. It will be managed by the
Combined Authority in accordance with the new Single Investment Fund Assurance
Framework.
In addition to the need to manage the grant funding across financial years, there will
be financial implications associated with the development of business cases and with
their associated appraisal.
The Combined Authority agreed in October 2018 to commission £6.4 million in predevelopment funding, now provided for in the updated assurance framework, and the
appraisal costs will be met from within the Combined Authority’s operating budgets.

6.2

Human Resources
There will be Human Resource implications associated with the management of the
fund from within the Combined Authority in terms of the commissioning process, the
appraisal of submissions and with the monitoring and evaluation of measures. These
will be addressed as part of the ongoing resourcing of the Combined Authority.

6.3

Physical Assets
The funding will support the delivery and enhancement of sustainable transport
infrastructure across the Liverpool City Region.

6.4

Information Technology
There are likely to be Information Technology implications associated with the
funding, given the imperative by government and by the Combined Authority alike to
support technological enhancements that break down barriers to the increased use
of sustainable transport (e.g. smart ticketing and the provision of high quality
information).

7.

RISKS AND MITIGATION

7.1

The funding will be managed as part of the Strategic Investment Fund. Through
adherence to the Assurance Framework, safeguards exist to ensure that value for
money is achieved and that funds are committed appropriately. There will also be a
need to ensure that appropriate capacity is in place to oversee the successful
delivery of the measures.

7.2

The principal risks relate to ensuring that funding is spent in line with the annual
funding allocations, as set out in paragraph 4.8 above.

Page 226

8.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

8.1

There are no direct implications at this strategic level, but equality and diversity
considerations will be addressed in detail as part of the business cases that are
developed for the ensuing measures.

9.

COMMUNICATION ISSUES

9.1

There are no direct implications issues at this stage, but the marketing and promotion
of new sustainable transport infrastructure that is delivered using the funding will be
important, in order to maximise its success.

10.

CONCLUSION

10.1. This report updates the Combined Authority on the progress of the Transforming
Cities Fund, following the first commissioning round launched in July 2018. The
report also provides a brief update on additional Transforming Cities Funding that
stems from the 2018 Autumn Budget.
10.2 At a city region level, three Strategic Outline Case (SOC) applications have been
received in respect of the three commissioned projects previlously invited to come
forward by the Combined Authority. These are being considered. In addition, four
bids seeking a share of the development funding have been received and form a
separate agenda item.
10.3 It has previously been agreed in principle that Transforming Cities Funding will be
commissioned on a rolling process, to reflect the fact that candidate measures are at
varying stages of readiness. To this end, the Transport Committee recommends that
the detail and timing of future Transforming Cities Funding “calls” is delegated to the
Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning, in conjunction with the Lead Portfolio
Member for Transport and Air Quality. This is in the interests of effectiveness and
efficiency, by ensuring that schemes and priorities are brought forward on a
continuous, rolling basis. This proposal does not alter the overriding tests and
safeguards set out within the Assurance Framework.
10.4 Members will receive further regular updates on future commissioning rounds and on
emerging schemes.

KIRSTY PEARCE
Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning
CLLR LIAM ROBINSON
Portfolio Holder: Transport and Air Quality

Page 227

Contact Officer(s):
Huw Jenkins, Lead Officer – Transport Policy, Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
0151 330 1393

Appendices:
None
Background Documents:
None

Page 228

Agenda Item 11
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY
To:

The Metro Mayor & Members of the Combined Authority

Meeting:

11 January 2019

Authority/Authorities Affected:

All

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM No

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF POLICY AND STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING AND
THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER: ENERGY AND RENEWABLES
LOOKING FORWARD TO YEAR OF ENVIRONMENT 2019

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

The aim of this report is to update the Combined Authority on the key themes and
activities that are being co-ordinated across the Liverpool City Region, in support of
Year of Environment in 2019.

1.2

The report also highlights areas where the Metro Mayor and Combined Authority
will play prominent roles in the process. This recognises that the Combined
Authority‟s engagement in the year of activities aligns fully with its clear ambitions,
together with its policy and funding influences, to help grow a clean, inclusive,
sustainable and low carbon city region.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
(a)

reiterates its support for, and active participation in the Liverpool City
Region‟s Year of Environment 2019; and

(b)

receives updates during, and at the conclusion of the Year of Environment,
on the achievements, lessons and legacies arising from the Year.

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

Members will recall a report considered and approved by the Combined Authority in
August 2018 which secured the Authority‟s support for, and participation in the Year
of Environment 2019. It was agreed that engagement in the event aligned fully with
the Mayoral Combined Authority‟s stated ambitions around the creation of a clean,
inclusive, sustainable and low carbon city region. Input and support by the Authority

Page 229

will principally be in-kind rather than in the form of direct financial contributions,
utilising the Combined Authority‟s convening and influencing role in the main.
3.2

At a city regional level, Nature Connected, the Local Nature Partnership, is a strong
and inclusive advocate of the campaign and secured the Metro Mayor‟s and the
Authority‟s engagement in the process. Nature Connected is chaired by Gideon
Ben-Tovim, who is also the Mayoral Advisor on the Natural Environment and who
has been a passionate and committed figurehead for the Year of Environment .
The Environment Agency is also a key partner in the promotion of the event, both
locally and nationally.

3.3

In support of Year of Environment locally, Nature Connected and partners have
recruited a part-time coordinator, Nick Drew, who has been instrumental in drawing
together a strong and equal partnership of many stakeholder organisations across
the public, private, community and voluntary sector. These include: the constituent
local authorities, the Combined Authority, Merseyside Recycling and Waste
Authority, Peel, United Utilities, Liverpool Mutual Housing, Eco Schools and
Merseyside Environmental Trust. This is essential to foster positive action in order
to participate in the themes being promoted, and to leave a lasting legacy.

3.4

Embarking in a year of activities across the city region provides a unique
opportunity to change the conversation around the environment. It will allow people
and communities, and also the six local authorities, the Combined Authority, Nature
Connected, and the Environment Agency to work together, and demonstrate
partnership working at its best.

3.5

Participating in this initiative presents an ideal opportunity to showcase the city
region‟s natural assets and celebrate the valuable work done by so many in the city
region to maintain the local environment and to engender a greater appreciation of
the Liverpool City Region‟s natural environment. This will reflect on similar
initiatives in the recent past, to ensure that work that has gone on before, and the
valuable insights and lessons learned in the past, are built upon.

3.6

Equally, Year of Environment will help raise awareness of issues and areas that
demand action and attention, including air quality, waste levels, and the need to
shift towards more sustainable use of energy. Many of these areas are influenced
by the Combined Authority‟s policy and funding responsibilities. The Year of
Environment may also include benchmarking of the city region‟s current
environmental performance, to better understand the range of future challenges,
and inspire both collective and individual action.

3.7

It is considered that the Liverpool City Region is taking a bold approach to its
response to the opportunity, and the agreed Mission Statement and priority areas
underpinning the Year of Environment are set out in Appendix One to this report.

4.

NEXT STEPS

4.1

Launch events are being planned in each of the six local authority areas and also at
a Combined Authority level, following on from the Combined Authority launch in

Page 230

January, which is addressed in paragraph 4.4 below. A launch brochure has been
developed and is available at www.yoe2019lcr.org.uk.
4.2

The organisers of the Year are proposing a series of „spotlight months‟ for the eight
themes set out in the Mission Statement, between February and September 2019.
The end of the year will be marked by a Green Summit in November, which the
Metro Mayor, as a public champion, has been requested to host, with the aim of
leaving a lasting legacy beyond 2019.

4.3

Press coverage, communication activities and the use of social media will also be
crucial to raise awareness of events and activities, and the Combined Authority will
lend its support in this respect on an “in kind” basis. The Year of Environment team
is also working closely with the Echo Environment Awards, which launch later in
January, with the award ceremony in April receiving significant publicity.

4.4

To mark the start of Year of Environment, the Metro Mayor is hosting a formal
launch event comprising leaders, officials and representatives and community
groups, to follow the meeting of the Combined Authority on 11 January 2019.
Emma Howard-Boyd, Chair of the Environment Agency will also attend, and speak
at the launch event, in recognition of the Agency‟s support.

4.5

It is hoped that this will be a positive demonstration of the Combined Authority‟s
commitment to this agenda, recognising the clear alignment with the Authority‟s
ambitions to grow a clean, inclusive, sustainable and low carbon city region.

4.6

It is proposed that members of the Combined Authority receive updates updates
during, and at the conclusion of the Year of Environment, on the achievements,
lessons and legacies arising from the Year.

5.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

5.1

Financial
There are no direct financial implications for the Combined Authority, other than
through in-kind contributions and ongoing support. This will be through, for example,
attendance at events, joint communications and the alignment of programmes,
launches and activities.

5.2.

Human Resources
No direct implications. The Year of Environment coordinator has been recruited and
employed by a third party.

5.3

Physical Assets
No direct implications.

Page 231

5.4

Information Technology
The Combined Authority will support the Year of Environment through the use of
social media and links on the Combined Authority‟s website.

6.

RISKS AND MITIGATION

6.1

There are no direct risks to the Combined Authority as a result of the planned
participation in the year of action. Indeed participation in the activities will help raise
awareness of environmental issues that pose risks to the city region in terms of
risks to health, wellbeing or resilience.

7.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

7.1

There are no direct implications, though it will be important to secure engagement
with a wide range of groups and stakeholders, including people with characteristics
that are protected under the Equality Act 2010, as part of the delivery of the Year of
Environment.

8.

COMMUNICATION ISSUES

8.1

Communication will be an integral part of the Combined Authority‟s support for the
Year Environment. Support would predominantly be in-kind through attendance at
events, speeches, launches and joint promotions and communications, together
with suitable branding and publicity for activities that are led by the Combined
Authority.

9.

CONCLUSION

9.1

The aim of this report is to update the Combined Authority on the key themes and
activities that are being co-ordinated across the Liverpool City Region, in support of
Year of Environment in 2019.

9.2

Launch events are being planned in each of the six local authority areas and also at
a Combined Authority level, the latter of which will follow the meeting of the
Combined Authority on 11 January 2019.

9.3

Participation provides an ideal opportunity to showcase the city region‟s natural
assets and celebrate the valuable work done by so many in the city region to
maintain the local environment and to engender a greater appreciation of the
Liverpool City Region‟s natural environment.

9.4

Equally, Year of the Environment will help raise awareness of issues and areas that
demand action and attention, including air quality, waste levels, and the need to
shift towards a more sustainable use of energy. Many of these areas are influenced
by the Combined Authority‟s policy and funding roles.

Page 232

KIRSTY PEARCE
Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning
COUNCILLOR R POLHILL
Portfolio Holder: Energy and Renewables

Contact Officer(s):
Huw Jenkins, Lead Officer – Transport Policy, Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
(0151 330 1393)
Appendices:
Appendix One – Mission Statement and Core Aims of the Year of Environment 2019
Background Documents:
None

Page 233

Appendix One
Mission Statement and Core Aims of the Year of Environment 2019

Page 234

Agenda Item 14
Transport Committee

Transport Committee
13 December 2018

Present:

Councillor L Robinson, Chair
Councillor G Friel, Deputy Chair
Councillors R Abbey, D Baum, S Foulkes, H Howard,
J Jackson, P McKinley, N Nicholas, M O'Mara OBE,
G Pearl, G Philbin, K Roberts, J Stockton, C Rowe,
H Thompson, J Williams and F Wynn

64.

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors John Dodd, Paul
Hayes, Susan Murphy and Anthony Lavelle.
__________
The Chair informed the Committee that Councillor Norman Keats had
stepped down from the Transport Committee with immediate effect and on
behalf of the Committee thanked him for his attendance, commitment and
support to the Transport Committee.
The Chair also informed the Committee that Councillor Dot Johnson had
been nominated to take Councillor Keats place on the Committee and subject
to the approval of the Combined Authority would join the Committee at its
next meeting on 10 January 2019.
__________

65.

Declarations of Interest
Councillor Steve Foulkes declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 9 –
Petitions and Statements by virtue of being one of the petitioners.

66.

Minutes of the Last Meeting
RESOLVED that the minutes of the last meeting of the Transport Committee
held on 1 November 2018, be approved as a correct record.

Page 235

Transport Committee

67.

Presentation - Merseyrail Update
The Committee received a presentation from Mr Andy Heath, Managing
Director of Merseyrail.
The presentation focussed on the following: 












Delivering for passengers since 2003;
Award winning network;
New State of the Art Trains;
Journey Times;
Rolling Stock Design;
Operational Readiness;
Platform Upgrade Work;
Industrial Relations;
Future Ticketing;
Local Communities;
Rail Industry Challenges; and
The Williams Review.

Members thanked Merseyrail for a number of recent successes including the
Giants weekend and the work done on the Wirral Slab-tracks and Liverpool
Lime Street and also expressed their appreciation for the staff at Merseyrail
for dealing with the passengers during the difficult period and all the recent
changes.
Members enquired about the upgrade to the platforms and the possibility of
increasing the number of short-forms during peak hours with the pending
new trains and if anything could be done to reduce the single and return fares
across the network.
Andy Heath informed the meeting that there were a number of challenges
with the current fleet and getting the remaining trains through the Train
Reliability Improvement Programme (TRIP) to increase and improve
reliability, mainly due to the age of the trains. Merseyrail had collaborated
with Stadler to introduce the TRIP programme in order to improve reliability.
He also stated that the network had the cheapest rail-fares in the country and
discussions were taking place nationally about fares and fare structures
including the single and zonal fares.
Members discussed the reduction in fares for young people and ensuring rail
tickets be reduced in the New Year for up to 19 year olds and enquired about
how “fare evasion” was being tackled.
Sarah Sperring, Head of Marketing for Merseyrail informed the Committee
that there had been an increase in under 18s using the network and with the
introduction of the identification scheme to improve usage. She also stated

Page 236

Transport Committee

that the network was looking at reducing the paper tickets in the future and
that a scheme would be introduced in 2019 for the 16-26 age range.
Andy Heath commented that a survey had recently been commissioned
involving 40,000 passengers which highlighted that 4% of passengers
already use ticketless travel that contributes to the perception that
passengers are evading fares. However, staff have been instructed across all
the stations to keep the gates closed and to check tickets. He assured the
Committee that lots of processes were in place to manage gates and tickets,
but there were particular challenges in certain stations e.g. Central Station in
the City Centre.
Members enquired about smart and ticketless ticketing and the focus of
Merseyrail relating to tickets in the future and if any improvements were
being made for the autumn and winter to keep the lines cleared.
Andy Heath informed the Committee that moving to smart ticketing would be
expensive and challenging, not just for Merseyrail, but the entire network rail
and that moving to ticketless would be done in two phases in 2020 and 2022
with a commitment and more collaborative approach with Transport for the
North and Merseytravel. He also commented that Merseyrail had a multipurpose vehicle that works for 12 weeks between October and December
normally once a day jet washing rail heads and applying a modifier. Trains
were also fitted with sanders and sand boxes which were checked regularly
to ensure the lines were clear and the sand boxes were filled.
Members enquired about trains for the future relating to the environment and
the climate and bidding processes for hydrogen and whether Merseyrail were
prepared for any flooding on the lines as a result of heavy rainfall.
Andy Heath informed the Committee that the new trains would have
regenerative breaking which would reduce carbon footprint and that
Merseyrail had an environmental code that all staff adhered too. He further
stated that station lighting would be replaced with LED lighting which would
be funded by Network Rail and there were a number of other initiatives that
Merseyrail were involved in which would be shared with the Committee. He
also stated that there was already good drainage on the network and officers
were aware of areas that were likely to flood with heavy rainfall.
The Chair enquired about proper bus and train integration and the views of
Merseyrail relating to franchising and the different models for bus operators
in the City Region.
Andy Heath informed the Committee that “door to door” journeys were a
challenge with trying to integrate the transport system across the region and
planning journeys. The trains were mainly on time, but it was a challenge for
the bus network to be integrated into the rail network given all the logistical
issues, but discussions were being held. He commented that he welcomed

Page 237

Transport Committee

any ideas to improve the transport links and integration across the region and
that franchising was a good idea.
The Chair enquired about the festive period and late night services and
whether it was being looked at to be implemented again in the future.
Andy Heath stated that the Boxing Day services from a commercial
perspective was not profitable, but recognised the value to the City Region
and that it was being looked at for the future, but would not be repeated this
year due to works. He also stated that late night trains were a bit more
difficult and had more issues to deal with including the risk to the travelling
public and possibly one boarding point and regulating who got on the train or
not, but again it was not commercially profitable.
The Committee noted the presentation and thanked Andy Heath and Sarah
Sperring for attending the meeting and wished Merseyrail and its staff a
Merry Christmas.

68.

Quarter 2 Merseytravel Financial Monitoring and Corporate Plan
Performance Report 2018/19
The Committee considered a report from Mick Noone (Director of Integrated
Transport) and Sarah Johnston (Head of Finance) in relation to an overview
of financial corporate and operational performance of Merseytravel for Q2
(July to September) 2018/19.
Sarah Johnston explained the financial performance and highlighted the
budget that was approved together with the operation of the Transport
services and the reserves.
Mick Noone explained the key performance indicators and highlighted the
revised outputs and priorities and the actions currently underway to improve
the priorities.
Members enquired about the further demands to be placed on the reserves
in accordance to paragraph 4.15.
John Fogarty, Director of Corporate Services informed the Committee that
there were some outstanding legal land issues to be resolved and there was
a degree of exposure, which could not be quantified and the financial position
could be adversely affected in major schemes.
Members enquired about the bus hub objections referred to in Priority 3,
paragraph 3d and the cycling data in KPI 2.
Mick Noone informed the Committee that he would confirm what the
objections were and that cycling data was a real challenge to acquire as the

Page 238

Transport Committee

cycling counters were not reliable and improvements were being made to
collecting cycling data.
Members enquired about the Newton Le Willows station and where things
were up to.
Shane Fitzpatrick, Senior Head of Service Operations informed the
Committee that Newton Le Willows would be having a “soft opening” with a
ticket office in the first/second week of January, having had some recent
issues.
RESOLVED that the contents of the report be noted and any further
information be provided upon request as appropriate.

69.

Multi-Operator Ticketing Scheme - Product and Pricing Update and
Proposals
The Committee considered a report from Gary Evans relating to specific
scheme arrangements, product and price changes for all Merseytravel prepaid tickets and highlighted the following: 





The Merseytravel Multi-Operator Ticketing Scheme is owned by the
Combined Authority and administered by Merseytravel;
It is structured as a voluntary partnership under powers granted by the
Transport Act 2000;
The scheme ensures that there is a legal local ticketing offer that can
be used on more than one operator and more than one mode in the
interest of providing customers with affordable transport tickets;
All proposed increases were on average within the RPI increase of
3.2% subject to “rounding down” rules; and
The report does not relate to the Solo Bus only pre-paid ticket product.

The Chair commented that price increases were always a challenge and over
the last 10 years it has increased with the rate of inflation. However, it has
always been better value in comparison to other CA’s and cities around the
country.
RESOLVED that the Transport Committee approves that the annual price
recommendations for the Merseytravel Multi-Operator Ticketing Scheme
products, to be fully implemented by the 3 January 2019 (or August 2019 for
Term time tickets) for Trio, Railpass and Saveaway tickets as outlined in
Appendix 1 of the report.

Page 239

Transport Committee

70.

Transforming Cities Fund Update
The Committee considered a report from Mick Noone, Director of Integrated
Transport that provided an update on the progress of the Transforming Cities
Fund programme, following the first commissioning round launched in July
2018.
Mick Noone provided the Committee with an update and highlighted the
following: 






Paragraph 1.3 made reference to the Lead Portfolio Officer for
Transport and Air Quality, but it should correctly read “ Lead Portfolio
Member for Transport and Air Quality;
The three proposals agreed for commissioning include: o Funding for the launch of a smart ticketing portal and new
ticketing media as a successor to “Walrus”;
o Support for a new, low carbon and low emission vessel (s) to
replace the ageing Mersey Ferries; and
o Match funding in respect of the priority European Regional
Development Fund Sustainable Urban Development (SUD)
programme of green travel routes for cyclists.
£500k of development funding has been made available in the current
financial year to allow Merseytravel to accelerate scheme
development work on behalf of the Liverpool City Region and four bids
have been received: o Transforming Commuter Bus Corridors
o A Liverpool City Region Cycle and Walking Network
o Liverpool City Region Mass Transit Options; and
o Hydrogen fuelling options to promote take-up of alternative
fuels
Other initiatives to be explored include: o A surface or underground access system linking Liverpool
South Parkway to Liverpool John Lennon Airport.
o The potential devolution of Merseyrail Infrastructure.
o Introducing digital railway technology on the Merseyrail network
to improve journey time reliability, safety and public information.
o Urban Traffic Control Technology to improve journey time
reliability and punctuality whilst at the same time reducing
delays and air pollution.

Members enquired if a scrappage scheme, electric charging pods and drone
delivery could be looked at and incorporated into one of the proposed
schemes given that electric vehicles and reducing carbon and emissions are
being considered.
Mick Noone informed the Committee that the entire purpose of report was to
highlight the transformative nature of the proposed schemes and nothing
should be ignored. By definition the schemes have to be transforming and
this would be taken into account.

Page 240

Transport Committee

Members commented that to spend £172m in four years would be difficult
and it was not about taking decisions quickly, but rather ensuring the
democratic processes and decision making were monitored and that the
Committee were kept informed of the decisions either before it was made or
after it was taken.
Mick Noone informed the Committee that though delegated authority was
being sought for the Director of Policy and Commissioning and the Lead
Portfolio Member for Transport and Air Quality, the decisions and approval of
schemes would only be taken by the Combined Authority.
Members suggested that the schemes should be transformational, creative
and innovative, with opportunities to alleviate any revenue implications on the
budget.
The Chair recommended that a briefing session be arranged in the New Year
to discuss and propose schemes for the Transforming Cities Fund.
RESOLVED that the Transport Committee: a) Notes the progress to date with the development of the first tranche of
Transforming Cities Funding;
b) Recommends to the Combined Authority at its next meeting on the 11th
January 2019 that commissioned “calls” for the Transforming Cities
Funding be delegated to the Director of Policy and Strategy
Commissioning in conjunction with the lead Portfolio Member for
Transport and Air Quality in the interests of effectiveness and efficiency;
c) Agrees that further updates on future commissioning rounds and on
emerging schemes and priorities are provided at regular intervals; and
d) A Member Briefing Session be arranged in the New Year to discuss and
propose schemes for the Transforming Cities Fund.

71.

Public Question Time
The Committee received two public questions from Mr Andrew Wennell who
was in attendance and was provided an opportunity to ask his questions to
the Committee as follows: Question 1
If you are on things like DLA or PIP as it is known these days on the higher
rate for mobility and you may have other disabilities like myself who is
registered blind you might not be able to apply for the Mersey Tunnel
discount because you might not always be driven in the same vehicle. This is
not a single occurrence it happens with other locations on a similar schemes

Page 241

Transport Committee

(like Mersey Gateway bridge) where they say you can only change the
vehicle registration on the account once every 6 months. So to me it feels like
yes we tick all the other boxes to apply for the exemption but now yes there
is another barrier to cross. What can both Merseytravel and Halton Council
do in relation to this issue?
The Chair thanked Mr Wennell for submitted his question and for attending
the meeting and informed him that a formal response would be provided
within 10 working days.
Question 1
Over the Christmas and New Year period some bus operators are running a
Saturday bus service on Thursday 27th & Friday 28th December 2018. To
my knowledge if you run a Saturday service the rules & regulations should go
with it like using your concessionary travel pass all day long. Can this be
confirmed that this is true or is it still only valid after 09:30 like during the
normal week?
The Chair thanked Mr Wennell for submitted his question and for attending
the meeting and informed him that a formal response would be provided
within 10 working days.

72.

Petitions and Statements
Petition submitted by Councillor Steve Foulkes
The Chair advised the Committee that a petition with approximately 198
signatures has been submitted by Councillor Steve Foulkes of Wirral
Metropolitan Council on behalf of residents in response to the comments and
heartfelt needs of his community as follows: “Whilst the constituents are thankful to the immediate response to the Avon
Bus crisis the remedy still leaves them disappointed. The 492/495 still does
not run in the evening or on a Sunday leaving large areas isolated in
Noctorum and beyond. The design of the Estate means most of the elderly
accommodation is the furthest away from the 437-route mentioned in
correspondence from you. Finally Sunday is not a special day anymore in
Retail and the care industry where many of our constituents earn their living.
Evenings now leave them unable to engage in Leisure, Work and Social
activities. Under the current regulations we have not even been told what the
cost of subsidy would be to make this a viable service and that this part of the
service was never offered for tender. We would ask you to do all in your
power to alleviate this awful position for our Residents.”
The Chair confirmed that a formal written response would be provided to the
petitioner within 10 working days following the meeting.

Page 242

Transport Committee

73.

Any Other Urgent Business Approved by the Chair
There was no other urgent business.

_____________________
CHAIR

Page 243

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 244

